
                 Pa g e  1 | 4  
 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 REGULAR MEETING 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
DISTRICT OFFICE 

14451 CEDARWOOD STREET 
WESTMINSTER, CA 

 
Tuesday, December 19, 2023 

5:30 P.M. 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

  
OUR MISSION STATEMENT   

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES OF THE MIDWAY CITY SANITARY 
DISTRICT WORK DILIGENTLY TO PROVIDE SEWER AND SOLID WASTE SERVICES 

TO THE RESIDENTS OF THE DISTRICT. OUR TOP PRIORITY IS TO ACCOMPLISH 
THIS IN AN ETHICAL, EFFICIENT, AND COST-EFFECTIVE MANNER THAT WILL 

PROTECT THE HEALTH AND SAFETY OF THOSE WE SERVE. 
 

In accordance with the requirements of California Government Code Section 54954.2, this 
Agenda is posted not less than 72 hours prior to the meeting date and time above.  All written 
materials relating to each agenda item are available for public inspection in the office of the 
Board Secretary. 
 
In the event any matter not listed on this agenda is proposed to be submitted to the Board for 
discussion and/or action, it will be done in compliance with Section 54954.2, or as set forth on 
a Supplemental Agenda posted not less than 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
Please Note:  The District complies with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA).  Anyone needing special assistance please contact the District’s Secretary at (714) 
893-3553, at least one business day prior to the meeting so that we may accommodate you. 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

 
2. ROLL CALL AND DECLARATION OF QUORUM 

 
3.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
All persons wishing to address the Board on specific Agenda items or matters of general 
interest should do so at this time.  As determined by the President, speakers may be 
deferred until the specific item is taken for discussion and remarks may be limited to three 
(3) minutes. 
 
 



                 Pa g e  2 | 4  
 

4. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
 
A. Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Meeting on December 5, 2023 

 
5. APPROVAL OF EXPENDITURES                             

       
A. Approval of Demands in the Amount of $779,311.09 

 
6. REPORTS 

 
The President, General Manager, Legal Counsel, and other staff present verbal reports 
on miscellaneous matters of general interest to the Directors. These reports are for 
information only and require no action by the Directors. 

 
A. Report of President 
B. Report of General Manager 
C. Report of Director of Services & Program Development 
D. Report of Outreach Committee Meeting on December 6, 2023 
E. Report of Assemblyman Tri Ta Open House December 7, 2023 
F. Report of Outreach Me Vietnam Radio on December 13, 2023 
G. Report of Outreach VietLink Radio on December 14, 2023 
H. Report of OC San Board of Directors Meeting on December 14, 2023 
I. Report of District Annual Holiday Dinner on December 17, 2023 
J. Report of Building Project Ad Hoc Committee Meeting on December 19, 2023 

 
               

7. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
All matters listed on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be acted upon 
at the same time unless separate discussion and/or action is requested by a Board 
Member, the public, or staff.   

 
A. Approve and File the Treasurer’s Investment Report for November 2023 

 
B. Receive and File the June 30, 2023 Actuarial Valuation and GASB 75 Report on 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Liabilities of the Midway City Sanitary 
District for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024  
 

C. Approve the Engineer Report for December 2023 
 

D. Approve the December 6, 2023 Outreach Committee Recommendations 
 

E. Approve General Manager, Robert Housley’s, Request for Leave Starting December 
11, 2023 through December 22, 2023, and Approve Acting Pay for Director of 
Operations/Safety, Nicolas Castro 
 

 
 



                 Pa g e  3 | 4  
 

    8.   OLD BUSINESS  
 
          None  
 
 

           9.   NEW BUSINESS      
 

A. RESOLUTION NO. 2023-21  
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MIDWAY CITY 
SANITARY DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, ESTABLISHING 
UPDATED PROCEDURES FOR THE PAYMENT OF CLAIMS AND DEMANDS 
 

B. Consider Proposals for the 2024 Sewer Mains CCTV Video Inspection and Cleaning 
Project; Staff’s Recommendation that the Board of Directors Authorize the General 
Manager to Enter into a Professional Services Agreement with Empire Pipe Cleaning 
and Equipment, Inc. for the Project in an Estimated Amount of $1,867,691.44; and 
Approval of a Corresponding Budget Adjustment 
 

C. Consider Approval of Sponsorship Solicitation and Sponsorship Levels and Benefits 
for February 3, 2024 Open House Event  
 
 

       10.  INFORMATIONAL ITEMS   
 
              None 
 
 11.  BOARD CONCERNS/COMMENTS 
 
 

12.  GM/STAFF CONCERNS/COMMENTS 
 
 
13.  LEGAL COUNSEL CONCERNS/COMMENTS 
 
 
14.  CLOSED SESSION  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CLOSED SESSION: During the course of conducting the business set forth on this agenda as a regular meeting 
of the Board, the Chair may convene the Board in closed session to consider matters of pending real estate 
negotiations, pending or potential litigation, or personnel matters, pursuant to Government Code Sections 
54956.8, 54956.9, 54957 or 54957.6, as noted. 
 
Reports relating to (a) purchase and sale of property; (b) matters of pending or potential litigation; (c) 
employment actions or negotiations with employee representatives; or which are exempt from public disclosure 
under the California Public Records Act, may be reviewed by the Board during a permitted closed session and 
are not available for public inspection. At such time as the Board takes final action on any of these subjects, the 
minutes will reflect all required disclosures of information. 
 



                 Pa g e  4 | 4  
 

A. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS (Government Code Section 54957.6) 
Agency Designated Representatives: General Manager Robert Housley, Director of 
Finance & Human Resources Siamlu Cox, and Labor Counsel Joseph Larsen, 
Employee Organization: American Federation of State, County, and Municipal 
Employees, LOCAL 1734-01    

 
15.  ADJOURNMENT TO TUESDAY, JANUARY 2, 2024   
 
        



      1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  1 | 11 

 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MIDWAY CITY 

SANITARY DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY 
14451 CEDARWOOD STREET 

WESTMINSTER, CA  92683 
 
 

December 5, 2023 
  
CALL TO ORDER 
 
President T. Diep called the regular meeting of the Governing Board of the Midway City Sanitary 
District to order at 14451 Cedarwood Street, Westminster, California on Tuesday, December 5, 
2023 at 5:31 PM.   
 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:        STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Tyler Diep          Robert Housley, General Manager  
Chi Charlie Nguyen         Milo Ebrahimi, District Engineer, P.E 
Andrew Nguyen         Ashley Davies, Director of Servs. & Program Development 
Sergio Contreras              Siamlu Cox, Director of Finance & Human Resources 
Mark Nguyen          Cynthia Olsder, Executive/Board Secretary  
           
OTHER MEMBERS PRESENT: 
James H. Eggart, General Counsel, Woodruff & Smart  
Mike Carey, CR&R 
Gabriel Angulo, CR&R 
 
   
PLEDGE AND INVOCATION 
Director C. Nguyen led the Pledge of Allegiance.  President T. Diep gave the Invocation. 
 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS  
None 
 
 
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING ON NOVEMBER  21, 2023   
                
A motion was made by Director A. Nguyen, seconded by Director S. Contreras, to approve the 
minutes of the Regular Meeting on November 21, 2023. The motion was approved by the 
following 5-0 vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  2 | 11 

APPROVAL OF EXPENDITURES              
 
A. Demands in the amount of $118,842.19 

 

 
 
 
A motion was made by Director C. Nguyen, seconded by Director S. Contreras, to approve the 
expenditures in the amount of $118,842.19. The motion was approved by the following 5-0 vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep 
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
 
 

   CK # DATE AMOUNT  VENDOR CHECKS: MEMO:
1 15138 11/17 480.04 AT&T Mobility (First Net) October 2023
2 15139 11/17 770.00 Ayala's Car Wash Fleet Wash

3 15140 11/17 2,069.42 Betts Truck Parts & Service
NG-10 walking beam | Qwik-Fit Composite Fitting 
(35)

4 15141 11/17 30.00 City of Westminster FARP Acct # 1755  Alarm permit registration

5 15142 11/17 2,533.25 CRC Cloud
Maintenance & Support  Nov-2023 | ASUS 27" QHD 
Video Conference Monitor

6 15143 11/17 534.82 Grainger Padlock Handle (2)
7 15144 11/17 84.81 Hillco Fastener Warehouse Inc. Washers (15) Bolts (10) Locknuts (10)
8 15145 11/17 562.56 Konecranes, Inc. Crane inspection Nov-2023 Shop
9 15146 11/17 203.00 MemorialCare Medical Foundation Visit for R. Martinez 09/12/2022

10 15147 11/17 112.50 Orange County Sanitation District Lead Worker Training
11 15148 11/17 200.85 Pitney Bowes/Purchase Power Postage October-2023
12 15149 11/17 41.53 SoCalGas Maint. Shop & Wash Rack - Nov 2023

13 15150 11/17 1,349.00
Spectrum Enterprise (Time Warner 
Cable) Nov-2023

14 15151 11/17 978.48 Tesco Controls, Inc. SCADA Hydro Ranger Service 10/31/2023
15 15152 11/17 651.66 UniFirst Corporation November - 2023
16 15153 11/17 10,067.70 Woodruff & Smart Legal Services Oct-2023
17 15154 11/17 0.00 Woodruff & Smart Void
18 20,669.62$     ACH TRANSFERS SUBTOTAL
19
20 PAYROLL: MEMO
21 11/15 92,020.60$       Paychex Employee Payroll - Checks,  Taxes, & Direct Deposits
22 11/15 5,678.74$          Nationwide 457 Deferred Compensation (Employees)
23 97,699.34$     PAYROLL SUBTOTAL
24
25 ACH PAYMENTS: MEMO
26Y24M10211/20 389.23$             Paychex Time & Attendance
27Y24M10211/24 84.00$                WEX Health Inc Monthly HRA Admin Fee
28 473.23$            ACH TRANSFERS SUBTOTAL
29  
30 118,842.19$  TOTAL EXPENDITURES (ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECKS, PAYROLL, ACH TRANSFERS)
31
32 BANK TRANSFERS:
33
34 -$                    BANK TRANSFERS



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  3 | 11 

REPORTS 
 
Report of President:    
None 
 
Report of General Manager  
General Manager R. Housley reported that the building and solar project are moving forward 
according to schedule. He also reported that the first phase manhole spraying project is completed, 
and phase two will start early next year.   
 
General Manager R. Housley reported that the request for proposals (RFP) for the sewer system 
CCTV video inspection and cleaning project will close on Thursday, December 7, 2023. He 
concluded by reporting that the accounting position has been filled.  
 
Report of Director of Services & Program Development 
Director of Services & Program Development, Ashley Davies reported that the calendars have 
been printed and will be mailed out as soon as they are available. Additionally, she presented the 
Directors with a 12-month outreach schedule. 
 
Report of CR&R Quarterly Reports  
G. Angulo from CR&R reported the average residential diversion in the third quarter of 2023 was 
54.77%, the average commercial diversion was 35.27%, and the average multifamily diversion was 
38.05% for Midway City Sanitary District. In addition, he provided a compliance report for both 
Midway City and Westminster.  
 
Report of District Employee Luncheon on November 29, 2023  
President T. Diep reported that he attended the event with Director M. Nguyen, Director A. Nguyen 
and Director S. Contreras to recognize a few exceptional employees.    
 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR                       
None 

 
 

OLD BUSINESS    
None 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. A RESOLUTION NO. 2023-20 OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MIDWAY CITY 

SANITARY DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, ESTABLISHING A 
SPONSORSHIP POLICY 
 
A staff report and recommendation were provided and considered by the Board.  A motion 
was made by Director C. Nguyen, seconded by Director A. Nguyen, to adopt Resolution No. 
2023-20, establishing a sponsorship policy. The motion was approved by the following 5-0 
roll call vote: 



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  4 | 11 

 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, T. Diep, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen 
NAYS:  
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:  
 
 

B. Consider Approval of an Award of a Three-year Agreement to DTN Tech to Design, Print, 
and Mail the 2025, 2026, and 2027 Midway City Sanitary District Annual Calendar in an 
Amount of Up to $135,753.67, Plus Any Increases to Postal Service Fees That May Occur 
After Board Approval 
 
A staff report and recommendation were provided and considered by the Board.  A motion 
was made by Director C. Nguyen, seconded by Director A. Nguyen, to approve award of a 
three-year agreement to DTN Tech to design, print and mail the 2025, 2026, and 2027 
Midway City Sanitary District annual calendars and authorize the General Manager to 
negotiate and enter into and execute an Agreement with DNT Tech on behalf of the District, 
in a form approved by General Counsel, in an amount up to $135,753.67, plus any increases 
to postal service fees that may occur after Board approval. The motion was approved by the 
following 5-0 vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
 

C. Consider the Annual Board Reorganization, Including Election of Officers, Board Committee 
Appointments, and Appointments to Outside Boards and Committees 
 
President T. Diep stated that General Counsel J. Eggart would handle the conduct of the 
meeting for a few minutes while the Board elected a new President. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for the office of President. 
 
Director T. Diep nominated Director M. Nguyen for the office of President. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
President of the Board.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote.  The election of Director M. Nguyen to the office of President 
was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  5 | 11 

 
Newly elected President M. Nguyen asked General Counsel to handle the conduct of the 
meeting for the purpose of electing and appointing the rest of the Board positions. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for the office of President Pro-
Tem.  
 
Director A. Nguyen nominated Director C. Nguyen for the office of President Pro-Tem. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
President Pro-Tem.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote.  The election of Director C. Nguyen to the office of President 
Pro-Tem was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for the office of Secretary. 
 
President M. Nguyen nominated S. Contreras for the office of Secretary.  S. Contreras 
declined the nomination. 
 
Director T. Diep nominated A. Nguyen for the office of Secretary. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
Secretary. 
 
Director S. Contreras nominated Director T. Diep for the office of Secretary. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
Secretary.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote on the first nomination of Director A. Nguyen.  The election 
of Director A. Nguyen to the office of Secretary was approved by the following 5-0 roll call 
vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart stated that since A. Nguyen had been elected by unanimous 
vote, there was no need to vote on the second nomination for the position of Secretary. 



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  6 | 11 

 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for the office of Treasurer. 
 
Director S. Contreras nominated himself for the office of Treasurer. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
Treasurer.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote.  The election of Director S. Contreras to the office of 
Treasurer was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart noted that Director T. Diep was the only Director who had not yet 
been elected to an office and asked the Board if there were any objections to the 
appointment of Director T. Diep to the office of Secretary / Treasurer Pro-Tem by 
acclimation.   
 
Hearing no objections, General Counsel J. Eggart stated that Director T. Diep had been 
elected to the office of Secretary / Treasurer Pro-Tem by acclimation. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart stated that the Orange County Sanitation District Representative 
and Alternate Representative are appointed by the President and asked President M. 
Nguyen to make the appointments. 
 
President M. Nguyen appointed Director A. Nguyen to serve as the District’s Representative 
to Orange County Sanitation District.  
 
President M. Nguyen appointed Director T. Diep as the Alternate Representative to Orange 
County Sanitation District.  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart stated that the full Board would continue as the representatives 
to Independent Special Districts of Orange County (ISDOC), the Westminster Chamber of 
Commerce, and the Budget and Audit Committees, so no action was necessary. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for the Calendar Committee of 
the Board. 

 
Director A. Nguyen nominated Director T. Diep and Director S. Contreras to serve on the 
Calendar Committee. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations to the Calendar 
Committee.  
 



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  7 | 11 

Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote. The appointment of Director T. Diep and Director S. 
Contreras to the Calendar Committee was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations For Alternate to the Calendar 
Committee. 
 
President M. Nguyen nominated himself as an Alternate to the Calendar Committee. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
Alternate to the Calendar Committee.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote. The appointment of President M. Nguyen as an Alternate 
to the Calendar Committee was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart stated that the full Board would continue to act for the Negotiating 
Committee of the Board.  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for the Franchise Agreement 
Committee of the Board. 
 
Director S. Contreras nominated Director C. Nguyen and Director T. Diep to the Franchise 
Agreement Committee.  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the Franchise 
Agreement Committee.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote. The appointment of Director C. Nguyen and Director T. Diep 
to the Franchise Agreement Committee was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  8 | 11 

General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for Alternate to the Franchise 
Agreement Committee.  
Director S. Contreras nominated himself as an Alternate to the Franchise Agreement 
Committee.  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
Alternate to the Franchise Agreement Committee.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote. The appointment of Director S. Contreras as an Alternate 
for the Franchise Agreement Committee was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: A. Nguyen, M. Nguyen, S. Contreras, C. Nguyen, T. Diep  
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations for the Outreach Committee 
of the Board. 
 
Director C. Nguyen nominated himself and Director T. Diep to the Outreach Committee. 
 
Director S. Contreras nominated himself.  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the Outreach 
Committee.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote on the first nomination of Director T. Diep. The appointment 
of Director T. Diep to the Outreach Committee was approved by the following 5-0 roll call 
vote: 
 
AYES: S. Contreras, T. Diep, A. Nguyen, C. Nguyen, M. Nguyen 
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT: 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked the recording secretary to take a roll call vote on the 
second nomination of Director C. Nguyen. The appointment of Director C. Nguyen to the 
Outreach Committee was approved by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: S. Contreras, T. Diep, A. Nguyen, C. Nguyen, M. Nguyen 
NAYS: 
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT: 
 
It was noted that no vote was needed for the third nomination. 
 



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  9 | 11 

General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for nominations to the position of Alternate to 
the Outreach Committee. 
 
Director A. Nguyen nominated Director S. Contreras as Alternate to the Outreach 
Committee.  
 
General Counsel J. Eggart asked if there were any other nominations for the position of 
Alternate to the Outreach Committee.  
 
Hearing none, General Counsel J. Eggart closed the nominations and asked the recording 
secretary to take a roll call vote. The appointment of Director S. Contreras was approved 
by the following 5-0 roll call vote: 
 
AYES: S. Contreras, T. Diep, A. Nguyen, C. Nguyen, M. Nguyen 
NAYS: 

      ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT: 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart opened the floor for discussion as to future Board meeting dates 
and time. He stated that regular meetings of the Board are currently set at the first and third 
Tuesday of each month at 5:30 PM. No Board Members expressed interest in changing 
the date or time of the Board’s regular meetings. 
 
General Counsel J. Eggart stated that the full Board would like to keep the same meeting 
dates and time, so no action was necessary. 
 

President M. Nguyen assumed chairmanship of the meeting.  
 
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
None 
 
BOARD CONCERNS/COMMENTS  
President M. Nguyen thanked the Directors for their support. 
 
Director T. Diep was thanked by the Directors for serving as president.  
 
The Directors expressed their gratitude to General Manager R. Housley for his dedication to the 
District.  
 
GM/STAFF CONCERNS/COMMENT 
General Manager R. Housley reminded the Board that the Outreach Committee is December 6, 
2023, and the District annual holiday event is on December 17, 2023. He also congratulated 
President M. Nguyen on being appointed to the office of President. 
 
LEGAL COUNSEL CONCERNS/COMMENTS 
General Counsel J. Eggart congratulated the Directors on their re-election and offered to give a 
presentation on new laws that would affect the District in January or February.   
 



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  10 | 
11 

  



1804575.1                                                                                                                                                                                                               Pa g e  11 | 
11 

CLOSED SESSION 
None 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
President M. Nguyen adjourned the meeting at 6:17 PM to the next Board Meeting to be held at 
the District on Tuesday, December 19, 2023, at 5:30 PM. 
 
 
 

_________________________  
Andrew Nguyen, Secretary     

CLOSED SESSION: During the course of conducting the business set forth on this agenda as a regular meeting of the Board, the Chair 
may convene the Board in closed session to consider matters of pending real estate negotiations, pending or potential litigation, or 
personnel matters, pursuant to Government Code Sections 54956.8, 54956.9, 54957 or 54957.6, as noted. 
 
Reports relating to (a) purchase and sale of property; (b) matters of pending or potential litigation; (c) employment actions or negotiations 
with employee representatives; or which are exempt from public disclosure under the California Public Records Act, may be reviewed 
by the Board during a permitted closed session and are not available for public inspection. At such time as the Board takes final action 
on any of these subjects, the minutes will reflect all required disclosures of information. 
 



               Pa g e  1 | 1  
 

AGENDA ITEM #5A 
 
Date:  December 19, 2023 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:   Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
Prepared by: Siamlu Cox, Director of Finance and Human Resources 
 
Subject: Approval of Demands in the Amount of $779,311.09 
             
BACKGROUND 
The laws of the State of California governing Special Districts provide that the Midway City 
Sanitary District Board of Directors shall review for approval all payments made by the 
District. 
 
A Register of Demands is provided at each regular Midway City Sanitary District Board 
Meeting describing each payment made or to be made by the district during the specified 
period. The report is designed to communicate fiscal activity based on adopted and 
approved budget appropriations. 
 
The Treasurer has duly reviewed the demands on the attached register. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The total value of demand for this period is $779,311.09. This includes expenses, payroll, 
and payroll-related disbursements. 
 
Sufficient funds are available to process all payments. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors review and approve the attached Register 
of Demands. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
Disbursement Details for November 19, 2023 



DISBURSEMENTS FOR 
12_19_2023

   CK # DATE AMOUNT  VENDOR CHECKS: MEMO:
1 15155 11/30 16,315.00 AKM Consulting Engineers, Inc. Sewer System Master Plan 10/02/23 - 10/27/23
2 15156 11/30 4,602.64 Alignment Express of CA, Inc. Repairs to NG-13
3 15157 11/30 534.76 AT&T (Brookhurst Lift Station) Brookhurst  Nov-2023
4 15158 11/30 970.00 Ayala's Car Wash Fleet Wash
5 15159 11/30 1,656.49 Betts Truck Parts & Service NG-1 walking beam | Qwik-Fit Composite Fitting (20)

6 15160 11/30 3,208.42 Bodyworks Equip. Inc.
Air Cylinder (5), Rr Pivot Hose Kit (2), Spring (10), 
In/Out Cyl. Cushion Kit (3), 2" Cam Follow...

7 15161 11/30 233.00 Cameron Welding Supply CO2, Compressed (1), Propane (2), Grinding Whl (10)
8 15162 11/30 84.94 City of Westminster Hydrant Hydrant Water Service Nov-2023
9 15163 11/30 300.00 Country City Towing Tow service for NG-5

10 15164 11/30 4,436.99 CRC Cloud
Maintenance & Support  Dec-2023 | Replacement 
Laptop for GM

11 15165 11/30 3,210.45 Cummins Pacific LLC
Seal, O Ring (50), Spark Plug Kit (12), Ignition Coil 
Extension (12), Breather Housing (2), Seal...

12 15166 11/30 500.00 Cynthia Loan Olsder Reimbursement for construction damage
13 15167 11/30 7,814.49 Daniels Tire Service Recap and Front Tires
14 15168 11/30 43,571.43 Dtntech 2024 District Calendar Printing & Mailing
15 15169 11/30 625.90 Frontier Communications September 2023
16 15170 11/30 835.77 Motion and Flow Control Products, Inc. Crimp, 1/2" Female
17 15171 11/30 1,833.39 NVB Equipment, Inc. A/C Repair NG-10
18 15172 11/30 549.58 Plumbers Depot Inc. Tiger Tail (3), Grit/Debris Catcher and Scoop (1)
19 15173 11/30 33.90 Pre-Paid Legal Services, Inc. Prepaid legal Nov-2023
20 15174 11/30 2,493.00 Rengel + Company Architects, Inc Bldg Proj Mgt  November-2023
21 15175 11/30 980.00 RMS Calibration of Gas Detection System
22 15176 11/30 270.34 Safety-Kleen Systems, Inc. Wash Part Cleaner
23 15177 11/30 146.78 Snap-On Tools Tools for Shop
24 15178 11/30 2,317.45 Southern California Edison November 2023
25 15179 11/30 2,368.44 Southwest Sign Company Building Dedication Plaque
26 15180 11/30 98.02 Spectrum Enterprise (Time Warner Cable) Nov-2023
27 15181 11/30 1,544.24 Standard Insurance Company Life Dec-2023

28 15182 11/30 5,653.86 TEC Of California, Inc.
Restock relays, rotors, drain valves, brake pads & 
ignition switches | T Beam Assembly - NG1

29 15183 11/30 1,465.29 Tell Steel Metal plates (10) Solid Waste trucks
30 15184 11/30 325.83 UniFirst Corporation November - 2023
31 15185 11/30 1,870.00 VNCR Radio talk show 17 min (4) 11/21/23 - 12/14/23
32 15186 11/30 402,094.86 Woodcliff Corporation - Contractor Building Project Pay App #13 Oct 2023
33 15187 11/30 21,162.89 Woodcliff Corporation - Escrow Account Building Project #13 Oct 2023 - Retention Payment
34 15188 12/1 254.48 Pitney Bowes Global Financial Services Postage Machine 10/10/23 - 01/03/24
35 534,362.63$    ACH TRANSFERS SUBTOTAL
36
37 PAYROLL: MEMO
36 11/29 98,713.67$         Paychex Employee Payroll - Checks,  Taxes, & Direct Deposits
39 11/29 5,903.16$           Nationwide 457 Deferred Compensation (Employees)
38 12/1 7,657.46$           Paychex Board Payroll - Checks,  Taxes, & Direct Deposits
41 12/1 801.00$               Nationwide 457 Deferred Compensation (Board)
42 113,075.29$    PAYROLL SUBTOTAL
43
44 ACH PAYMENTS: MEMO
45 FY24M1021 11/29 15,827.34$         US Bank Corporate Payment System District CAL-Card Payments November 2023
46 11/29 19,824.19$         CalPERS-Retirement Earned Period 10/30/23-11/12/23
47 12/1 19,712.46$         CalPERS-Retirement Earned Period 10/30/23-11/12/23
48 12/4 69,635.12$         CalPERS - Health Benefits December 2023
49 12/4 6,874.06$           CalPERS - Health Benefits December 2023
50 131,873.17$    ACH TRANSFERS SUBTOTAL
51  
52 779,311.09$    TOTAL EXPENDITURES (ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECKS, PAYROLL, ACH TRANSFERS)
53
54 BANK TRANSFERS:
55 -$                    BANK TRANSFERS

1 of 1 12/12/20232:30 PM



             Pa g e  1 | 1  
 

AGENDA ITEM #7A 
 
Date:  December 19, 2023 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:   Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
Prepared by: Siamlu Cox, Director of Finance and Human Resources 
 
Subject:     Approve and File the Treasurer’s Investment Report for November 2023 

              
BACKGROUND 
Midway City Sanitary District’s investment policy requires a monthly investment report, which 
includes all financial investments of the District and provides information on the investment type, 
value, and yield available for all investments. The report also provides the Board of Directors 
with an update on the balances of the District’s various funds. 
 
Per the State Government Code 53600 et seq., and the Midway City Sanitary District’s (District) 
Investment Policy, the District may invest up to a maximum percentage of the entire portfolio 
funds in authorized financial investments.   
 
The following table shows a summary of the District’s authorized financial investments, the yield 
available as of the preparation of this report, the book and market value of the District’s funds, 
the percentage of the District’s pooled funds that are invested in each financial investment, and 
the maximum percentage (or dollar limit), allowable per the State Government Code and the 
District’s investment policy.  
 
The Book Value of MCSD’s total invested cash as of November 30, 2023, is $52,888,097.69 

 

 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
Informational report only.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve and file the Treasurer’s Investment 
Report. 

BOOK VALUE MARKET VALUE MAXIMUM
TYPE OF MATURITY AS OF AS OF % OF PERCENTAGE

INVESTMENT INVESTMENT DATE YIELD 11/30/2023 11/30/2023 PORTFOLIO OF PORTFOLIO

FDIC Insured Accounts
US Bank Interest Checking Checking Liquid 1,331,888.14$    1,331,888.14$    2.52% None
US Bank Money Market Money Market Liquid 2,335,671.83$    2,335,671.83$    4.42% 20%

    Certificate of Deposits CD - -$                       -$                       0.00% 30%
        Total FDIC Insured Accounts 3,667,559.97$    3,667,559.97$    6.94%

LAIF Pool Liquid 3.843% 47,767,690.46$  47,767,690.46$  90.32% $75 million
CalTRUST (Medium Term Fund) Pool/Bond Fund Liquid 1.360% 1,452,847.26$    1,452,847.26$    2.75% 30%
Certificate of Deposits CD - - -$                       -$                       0.00% 30%
U.S. Treasury Securities US Securities - - -$                       -$                       0.00% None

52,888,097.69$  52,888,097.69$  100.00%   TOTAL Investments





















             Pa g e  1 | 2  
 

 
AGENDA ITEM #7B 
  
Date:   December 19, 2023 
 
To:    Board of Directors  
 
From:   Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
Prepared by: Siamlu Cox, Director of Finance and Human Resources 
 
Subject:   Receive and File the June 30, 2023 Actuarial Valuation and GASB 75 Report 

on Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Liabilities of the Midway City 
Sanitary District for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 

 
BACKGROUND 
The Midway City Sanitary District provides health insurance coverage for both its active and 
retired employees and contracts with CalPERS to administer those benefits.  
 
There is a financial liability associated with providing these benefits for current and future 
retirees. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75 
addresses this financial liability and provides guidance and reporting of Other Post-
Employment Benefits (OPEB).  The Statement details the accounting standards for future 
liabilities of additional retiree benefits other than pensions, including retiree health benefits.   
 
The annual actuarial report provides information on the District’s OPEB trust fund.  This 
year’s report is attached thereof.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON FUNDING AND PRE-FUNDING 
 
The Midway City Sanitary District Board of Directors has been aggressive in funding its Other 
Post-Employment Benefits through the CalPERS California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust 
Fund (CERBT), a trust fund which permits agencies to pre-fund the future cost of their retiree 
OPEB benefits.  The District’s Trust Fund has done well earning interest to help offset the 
future cost of these benefits. 
 
By fully-funding the District’s OPEB liability, it has allowed the District to decrease the use of 
taxpayer dollars by using investment earnings to pay for not only the liability the District has 
already accrued, but also a significant portion of future costs.  If the District had not funded 
the resulting liability, the increase will have to be shown in the District’s financial statements.  
This may have a negative impact on the District’s credit rating and credit decisions, which 
could trickle down affecting future District operations and capital projects.   
 
OPEB Trusts are a funding vehicle used by agencies to prefund the future costs of their 
retiree OPEB benefits as the employee services are rendered.  Once funds are deposited 
into an irrevocable trust, they may not be withdrawn for any purpose other than funding the 
costs of employer’s retiree OPEB benefits.  This is the same way that pension trusts operate, 
such as the District’s retirement plan with CalPERS for its employees. These OPEB Trusts  



             Pa g e  2 | 2  
 

 
provide agencies with a fiscally sound option for ensuring they are able to meet their OPEB 
liability in the most cost-effective manner. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors receive and file the June 30, 2023 actuarial 
valuation and GASB 75 report providing information on the District’s Other Post-Employment 
Benefits. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
As of June 30, 2023, the District’s OPEB liability is $5,967,867and the District has $6,517,501 
in its OPEB trust, which covers its current obligation with a net asset of $549,634. 
 
Total OPEB Liability         $5,967,867 
Fiduciary Net Position (in the District’s trust fund)   $6,517,501 
    Net Asset as of 06/30/2026     $   549,634 
  
As a result of positive investment (interest) earnings, the District has enough funds available 
in its trust fund to fully cover the cost of future OPEB liabilities, as of 06/30/2024. 
 
This valuation is a snap shot of the District’s OPEB position as of 06/30/2023.  According to 
the report, the District has fully funded its future retiree health liability.  However, the market 
can change, investment earnings may drop, and the cost of future health benefits increases 
each year, which are some of the factors that may affect the District’s future financial position.   
 
The District will be seeking reimbursement from the Trust for premium payments the District 
has paid on behalf of retirees.  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
June 30, 2023 Actuarial Valuation and GASB 75 Report for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 
 
 
 







































































































                                                                                                                                        Pa g e  1 | 3  
 

AGENDA ITEM #7C  
 
Date:  December 19, 2023  
 
To:  Board of Directors  
 
From:   Robert Housley, General Manager  
 
Prepared by: Milo Ebrahimi, P.E., District Engineer  
 
Subject: Approve and File the Engineer Report for December 2023.  
 
BACKGROUND  
District Engineer prepares a monthly report for the Board of Directors to inform about 
engineering and engineering related activities. This report includes monthly progress of 
District projects, reviewed plans, sewer department projects and activities, trainings and 
meetings, preventive maintenances and repairs of the district assets, and more.  
 
DISCUSSION  
1. District Building Project by Woodcliff  

 
1.1. The new office building:  

1.1.1. Contractor finished drywall inside of the building.  
1.1.2. Contractor finished interior painting.  
1.1.3. Contractor finished the cabinets and the front desk inside the building.  
1.1.4. Contractor finished the ceiling tiles inside the building.  
1.1.5. Contractor is working on lighting inside of the building.  
1.1.6. Contractor is working on flooring tiles inside the building.  
1.1.7. Contractor is working on low voltage cabling inside the building.  

 
1.2. The locker room building:  

1.2.1. Contractor finished drywall inside of the Locker room building.  
1.2.2. Contractor finished interior painting inside of the Locker room building.  
1.2.3. Contractor is working on flooring tiles inside of the Locker room building.  

 
1.3. Solar Carport  

1.3.1. Contractor finished the excavation of foundations for carport columns and 
installing columns.  
 

1.4. Housekeeping and dust control:   
1.4.1. District communicates with the contractor to resolve any housekeeping 

issues.  
1.4.2. Contractor sweeps nails and sharp objects with big magnets frequently.  



                                                                                                                                        Pa g e  2 | 3  
 

 
2. Plans Reviewed  

2.1. Sewer permits (this month): 18.  
2.2. Sewer permits (this fiscal year): 83.  
2.3. Development projects (trash enclosures and/or sewer lines): 5.  
 

3. Westminster Mall project 
3.1. The Conditional Will Serve Letter is prepared and sent to the developer’s engineer 

for review.  
3.2. District has not received any comments on the Conditional Will Serve Letter yet.  

 
4. Sewer department projects  

 
4.1. Sewer System Master Plan (SSMP)  

4.1.1. SSMP is in progress. There is a monthly meeting with AKM about the 
progress.  

4.1.2. Consultant will finish in about 7 months. A few months’ delay is possible 
due to some missing As-Builts. A survey of the missing area or other 
approach might be needed to cover missing information for engineering 
analysis.  

4.1.3. Consultant worked on developing sewer system model and utilizing GIS 
based software (task 2 of the project).  

4.1.4. Consultant worked on assessing lift stations and developing capital 
rehabilitation program (task 7 of the project).  

 
4.2. Cockroach Mitigation Project for sewer manholes 

4.2.1. Contractor finished treating 1288 manholes on east side of the District.  
 

4.3. Sewer lines CCTV project 
4.3.1. District received 5 proposals from proposers.  
4.3.2. District Engineer reviewed all the proposals.  
4.3.3. District Engineer prepared a staff report for this project.  

 
5. Sewer Department Activities 

5.1. There was no emergency related repair for sewer system this month.  
5.2. There was no sewer system overflow this month.  
5.3. 73 hotspot locations were cleaned. 
5.4. About 48 hotspot locations were checked weekly.   
5.5. About 51,000 linear feet of sewer line was cleaned on the west side.  

 



                                                                                                                                        Pa g e  3 | 3  
 

6. Trainings and Meetings  
6.1. District Engineer attended monthly meeting with District Engineer of Costa Mesa 

Sanitary District.  
6.2. District Engineer helped Costa Mesa Sanitary District with being part of the 

Interview Panel for Engineering Technician position.  
6.3. District Engineer attended Development Review Team meetings at the City of 

Westminster.  
 
7. Preventive Maintenances (PM) and Repairs  

7.1. The contractor performed the monthly PM services on the CNG station at the yard.  
7.2. A repair was done on the portable generator in the yard. The portable generator 

is still not operational due to more issues. The contractor will need more parts to 
finish the repair.  

 
FISCAL IMPACT  
Informational report only.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve and file the Engineer Report.  
 



                                                                                                                                                      Pa g e  1 | 1 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM #7D 
 
Date:  December 19, 2023 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
Prepared by: Ashley Davies, Director of Services and Program Development 
 

      Subject:  Approve the December 6, 2023 Outreach Committee Recommendations 
 

BACKGROUND 
At the April 5, 2022 meeting the Board approved the formation of a standing Outreach 
Committee. The Outreach Committee usually meets on the first Wednesday of each month to 
plan and discuss upcoming outreach activities. The Committee recommends continued radio 
and media outreach, averaging up to two radio programs per month on an ongoing basis.  
 
The Outreach Committee met on December 6, 2023 and their recommendations are as 
follows: 

1. The Committee recommends that two of the three directors, Directors C. Nguyen, 

President A. Nguyen, or Director S. Contreras, participate in the radio outreach with 

Radio Bolsa. An appointment will be set up in January.    

2. The Committee recommends that President M. Nguyen, Director T. Diep, or Director 

S. Contreras to attend the radio outreach with VNCR Radio. An appointment will be 

set up in January.  

3. The Committee recommends moving forward with Open House Sponsorship Package 

with approval from the Board.  

4. The Committee recommends approving a signing poster for Open House.  

5. The next Outreach Committee meeting is planned for January 3, 2024 at 12:00 noon. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The potential fiscal impact of the Outreach Committee’s recommendations are as follows:  
 

• Monthly radio outreach                       $ 4,000 
• Open House signing poster                $40 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve the Outreach Committee’s 
recommendations as presented. 



Pa g e  1 | 2 

AGENDA ITEM #7E 
 
Date:   December 19, 2023 
 
To:   Board of Directors 
 
Prepared by: Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
Subject:   Approve General Manager, Robert Housley’s, Request for Leave Starting 

December 11, 2023 through December 22, 2023, and Approve Acting Pay 
for Director of Operations/Safety, Nicolas Castro 

 
BACKGROUND 
General Manager, Robert Housley is eligible for and is requesting that the Board of 
Directors approve Time Off Starting December 11, 2023 through December 22, 2023. 
While the General Manager is on leave, Director of Operations/Safety, Nicolas Castro will 
assume the duties of General Manager. Pursuant to District policy, the Board is to 
approve Acting Pay when an incumbent is absent, and the duties of the higher paid 
position are assigned to, and performed by, the designated employee for five (5) or more 
consecutive work days. 
 

Policy For Acting Pay Salary Adjustments 
 

1. The employee is assigned by the Board of Directors to perform all or a majority of the 
significant duties of a budgeted, higher paid position from which an incumbent is 
absent; 

 
2. The duties of the higher paid position are assigned to, and performed by, the 

designated employee for five (5) or more consecutive work days;  
 
3. The assignment should be approved in advance by the Board of Directors but the 

Board of Directors may, in its discretion, retroactively provide an employee with Acting 
Pay from the time the incumbent becomes absent and the employee commences 
performance of the incumbent’s duties; 

 
4. Acting Pay shall not be provided during any period of paid leave taken by the 

employee during the assignment, nor shall Acting Pay apply to any leave time accrued 
by the employee during the assignment; 

 
5. Employees shall be paid Acting Pay at the salary level of the position being filled. In 

no case shall an employee receive a salary greater than the salary range of the higher 
classification or incumbent; and 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board approve General Manager Housley’s request for time 
off, and acting pay for the designated employees assigned to perform the General 
Manager's duties for five (5) or more consecutive work days. 
 



Pa g e  2 | 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The potential fiscal impact of approving acting pay for the designated employees 
assigned to perform the General Manager's duties is $1,151. 













1804640.1                                                                                                                             Pa g e  1 | 2 
 

AGENDA ITEM #9A 
 
Date:  December 19, 2023 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:   Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
Prepared by: Siamlu Cox, Director of Finance and Human Resources 
 
Subject: Resolution No. 2023-21 
 
 A Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Midway City Sanitary District of 

Orange County, California, Establishing Updated Procedures for the 
Payment of Claims and Demands 

              
BACKGROUND 
Withdrawals of District money for the payment of District expenses is currently governed 
by Resolution No. 2023-15, adopted by the Board of Directors on June 27, 2023. Pursuant 
to Resolution No. 2023-15, the withdrawal of District money may be made by joint action 
of any two (2) of the following four individuals: the Board President, the Treasurer, the 
General Manager, and the Director of Finance and Human Resources; provided, however, 
that (1) such withdrawals must be consistent with the Annual Budget as approved by the 
Board and (2) such withdrawals (whether by check, warrant or electronic transfer) must be 
authorized by the Board of Directors through action to approve the payment of the regular 
expenses of the District. Accordingly, every Board Meeting agenda includes an item for 
the Board’s approval of expenditures. 
 
Assembly Bill (AB) 759 was approved by the Legislature earlier this year and signed by 
the Governor on June 29, 2023.  AB 759 updated outdated procedures in the Sanitary 
District Act of 1923 to align the permitted procedures for the payment of claims and 
demands by sanitary districts more closely with those that govern cities and other types of 
special districts. Effective January 1, 2024, AB 759 expressly authorizes a sanitary district 
to adopt a procedure that provides for checks or warrants to pay claims and demands 
without approval by the Board before payment if: (1) the treasurer determines that the 
demands are payable within the district’s approved budget; (2) the procedure contains 
appropriate internal controls with measures to prevent fraud and ensure accountability, 
and which are necessary for financial reporting in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles; and (3) demands so paid are presented to the board of directors at 
the next regular meeting for review. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Staff, in consultation with the District’s General Counsel, has prepared a proposed 
Resolution and associated Accounts Payable Policy to implement the new procedures 
authorized by AB 759 for the Board’s consideration.  The new procedures provide for 
multiple levels of review and compliance with other internal controls prior to the payment 



1804640.1                                                                                                                             Pa g e  2 | 2 
 

of submitted invoices and other payment requests.  In addition, the Treasurer or Treasurer 
Pro-Tem will continue to review all payments to determine and/or verify they are within 
the Budget approved by the Board.  All payments in excess of the approved Budget will 
continue to require prior Board approval.  
 
All payments issued by District Staff will be summarized in a disbursements report that 
will be presented to the Board for review at the next regular meeting in a format 
acceptable to the Board. The disbursements report will, at minimum, include the date, 
amount, and payee information for all payments. 
 
Adoption of the proposed procedures will streamline the District’s payment processes and 
ensure they strictly comply with the amended statutes governing sanitary districts.  Per 
AB 759, while the Board will still “review” all payments at each Board meeting, Board 
“approval” of each payment will no longer be needed, and the District will no longer be 
required to list each approved payment, the fund from which it came, and its purpose in 
the Board meeting minutes.   
 
The Board’s current Polices and Procedures strictly dictate the format of Board meeting 
agendas and provide for “Approval of Expenditures” to be a separate agenda item.  
Pursuant to the law as amended by AB 759, in its discretion, the Board could now choose 
to makes its “review” or “receive and file” approved expenditures and/or could include 
such review as a Consent Calendar item, rather than as a separate stand-alone item. 
Such changes would require Staff to bring back a Resolution to amend the Board Policies 
and Procedures accordingly.  Staff seeks the Board’s direction on these issues. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no cost associated with the adoption of Resolution 2023-21 or the Accounts 
Payable Policy. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors (1) adopt the attached Resolution 
establishing updated procedures for the payment of claims and demands and (2) provide 
direction regarding the form and agenda location for review of paid expenditures. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

1. Proposed Resolution  
2. Accounts Payable Policy (Exhibit A to Resolution) 



1804115.1                                                                                                                                                                                      Pa g e  1 | 4  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-21 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY, 
CALIFORNIA, ESTABLISHING UPDATED PROCEDURES FOR 
THE PAYMENT OF CLAIMS AND DEMANDS 
 
The Board of Directors of the Midway City Sanitary District hereby finds, 

determines, declares, and resolves as follows: 
 
WHEREAS, Health and Safety Code Sections 6794 and 6801, as 

amended by Assembly Bill 759 (2023), authorize the District’s Board of Directors 
(“Board”) to adopt a procedure that provides for checks or warrants to pay claims 
and demands without approval by the Board before payment if such claims or 
demands are payable within the District’s approved budget and the procedure 
contains appropriate internal controls with measures to prevent fraud and ensure 
accountability and which are necessary for financial reporting in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles; and 

 
WHEREAS, the procedures for withdrawal of District funds for the payment 

of regular expenses of the District is currently governed by Section 4 of 
Resolution No. 2023-15; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) wishes to update the 

procedures governing the withdrawal of District funds consistent with Health and 
Safety Code Sections 6794 and 6801; and  

 
WHEREAS, the District’s Staff has prepared an Accounts Payable Policy 

containing appropriate internal controls to prevent fraud, ensure accountability, 
and facilitate financial reporting in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MIDWAY 
CITY SANITARY DISTRICT DOES RESOLVE, DECLARE, DETERMINE, AND 
ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1. The withdrawal of District money may be made by joint action of any 

two (2) of the following four (4) individuals: the Board President, the Treasurer, 
the General Manager and the Director of Finance and Human Resources; 
provided, however, that said individuals shall make only those withdrawals of 
District’s money (whether by check, warrant or electronic transfer) as are 
consistent with the Annual Budget (or any amendments, additions, modifications 
or corrections thereto) as approved by the Board of Directors. 

 



1804115.1                                                                                                                                                                                      Pa g e  2 | 4  
 

2. Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Sections 6794(b) and 6801(c), 
the Board President, the Treasurer, the General Manager and the Director of 
Finance and Human Resources are hereby authorized to withdraw District’s 
money (whether by check, warrant or electronic transfer) to pay claims and 
demands, including District payroll, without approval of the Board of Directors 
before payment if such claims or demands are payable within the Annual Budget 
(or any amendments, additions, modifications or corrections thereto) as approved 
by the Board of Directors, as determined and/or verified by the Board Treasurer. 
All claims and demands so paid shall be presented to the Board of Directors at 
the next regular meeting for review in a format acceptable to the Board.  Claims 
or demands exceeding the approved Annual Budget shall be subject to approval 
of the Board or Directors prior to payment. 
  
 3. The Accounts Payable Policy attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is 
hereby approved. The General Manager is hereby authorized to administratively 
update and make minor changes to the Accounts Payable Policy from time to 
time as necessary, provided such updates or changes are consistent with Health 
and Safety Code Sections 6794 and 6801 and this Resolution and do not 
significantly modify or reduce the measures included in the policy for purposes of 
preventing fraud and ensuring accountability.  
 

4. The procedures adopted pursuant to this Resolution shall supersede 
any provisions or procedures previously enacted by resolution or other action of 
the District to the extent they are inconsistent with this Resolution, including, but 
not limited to, the provisions set forth in subsection (b) of Section 4 of Resolution 
No. 2023-15. 
  
 5.  This Resolution shall take effect on January 1, 2024. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED, at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of Midway 
City Sanitary District of Orange County, California, held this 19th day of December, 
2023. 

       
                              ________________  ______________  
 
         Mark Nguyen, President   
ATTEST: 

_______________________________  
 
Andrew Nguyen, Secretary       

      
     



1804115.1                                                                                                                                                                                      Pa g e  3 | 4  
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
 

I, Andrew Nguyen, Secretary of the Midway City Sanitary District of Orange 

County, California, do hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2023-21 was duly 

adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of said District, held on the 19th day of 

December, 2023, by the following vote of the members of the Board: 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

and I further certify that Mark Nguyen, as President, and Andrew Nguyen, as Secretary, 

signed and approved said Resolution on the 19th day of December, 2023. 
 
 

_________________________________  
 
Andrew Nguyen, Secretary 

 
(District Seal) 
  
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 

) ss. 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 

I, Andrew Nguyen, Secretary of Midway City Sanitary District of Orange County, 

California, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. 2023-21 passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of said District at 

a meeting thereof held on the 19th day of December, 2023. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 

Seal of said District on the 19th day of December, 2023. 
 
 
 

_________________________________  
Andrew Nguyen, Secretary 

(District Seal) 



1 
1804115.1 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE POLICY 



     
  MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

1804663.1 

N

S

SANITARY

M
ID

W
AY

W

DIS

TRIC
T

E

CITY

 
 

 
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 
Policy: 
It is the policy of the Midway City Sanitary District to pay vendor invoices within 30 days of 
receipt.  In order to process accounts payable, the following procedures are to be 
followed. 
 
General Information: 
The accounts payable/check processing schedule requires that the invoice be approved by 
the employee who initiated the purchase, a  division Director, and the General Manager.  
 
Procedures: 
Invoices are paid only from original invoices and will not be paid from copies or statements 
received from the vendor. Invoices are to be submitted electronically to 
AccoutsPayable@MidwayCitySanitaryCA.gov. If the vendor is not able to submit it 
electronically, then a paper copy of the invoice should be submitted to the Accountant.  
 
All purchases should adhere to the Midway City Sanitary District’s Purchasing Policy and 
Procedures. 
 
Directors are responsible for the verification of invoices for payment, including the 
following items: 

• Comparison of quantities billed on the invoice with quantities listed on the 
purchase order / contract or shown on the receiving documents. 

• Comparison of prices, discounts, and terms with those specified on the purchase 
order / contract. 

• Proof of clerical accuracy of the invoice with respect to extensions, mathematical 
accuracy, and deductions for discounts. 

• Confirmation that payment of the invoice will not cause total payments to the 
vendor to exceed the total amount authorized under the terms of any applicable 
purchase order or contract. 

• Confirmation that there are sufficient funds in the approved budget to cover the full 
amount of the invoice. 

 
An approved invoice is required for all payments and is used to clearly document the 
invoices to be paid.  An invoice is considered approved once it has been stamped, signed, 
and the  information below is on the invoice.  This information is then reviewed and 
approved by the Accountant. 
 

mailto:AccoutsPayable@MidwayCitySanitaryCA.gov


     
   
 

1804663.1 

• The date the invoice was received 
• Vendor name and address 
• The total amount of the check requested. This must match the final invoice amount. 
• DESCRIPTION: Provide a description of the services provided. 
• SV: The signature of the supervisor or employee that initiated the charge. 
• DEPT: Department Head approval or Engineer. 
• GM: General Manager Approval 
• GL: The account number to which the expenditure is to be charged.  If there are 

insufficient funds in the account, a budget adjustment may be required. 
• Selection of the Department. The department to which the invoices are being 

charged against should be marked on the stamp. If more than one department is 
the be charged, the amount should be listed above the department initials. 

 
Example of an approval stamp: 

 
 
After the proper approvals have been secured, the Accountant will process the request on 
the scheduled accounts payable check run. 
 
Process: 
The Accountant inputs the accounts payable data into the District’s financial system.  An 
accounts payable report is generated (“Unpaid Bills Detail”), printed, reviewed, and 
matched to the check run by the Director of Finance and Human Resources and is turned in 
to the General Manager for final approval.  
 
Once the approval to proceed is received from the General Manager, the Accountant 
proceeds with the check payment processing. 
 
Electronic Payments 
Automated Clearing House (ACH) payments and wires will follow the same verification and 
approval procedures. Once the payment has been made, the proof of payment must be 
printed. Each proof of payment will be signed by the Board Treasurer, the General Manager, 
and the Director of Finance and Human Resources. The approved proof of payment and 
backup documentation will be entered into the finance system, entered into the electronic 
check log, and included with the disbursement report. The Accountant will file the paper 
copy.  



     
   
 

1804663.1 

The General Manager and Director of Finance and Human Resources will review and 
approve electronic payroll payments to verify and ensure accuracy and consistency with 
approved wage rates, salary schedules, and policies. All payments made for payroll will be 
included in the disbursement report for review. 
 
Treasurer of the Board’s Review 
The Board Treasurer or the Treasurer Pro Tem will review and determine and/or verify that 
each check, warrant, or electronic transfer is payable within the Annual Budget (or any 
amendments, additions, modifications or corrections thereto) approved by the Board.  
 
Issuance of Accounts Payable Checks 
Disbursement checks are mailed after the final check proofing. 
 
Check Log 
Accounts payable checks are pre-numbered and secured in a locked location.  All checks 
must be accounted for.  Any damaged or voided checks are to be turned in to the Director 
of Finance and Human Resources. 
 
Check Mailing 
After the accounts payable checks are processed, the accounts payable run is recorded in 
the Check Log.  The charges are automatically posted and reflected in the general ledger of 
the District’s financial system.  The checks are matched up with the approved invoices and 
duplicate copies of checks.  The checks will be reviewed for accuracy before mailing.  A 
vendor file is created and filed alphabetically in the vendor file according to fiscal year.   
 
Accounts Payable Reports 
At the end of the accounts payable process, the approved Unpaid Checks Detail report is 
filed by the Accountant. 
 

 
Void Checks: 
There are times when a check would need to be “voided” out of the system.  For this process 
to occur a Void Check Authorization Form must be filled out and approved by the Director of 
Finance and Human Resources.  The following information must be obtained: 

• Check Number 
• Amount 
• Date 
• Issued To 
• Reason for void 
• Stop Payment Required 

 
Check being Reissued: 



     
   
 

1804663.1 

Once approval from the Director of Finance and Human Resources is obtained, the void 
check process is posted in the financial system.  A copy of the void check authorization form 
is given to the Accountant indicating the posting date on the void check authorization form. 
 
At the end of the void check process, the void checks and Void Check Authorization Forms 
are filed. 
 
Review of Disbursements Report by Board 
Approved and issued payments determined and/or verified by the Board Treasurer or 
Treasurer Pro Tem to be payable within the approved Budget shall be summarized in a 
disbursements report and presented to the Board of Directors for review at the next regular 
meeting.  The disbursements report will, at minimum, include the date, amount, and payee 
information for all payments. 
 



1804767.1                                                                                                                             Pa g e  1 | 4 
 

AGENDA ITEM #9B 
 
Date:  December 19, 2023  
 
To:  Board of Directors  
 
From:   Robert Housley, General Manager  
 
Prepared by: Milo Ebrahimi, P.E., District Engineer  
 
Subject: Consider Proposals for the 2024 Sewer Mains CCTV Video Inspection and 

Cleaning Project; Staff’s Recommendation that the Board of Directors 
Authorize the General Manager to Enter into a Professional Services 
Agreement with Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment, Inc. for the Project in 
an Estimated Amount of $1,867,691.44; and Approval of a Corresponding 
Budget Adjustment 

 
BACKGROUND 
Regular visual and closed-circuit television (CCTV) inspections of manholes and sewer 
pipes are part of the preventive operation and maintenance activities required by the State 
Water Resources Control Board general order (ORDER WQ 2022-0103-DWQ). A similar 
Sewer System CCTV Video Inspection and Cleaning Project was performed in 2014. A 
similar project should be performed every ten years to meet the Water Board requirement.  
 
Through this project, the District will collect important data about the sewer system 
conditions, including identification of any structural deficiencies and areas prone to root 
intrusion that could result in system backup and/or failure. The collected data will also be 
used to help plan for Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) to replace and/or upgrade 
segments of the District’s aging sewer system. 
 
The project scope involves the cleaning and CCTV inspection of all approximately 174 
miles of gravity sewer mains and 3001 manholes within the Midway City Sanitary District’s 
jurisdiction for the purpose of identifying any defects within sewer mains and manholes 
based on the industry standards.  
 
The Request For Proposal (RFP) was approved by the Board on November 7, 2023. The 
proposal was posted on MCSD’s website and MCSD’s LinkedIn page. The RFP was also 
sent to a list of companies known to perform this type of service. A Pre-Proposal Meeting 
was held on December 4, 2023, at 10:00 a.m. at the District Office. Representatives from 
the following companies participated in this meeting: 
 

• Performance Pipeline Technologies Inc.  
• Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc.  
• Pro Pipe Inc. 

  
The Proposal Due Date was December 7, 2023, at 3:00 p.m.  



1804767.1                                                                                                                             Pa g e  2 | 4 
 

 
DISCUSSION 
The District received proposals from the following five companies in response to the RFP:  
 

No. Company Name Price Proposal Points 
Awarded 

1 Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment Inc.    $1,867,691.44 43 
2 Performance Pipeline Technologies Inc.  $1,518,287.90   41 
3 Mattucci Plumbing Inc.  $2,432,209.49  41 
4 Pro Pipe Inc.  $2,693,588.06  33 
5 Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc.  $2,524,333.30   35 

 
The RFP states that the selection of a contractor will be based on an evaluation of the 
following seven criteria:  
 

1. Per Unit Pricing and Cost. 
2. Ability of the proposer to design an approach and work plan to meet the Project 

requirements, which will include an assessment of the overall quality of the 
proposal.  

3. Ability of the Proposer to carry out and manage the Project, which includes an 
assessment of the past experience of the proposer in general. 

4. Capabilities of the proposer and/or its proposed team, which includes an 
assessment of the capabilities of the proposer and individuals that will be engaged 
in the Project.  

5. Current Workload of the proposer, which includes an assessment of the perceived 
ability of the proposer to devote the necessary human resources and management 
attention to the Project.  

6. Proximity of the proposer to the Project site.  
7. Willingness to comply with the proposed Agreement terms. Proposals will be rated 

based on the exceptions taken to the proposed Agreement. 
 
The District Engineer thoroughly reviewed all received proposals, carefully evaluated 
each proposal based on the seven selection criteria delineated in the RFP, and awarded 
points to each proposer based on satisfaction of each of the criterion. The overall points 
awarded to each proposal is summarized in the Table above, and District Engineer’s 
Evaluation Worksheet showing the points assigned to each proposer is attached to this 
Report. 
 
Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment, Inc.’s proposal scored the highest across all seven 
evaluation criterion. This proposer meets the minimum requirements for the RFP, was 
awarded the highest possible number of points under the second evaluation criterion 
(overall quality of proposal / ability to meet Project requirements), and provided the 
second lowest price proposal.  
 
Although Performance Pipeline Technologies, Inc. provided the lowest price proposal, its 
proposal scored the lowest number of points under the second evaluation criterion 



1804767.1                                                                                                                             Pa g e  3 | 4 
 

(overall quality of proposal / ability to meet Project requirements).  In the District 
Engineer’s opinion, its proposal does not meet the requirement of the RFP for manhole 
inspection. The provided manhole sample video was not acceptable. In the provided 
video, the camera did not enter the manhole, and the camera was just zoomed on the 
walls from different angles. This method of inspection does not provide all the information 
that is required for level 2 inspection of the manholes.   
 
The District Engineer recommends that the Board authorize Staff to contract with Empire 
Pipe Cleaning and Equipment, Inc. to complete the Project pursuant to its Proposal and 
the contract terms set forth in the RFP, subject to completion by Staff of an oral interview 
with the selected contractor to verify certain matters. Should the Board wish to award the 
contract to a different proposer, Staff would similarly recommend completion of an oral 
interview before executing the agreement. In the event Staff is not satisfied after the oral 
interview that the selected contractor is able to satisfy the technical specifications of the 
RFP, it will bring the item back to the Board for further consideration.  
 
The current projected start date of the Project is January 8, 2019, with a projected 
completion date of December 9, 2024. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Provided the Board approves Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment, Inc.’s Proposal, the 
estimated fiscal impact for the Sewer System CCTV Video Inspection and Cleaning 
Project will be $1,867,691.44.  This amount assumes the estimated unit quantities (i.e., 
number of manholes and length of sewer line segments) set forth in the RFP are accurate.  
Therefore, the final amount may be higher or lower, based on actual observed unit 
quantities. The contractor will be bound to the same per unit prices stated in its proposal 
for up to 120% of the unit quantity for any item.   
  
The Board approved $1,200,000 for the Sewer System CCTV Video Inspection and 
Cleaning Project in the Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget. Factoring in a 10% contingency, 
Staff anticipates up to an additional $854,461 will need to be budgeted for the Project.  
According, Staff proposes to increase the FY 2023/2024 Budget for the CCTV and 
Cleaning of District Sewer Lines from $1,200,000 to $2,054,461.  The District has 
sufficient reserves to account for this increase.  The additional $854,461 needed for the 
project is proposed to be funded from the Lift Stations & Sewer Lines reserves which 
currently has a balance of $30,315,430.   Since the Project is anticipated to span two 
fiscal years, any budgeted amounts not expended in Fiscal Year 2023/2024 could be 
carried over to the Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Budget.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors (1) authorize the General Manager to enter 
into and execute a Professional Services Agreement with Empire Pipe Cleaning and 
Equipment, Inc. for the 2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspection and Cleaning 
Project pursuant to its Proposal dated December 5, 2023, and in a form substantially 
similar to the Sample Agreement contained within the Request for Proposals for the 
Project; (2) authorize staff to thereafter issue Notice to Proceed for the Project; and (3) 



1804767.1                                                                                                                             Pa g e  4 | 4 
 

amend the Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budget to (a) increase the Sewer System CCTV video 
Inspection and Cleaning project  budget from $1,200,000 to $2,054,461; and (b) decrease 
the Lift Stations & Sewer Lines reserves budget from $30,315,430 to $29,460,969.   
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. RFP for 2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspection and Cleaning Project 
2. All the received proposals 

a. Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment Inc.   
b. Performance Pipeline Technologies Inc. 
c. Mattucci Plumbing Inc.  
d. Pro Pipe Inc. 
e. Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 

3. Proposal Evaluation Worksheet 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 1 
     
1797771.1 

 
 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
 

 

2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO 

INSPECTION AND CLEANING PROJECT 
 

 

November 7, 2023 
 

 

Important Dates:  

 

Pre-Proposal Meeting: December 4, 2023, at 10:00 a.m.  

Proposal Due Date: December 7, 2023, at 3:00 p.m.  

Award of Agreement: December 19, 2023  

Projected Start Date: January 8, 2024  

Projected Completion Date: December 9, 2024  

 

 

Contact:  

 

Milo Ebrahimi, P.E., District Engineer  

Midway City Sanitary District  

14451 Cedarwood Street  

Westminster, CA 92683  

(714) 893-3553   



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 2 
     
1797771.1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. INTRODUCTION..............................................................................................................5 

A. Background. ...........................................................................................................5 

B. Purpose of the Request. .........................................................................................5 

II. SCOPE OF SERVICES. ....................................................................................................5 

III. PROPOSAL FORMAT. ....................................................................................................6 

A. Approach. ...............................................................................................................6 

B. Description of Firm, Management and Team Members. ...................................6 

C. Qualifications..........................................................................................................6 

D. Scope of Work. .......................................................................................................6 

E. Proposed Project Schedule. ...................................................................................6 

F. Proposed Pricing. ...................................................................................................7 

G. References, Related Experience and Examples of Work. ..................................7 

H. A Sample Report ....................................................................................................7 

H. A Sample Video Picture Quality ...........................................................................7 

IV. APPLICABLE LAWS AND PREVAILING WAGES. ..................................................7 

A. Laws To Be Observed. ...........................................................................................7 

B. Prevailing Wages. ...................................................................................................8 

C. Licensing. ................................................................................................................8 

V. SELECTION PROCESS. ..................................................................................................8 

A. Evaluation. ..............................................................................................................8 

B.  Selection Criteria. ..................................................................................................8 

C. Proposed Selection and Project Schedule. .........................................................10 

D. Award of Contract. ..............................................................................................10 

VI. PROPOSAL DUE DATE AND DELIVERY ......................................................................10 

VII. GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE RFP. ...................................................................10 

A. General Conditions. .............................................................................................11 

B. Liability of Costs and Responsibility. ................................................................12 

C. Validity. .................................................................................................................12 

D. Standard Agreement Terms................................................................................12 

E. Permits. .................................................................................................................12 

F. Licenses and Certificates. ....................................................................................13 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 3 
     
1797771.1 

G. Oral and Written Explanations. .........................................................................13 

H. Proposer's Representative. ..................................................................................13 

I. Insurance. .............................................................................................................13 

J. Bonds. ....................................................................................................................13 

J. Spill Prevention and Clean Up............................................................................14 

VIII. Exhibits. ............................................................................................................................14 

EXHIBIT A - SCOPE OF WORK .............................................................................................15 

A. General Procedures. ............................................................................................15 

1. Sewer Main Cleaning. ................................................................................15 

2. Sewer Main Video Inspection. ...................................................................16 

3. Manhole Inspection. ...................................................................................19 

B. Traffic Control. ....................................................................................................19 

C. Order of Work......................................................................................................20 

D. Sewer Mains and Manholes to be Inspected. ....................................................20 

E. Submittals. ............................................................................................................20 

F. Safety. ....................................................................................................................21 

G. Experience. ...........................................................................................................21 

H. Flow Control. ........................................................................................................21 

1. Allowable Depth of Flow...........................................................................21 

2. Plugging or Blocking and Pumping. ..........................................................21 

3. Flow Control Precautions. .........................................................................22 

I. Measurement and Payment. ...............................................................................22 

J. Contractor's CCTV Inspection Services Standard Operating 

Procedures. ...........................................................................................................23 

1. CCTV Software. ........................................................................................23 

2. District's Review of CCTV Submittals. .....................................................23 

3.  Approval Guidelines. .................................................................................24 

4. Videotaping Procedures and "STOP" Locations. ......................................24 

5.  No Payment and Rejection for Partially Completed Work. .......................25 

K. Work Hours. .........................................................................................................25 

L. Decrease/Increase in Service And Stop Work Due To Inclement 

Weather. ................................................................................................................26 

EXHIBIT B – SAMPLE CONTRACT ......................................................................................27 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 4 
     
1797771.1 

EXHIBIT C - PRICE PROPOSAL FORM ...............................................................................42 

 

  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 5 
     
1797771.1 

I. INTRODUCTION. 

 

The Midway City Sanitary District (“District”) is requesting Proposals from qualified firms 

(“Contractor” or “Proposer”) to assist the District in its 2024 Sewer Mains CCTV Video 

Inspection and Cleaning project ("Project").  

 

A. Background.  

 

The District is a California special district organized in 1939 under the Sanitary District Act of 

1923 (Health & Safety Code §§ 6400 et seq.) to serve the citizens and businesses of the City of 

Westminster and unincorporated community of Midway City, in Orange County.  The District's 

operations are conducted from offices located at 14451 Cedarwood Street, Westminster, CA 

92683.  

 

Situated in Orange County, the area of Westminster and Midway City is a large and diverse 

community. As a service district, the District supplies sanitary sewer services and maintains 

approximately 174 miles of gravity sewer lines that transport 13 million gallons a day to 

treatment facilities for 103,000 residents.  

 

B. Purpose of the Request.  

 

The District desires to obtain the services of a Contractor to perform closed caption television 

(CCTV) video inspection and cleaning services to its gravity sewer lines.  The Contractor will 

provide the full range of services including sewer main cleaning, sewer and manhole video 

inspection, and will provide a report describing the condition of the District’s sewer facilities.  

 

II. SCOPE OF SERVICES. 

 

The attached Exhibit A contains a list of major work tasks that should be accomplished as part of 

the scope of work. Proposers are asked to define the approach and the specific scope of work and 

methodology to achieve the objectives presented in this RFP. Proposers should include a refined 

scope of work by developing a detailed description of all project tasks and any changes, 

additions or recommendations proposed. The description of each project task should include 

specification of the task itself, the methodology or analytical process, scheduling, personnel, and 

costs. If you have any questions, please contact:  

 

Milo Ebrahimi, P.E., District Engineer 

Midway City Sanitary District 

14451 Cedarwood Street 

Westminster, CA 92683 

(714) 893-3553 

  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 6 
     
1797771.1 

III. PROPOSAL FORMAT. 

 

All proposals shall include the following minimum information:  

 

A. Approach.  

 

A short discussion of the intended approach to the Project that demonstrates the proposer's 

understanding of the issues and tasks and the proposer's ability to address them.  

 

B. Description of Firm, Management and Team Members.  

A description of the proposer, its proposed team, and a work plan that identifies the personnel to 

be assigned to each task. The proposer's description should clearly identify who will be the 

project manager and the day to day contact person for the job.  The proposal must identify the 

legal name, address, telephone number, and primary contact for each business entity that will 

provide services for the Project.  The proposal shall expressly indicate if it is a joint proposal by 

more than one business entity.  If a proposer intends to subcontract any of the work for the 

Project, the proposal shall identify and describe the qualifications of each subcontractor proposed 

to be used.  The proposer(s) shall demonstrate that each business entity proposed to provide work 

for the Project is authorized to do business in the State of California, the County of Orange, and 

the City of Westminster.  For any business entity that is organized as a corporation, limited 

liability company, or other entity under the laws of another state, the proposal shall include 

evidence that such business entity is properly registered with the California Secretary of State. 

 

C. Qualifications.  

 

Provide an outline of the proposer’s qualifications indicating minimum five years relevant 

background experience and capabilities for this Project. A list of major projects, both ongoing 

and planned, to which the proposer is committed during the time frame of this Project should 

also be provided.  Include the staff resources devoted to those projects and the status of the 

projects.  

 

D. Scope of Work.  

 

The proposal should contain a description of each work task with an explanation of how the 

proposer plans to approach the tasks and the steps that will be taken to complete the tasks 

including analytical methods and tools. Proposers must demonstrate that they understand the 

magnitude and importance of each individual task. Tasks should be organized into phases 

constituting measurable deliverables.  

 

E. Proposed Project Schedule.  

 

Time is of the essence for this Project. The proposal shall include a schedule to undertake and 

complete the work program.  The project is anticipated to start by January 8, 2024 and be 

completed by December 9, 2024.  The proposed schedule shall include a time period for 

completion of any cleaning and inspection of sewers and manholes in excess of the estimated 

unit quantities stated herein.  Failure to complete the Project on schedule will subject the 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 7 
     
1797771.1 

Contractor to the payment of liquidated damages, as described in the Sample Agreement (Exhibit 

B). 

 

F. Proposed Pricing.  

 

All proposers must complete the Price Proposal Form included in Exhibit C.  Proposers must 

indicate a unit price for each item listed in the Price Proposal Form.  The unit price shall be 

inclusive of all contractor costs to provide the services, as described in Exhibit A.  Unit 

quantities listed are best estimates.  Contractor will be compensated based on actual unit 

quantities cleaned and inspected.  The stated unit prices shall apply to up to one hundred twenty 

percent (120%) of the unit quantity for any item. Unit Prices quoted must be binding for a 

minimum of 90 days and the term of the Agreement.   

 

G. References, Related Experience and Examples of Work.  

 

Include client references with phone numbers for relevant work. Specify the client, location, 

proposer's members and participating individuals and role on the team (principal, project 

director, etc.), type of work, implementation results or status, examples of work, and other 

relevant information as needed.  

 

H. A Sample Report   

 

Include a sample report and high resolution photos for a segment of a sewer main indicating the 

location of all laterals and connections encountered, the location of any breaks, obstructions, 

offsets, high points, sags or other major defects.  

 

Also include a sample report and high resolution photos for a manhole indicating the location of 

sewer main connections, the location of any breaks, obstructions, or other major defects, and the 

condition of manholes.  

 

H. A Sample Video Picture Quality 

 

To establish criteria for video picture quality to be maintained throughout the Project, the 

Contractor shall furnish a thumb drive of a previous sewer inspection that meets the 

specifications for quality. This thumb drive shall become the property of the District. It will be 

used as a standard to judge the acceptability of video inspections produced on this Project. 

 

IV. APPLICABLE LAWS AND PREVAILING WAGES. 

 

A. Laws To Be Observed.  

 

The Contractor shall keep itself fully informed of all existing and future federal, state and local 

laws which in any manner affect those engaged or employed in the work, or the materials used in 

the work, or which in any way affect the conduct of the work, and of all such orders and decrees 

of bodies or tribunals having any jurisdiction or authority over the Project.  

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 8 
     
1797771.1 

B. Prevailing Wages.  

 

The District has determined that the Project requires work of labor categories which are subject 

to Prevailing Wage Laws identified in the State of California Labor Code. The selected 

Contractor shall be aware of the requirements of California Labor Code sections 1720 et seq. and 

1770 et seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, Title 8, section 16000 et seq. 

(“Prevailing Wage Laws”), which require the payment of prevailing wage rates and the 

performance of other requirements on certain “public works” projects.  Specific requirements of 

the Prevailing Wage laws that Contractor will be expected to comply with are listed in the 

proposed Agreement at Exhibit “B”    

 

C. Licensing.   

 

Before submitting proposals, proposers shall be licensed in accordance with the provisions of 

Chapter 9, Division 3, of the Business and Professional Code of the State of California.  

 

V. SELECTION PROCESS. 

 

A. Evaluation. 

 

All proposals received by the due date will be evaluated by the District’s General Manager and 

assigned staff and/or consultants, and the General Manager will make a recommendation to the 

District’s Board of Directors based on this evaluation. Only information which is received in 

response to the RFP or via any subsequent interview will be evaluated. The District will evaluate 

the responses of each proposer in several critical areas. Selected proposers may be invited to an 

oral interview.  

 

B.  Selection Criteria.  

 

The District will select the most qualified proposal based on the following factors.  Responses to 

the RFP should address the qualities and indicators that are listed below:  

 

1. Per Unit Pricing and Cost. 

 

2.  Ability of the proposer to design an approach and work plan to meet the Project 

requirements, which will include an assessment of the overall quality of the proposal. 

Qualities and indicators that will receive consideration include: 

 

• The proposer's performance in converting the Scope of Services into a work plan;  

• The detail and clarity of the discussion as to the proposer's approach to undertaking the 

Project;  

• The proposer's performance in identifying any special problems or concerns which may 

be associated with the Project and preliminary ideas about how these obstacles should be 

addressed; 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 9 
     
1797771.1 

• The inclusion of any unique approaches which are designed to save time and money or 

increase the benefits or effectiveness of the proposed work; and  

• The demonstrated ability to work with governmental bodies and a full understanding of 

applicable laws or regulations that relate to the Project.  

 

3. Ability of the Proposer to carry out and manage the Project, which includes an 

assessment of the past experience of the proposer in general.  Qualities and indicators that 

will receive consideration include: 

 

• The number and types of projects the proposer or its employees have completed;  

• The variety of projects completed and a demonstration of the proposer's ability to 

undertake this Project; 

• The general level of experience in the areas of supervision, observing and monitoring 

projects;  

• The proposer's ability to realize timetables and quality control objectives; and  

• The demonstrated general ability to bring about a successful completion of the projects 

under the proposer's direction.  

 

4. Capabilities of the proposer and/or its proposed team, which includes an assessment of 

the capabilities of the proposer and individuals that will be engaged in the Project. 

Qualities and indicators that will receive consideration include: 

 

• What professionals will be doing/working on each task;  

• The various professional, technical, and educational achievements and registrations of 

each firm and individuals involved;  

• The applicable experience of the proposed assigned staff and the specific experience 

gained on similar projects.  

 

5. Current Workload of the proposer, which includes an assessment of the perceived ability 

of the proposer to devote the necessary human resources and management attention to the 

Project. Qualities and indicators that will receive consideration include: 

 

• The number and size of the projects presently being performed by the proposer and the 

assigned staff;  

• The status of existing projects;  

• The past ability of the proposer to deliver projects on a timely basis; and  

• The nature of existing projects that are behind schedule or past the completion date.  

 

6. Proximity of the proposer to the Project site.  The application of this criteria will include an 

assessment of the following: 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 10 
     
1797771.1 

• The proposer's geographic proximity to the Project site;  

• The location of the office from which the Project will be administered;  

• The perceived response time and general availability of the proposer's management to be 

on site;  

• The perceived effect that Project management location will have on price and the ability 

of the Project to be expedited on a timely basis; and  

• The availability of special travel or communication plans which would effectively 

mitigate difficulties associated with location.  

 

7. Willingness to comply with the proposed Agreement terms. A sample Agreement is 

attached in Exhibit B.  Proposals will be rated based on the exceptions taken to the 

proposed Agreement.  

 

C. Proposed Selection and Project Schedule.  

 

Pre-Proposal Meeting: December 4, 2023, at 10:00 a.m. 

Proposal Due Date:  December 7, 2023, at 3:00 p.m. 

Award of Agreement:  December 19, 2023 

Projected Start Date:  January 8, 2024 

Projected Completion Date: December 9, 2024 

 

D. Award of Contract.  

 

It is anticipated that any award of an agreement for services will be made by the District Board at 

its December 19, 2023 regular meeting.  

 

VI. PROPOSAL DUE DATE AND DELIVERY  

 

Proposals shall be prepared according to the instructions contained in this RFP, including any 

addenda hereto published by the District. Proposals must be delivered by mail, courier, express 

or by hand to the District at its offices at: 

 

Midway City Sanitary District 

Attention: District Engineer   

14451 Cedarwood Street  

Westminster, CA 92683 

 

by 3:00, p.m., prevailing time, on or before December 7, 2023, at 3:00 p.m. 

 

All copies received by that time will be date and time stamped. Proposals will not be accepted 

after this time.  

 

VII. GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE RFP. 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 11 
     
1797771.1 

A. General Conditions.  

 

The District reserves the right to cancel or reject all or a portion or portions of the RFP without 

notice.  Further, the District makes no representations that it will enter into an Agreement with 

any proposer submitting a proposal. The District reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 

submitted in response to this request or any addenda thereto, including without limitation the 

right to reject any or all nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional proposals 

and to reject the proposal of any proposer that the District believes would not be in the best 

interest to hire.  The District also reserves the right to reject any subcontractor or individual 

working on a proposed team and to replace them with a mutually acceptable replacement.  

 

Upon receipt by the District, proposals are considered a public record and subject to disclosure 

under the Public Records Act, including within such information, without limitation, personal 

identification information such as social security numbers, bank account numbers, and drivers' 

license numbers.  Further, after the award of the Contract by the District, whether or not a 

proposer is the successful Contractor, all material in proposals received by the District shall be 

subject to the right of the public to inspect and to obtain copies. The District shall retain all 

proposals submitted in response to this RFP for as long as the District is required to do so under 

the law. 

 

In submitting a proposal, each proposer agrees that the District may reveal any trade secret 

materials contained in such response to all District staff and District officials involved in the 

selection process, and to any outside consultant or other third parties who are hired or appointed 

by the District to assist in the evaluation process. 
 

Each proposer may designate specified information as a trade secret and confidential and agrees 

to indemnify and hold harmless the District and each of its officers, employees, and agents from 

all liability, damages and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by any of them 

in connection with the District's refusal to disclose any material that the proposer has so 

designated. Any Consultant that designates its entire proposal as a trade secret will be 

disqualified. 

 

Any changes to the proposal requirements will be made by written addendum.  

 

The District reserves the right to waive any and all defects or informalities in any proposal. 

 

It shall be the responsibility of each proposer before submitting a proposal: 

 

• To examine thoroughly the requirements of this RFP; 

• To visit the District to become familiar with and satisfy the proposer as to the general, 

local, and site conditions, and has obtained any additional or supplementary 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, or other studies concerning conditions at 

the District; 

• To study and carefully correlate proposer's knowledge with this RFP and such other 

related data; and 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 12 
     
1797771.1 

• To promptly notify the District of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities or discrepancies that 

proposer has discovered in this RFP. 

 

B. Liability of Costs and Responsibility.  

 

The District assumes no liability for any cost incurred by proposers responding to this RFP or in 

responding to any further requests for interviews, or additional information, prior to the issuance 

of the Contract.  All costs shall be borne by the person or firm responding to the request. 

Proposers responding to the request shall hold the District harmless from any and all liability, 

claim or expense whatsoever incurred by or on behalf of that person or firm. All submitted 

material becomes the property of the District.  

 

The selected Contractor will be required to assume responsibility for all services offered in the 

proposal whether or not they possess them within their firm. The Contractor will be the sole 

point of contact with regard to contractual matters, including payment of any and all charges 

resulting from the Contract.  

 

C. Validity.  

 

Proposers agree to be bound by their proposals for a period of ninety (90) days commencing on 

December 7, 2023, during which time the District may request clarification or correction of the 

proposal for the purpose of evaluation. Amendments or clarifications shall not affect the 

remainder of the proposal, but only that portion so amended or clarified.  

 

D. Standard Agreement Terms.  

 

The selected Contractor will be required to enter into the District’s standard Agreement, a copy 

of which has been provided in Exhibit B.  Each proposer shall assume that the execution of this 

Agreement, without changes, will be a required condition unless proposed modifications are 

requested at the time of submittal of the proposal and then accepted by the District. If a proposer 

wishes to take exception to any of the terms and conditions contained in the Agreement, these 

should be identified specifically; otherwise it will be assumed that the proposer is willing to enter 

into the Agreement as it is written. Failure to identify contractual issues of dispute can later be 

the basis for the District disqualifying a proposer. Any exceptions to terms, conditions, or other 

requirements must be clearly stated. Otherwise, the District will consider that all items offered 

are in strict compliance with the RFP, and the successful proposer will be responsible for 

compliance. The District will consider such exceptions as part of the evaluation process which 

may constitute grounds for rejection of the proposal. The Agreement will not be executed by the 

District without first being signed by the proposer.  

 

E. Permits.  

 

The Contractor and all of its subcontractors, at its and/or their sole expense, shall obtain and 

maintain during the term of the Agreement, all appropriate permits required in connection with 

the performance of the Project.  

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 13 
     
1797771.1 

The required permits include: 

1. Traffic control plans, encroachment permits and/or business licenses are required from 

the City of Westminster and County of Orange for this Project. 

2. The Contractor shall provide the necessary water for this task.  The Contractor shall 

obtain a temporary water meter and permit from the City of Westminster and/or County 

of Orange if required or make necessary water provisions for this Project.  Use of 

property owner's water for sewer cleaning is not permitted. 

3. Confined Space Permit is required from the District for entering into any District’s 

manholes. Confined space procedures will be provided with the permit.  

4. Any other permit which is required by the local agency and the local jurisdiction.  

 

F. Licenses and Certificates.  

 

The Contractor and all of its subcontractors, at its and/or their sole expense, shall obtain and 

maintain during the term of the Contract, all appropriate licenses and certificates required in 

connection with the performance of the Project.  

 

The required Licenses and Certificates include: 

1. NASSCO’s Pipeline Assessment Certification Program (PACP) and Manhole 

Assessment Certification Program (MACP) are the trusted sources for proper and 

consistent assessment condition coding of pipelines and manholes.  

2. General contractor license A, C36, or C42.  

3. Any other Licenses and Certificates which is required by the local agency and the local 

jurisdiction.  

 

G. Oral and Written Explanations.  

 

The District will not be bound by oral explanations or instructions given at any time during the 

review process or after the award. Oral explanations given during the review process and after 

award become binding when confirmed in writing by an authorized District official.  

 

Written responses to question(s) asked by one proposer will be provided to all proposers who 

received the Request for Proposals.  

 

H. Proposer's Representative.  

 

The person signing the proposal must be a legal representative of the firm authorized to bind the 

proposer to an agreement in the event of the award.  

 

I. Insurance. 

 

General Liability, Automobile, and Worker's compensation insurance are required in the amount 

set forth in the attached sample Contract.  

 

J. Bonds. 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 14 
     
1797771.1 

The Contractor shall furnish the following bonds in a form and from a bonding company 

acceptable to the District’s General Counsel:  

 

• Faithful Performance: A bond in the amount of 100% of the total contract price 

guaranteeing the faithful performance of this Agreement, and  

 

• Labor and Materials: A bond for labor and materials in the amount of 100% of the 

total contract price. 

 

J. Spill Prevention and Clean Up. 

 

Spill prevention and clean up shall be performed based on instructions and guidelines by Orange 

County Public Works Standards that can be found at:  

https://ocerws.ocpublicworks.com/sites/ocpwocerws/files/import/data/files/10193.pdf  

 

In case of observation of Sewer System Overflow (SSO), please call District’s emergency 

numbers: 714-310-9004 or 714-310-8654.  

 

VIII. Exhibits.  

 

A. Scope of Work 

B. Sample Agreement 

C. Price Proposal Form 

D. Main Sewer Line and Manhole Location Maps  

https://ocerws.ocpublicworks.com/sites/ocpwocerws/files/import/data/files/10193.pdf


Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 15 
     
1797771.1 

 

EXHIBIT A - SCOPE OF WORK 

A. General Procedures. 

 

The Contractor shall perform CCTV video inspection of sewer main and manholes, and cleaning 

services to the sewer mains only within the District sewer system.  It is anticipated that the 

Project will include approximately 174 miles of CCTV video inspection and cleaning and 

inspection of 3001 manholes.  The Contractor will determine the maintenance and structural 

deficiencies of the sewer mains and manholes in accordance with the PACP and MACP rating 

system accordingly.  

 

The Contractor shall comply with the detailed CCTV Inspection and cleaning Services 

requirements below.  The scope of work includes, but is not limited to, the following:  

 

1. Sewer Main Cleaning. 

 

Sewer cleaning shall include removal of foreign material and objects from the sewer line to 

permit for its video inspection.  The Contractor shall take all necessary measures not to damage 

the sewer lines as a result of the cleaning.  Low pressure hydraulic cleaning equipment used shall 

be of a movable dam type and be constructed in such a way that a portion of the dam may be 

collapsed at any time during the cleaning operations to protect against flooding of the sewer. The 

movable dam shall be equal in diameter to the pipe being cleaned and shall provide a flexible 

scraper around the outer periphery to insure removal of grease. If sewer cleaning balls or other 

equipment which cannot be collapsed is used, special precautions to prevent flooding of the 

sewers and public or private property shall be taken. The equipment shall have a selection of two 

or more high velocity nozzles. The nozzles shall be capable of producing a scouring action from 

15 to 45 degrees in all size lines designated to be cleaned. The equipment shall carry its own 

water tank, auxiliary engines, pumps, and hydraulically driven hose reel.  

 

Mechanically powered (Bucket machines) equipment shall be in pairs with sufficient power to 

perform the work in an efficient manner. Machines shall be belt operated or have an overload 

device. Machines with direct drive that could cause damage to the pipe will not be allowed. A 

power rodding machine shall be either a sectional or continuous rod type capable of holding a 

minimum of 750 feet of rod. The rod shall be specifically heat-treated steel. To insure safe 

operation, the machine shall be fully enclosed and have an automatic safety clutch or relief 

valve.  

 

The designated sewer line sections shall be cleaned using hydraulically propelled, high velocity 

jet, or mechanically powered equipment. Selection of equipment used shall be based on the 

conditions of lines at the time the work commences.  The equipment and methods selected shall 

be satisfactory to the District. The equipment shall be capable of removing roots, dirt, grease, 

rocks, sand, and other materials and obstructions from the sewer lines. If cleaning of entire 

section cannot be successfully performed from one manhole, the equipment shall be set upon the 

other manhole and cleaning again attempted.  

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 16 
     
1797771.1 

During sewer cleaning operations, satisfactory precautions shall be taken in the use of cleaning 

equipment. When hydraulically propelled cleaning tools (which depend upon water pressure to 

provide their cleaning force) or tools which retard the flow in the sewer line are used, 

precautions shall be taken to ensure that the water pressure created does not damage or cause 

flooding of public or private property being served by the sewer. When possible, the flow of 

sewage in the sewer shall be utilized to provide the necessary pressure for hydraulic cleaning 

devices. When additional water from fire hydrants is necessary to avoid delay in normal work 

procedures, the water shall be conserved and not used unnecessarily. No fire hydrant shall be 

obstructed in case of a fire in the area served by the hydrant.  

 

The Contractor shall provide the necessary water for this task.  The Contractor shall obtain a 

temporary water meter and permit from the City of Westminster and/or County of Orange if 

required or make necessary water provisions for this Project.  Use of property owner's water for 

sewer cleaning is not permitted.  

 

The Contractor is responsible for removing debris from the site and for any damage or clean-up 

on private property caused by negligent sewer cleaning operations.  

 

Roots should not be removed during the cleaning process as much as possible to ensure roots 

will be recorded in the video inspection. All related work shall be included in various items and 

shall not be considered for additional payment.  

 

Protruding Taps shall not be removed, and shall remain in place.  

 

Acceptance of Sanitary Sewer line cleaning shall be made upon demonstration, through the 

television inspection, that the line has been thoroughly cleaned. Payment for sanitary sewer 

cleaning shall be included in Contractor's unit price for television inspection.  No additional 

compensation shall be made.  

 

2. Sewer Main Video Inspection. 

 

Sewer main video inspection shall include producing and logging of the sewer main video 

inspection as specified in the following paragraphs.  

 

All pipeline inspections shall be conducted utilizing National Association of Sewer Service 

Companies (NASSCO) Pipeline Assessment Certification Program (PACP) Standards and 

NASSCO certified software.  All CCTV operators shall be certified through the NASSCO 

program. 

 

The Contractor shall utilize the District’s GIS to pre-populate the session data.  Pipe and 

Manhole ID’s shall be used for each section of pipe.  Pipe sizes provided in GIS shall be verified 

by Contractor during inspections. 

 

The location of all laterals and defects, as defined in the PACP guidelines shall be documented.  

The recorded digital files shall include a narrative description of all observations made by the 

observer and shall be included in the log.   



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 17 
     
1797771.1 

 

The initial text screen for each pipe reach shall be identified with text and voice recording 

including the following: 

1. Midway City Sanitary District and Contract No.  

2. Date  

3. Time  

4. Contractor’s name and number  

5. Surveyor’s name  

6. Street name  

7. Pipe ID  

8. Upstream manhole ID  

9. Downstream manhole ID  

10. Inspection direction  

11. Pipe size  

12. Pipe shape  

13. Pipe material  

During the CCTV inspection, the running screen shall show the running footage and the 

following text: 

1. MCSD 

2. Upstream Manhole ID 

3. Downstream Manhole ID 

4. Inspection Direction 

5. Street Location 

6. Pipe Size 

7. Pipe Material 

8. Date 

9. Time 

The Contractor shall use a color pan and tilt camera or a side wall scanning (panoramic) camera 

specifically designed and constructed for sewer inspection. Each sewer to be televised shall be 

suitably isolated to control flow during the inspection. The Contractor shall provide a recording 

of the televised sewer inspection, locating each sewer service connection entering the sewer. 

 

Lighting for the pan and tilt camera or side wall scanning camera shall provide a clear picture of 

the entire periphery of the existing sewer.  

 

The pan and tilt camera shall pause, pan, and visually inspect all service connections, pipe ends, 

and maintenance or structural defects. If utilizing a camera with side wall scanning capabilities, 

pausing and panning of each lateral is not necessary during the inspection if the image clearly 

depicts the inside of the lateral for post processing. If a blockage cannot be removed and 

hampers the televising of the sewer in one direction then the Contractor shall attempt to complete 

the section by televising from the other manhole to complete the section; this reversal should 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 18 
     
1797771.1 

immediately follow the initial direction. The Contractor must immediately report the obstruction 

to the District.  

 

Side wall scanning inspection systems are imaging cameras that are capable of a continuous 360 

degree image capture of the wall of the pipeline being inspected. These systems may have one or 

multiple cameras to capture the complete interior view of the pipeline. Due to the high resolution 

of the image quality, the inspections may be conducted at a higher speed than color pan and tilt 

CCTV method. Once the pipeline inspections are completed, the captured images can be linked 

with a companion software package that allows for identifying and coding defects and features in 

the pipeline. Typically these systems provide a fold flat view and a perspective view (typical of 

CCTV) of the pipeline.  

 

If the image quality is not adequate for post-inspection coding, the Contractor shall be required 

to repeat the survey at the Contractor’s expense.  

 

The Contractor shall perform all CCTV inspections in accordance with NASSCO’s Pipeline 

Assessment Certification Program (PACP). CCTV inspections will be delivered entirely in 

electronic format. The entire survey shall be recorded in an approved electronic format submitted 

with electronic links between the data and the video. All television inspection reports shall be 

with-in +/- two (2) feet of the measured linear footage between manholes along the existing 

sewer centerline from the start of pipe to end of pipe. All District and PACP required header 

information must be fully and accurately entered on all CCTV reports. Work not following these 

specifications may be rejected for payment and the Contractor may be required to re do the work. 

 

The Contractor shall provide a PACP certified operator on site at all times during the entire 

survey. If video is to be coded separately from the actual recording, both the onsite Operator and 

the individual performing the PACP coding shall be PACP certified. The Contractor shall 

provide proof of certification prior to commencement of work, prior to a change in personnel 

involved in data collection, and as requested by the District.  

 

The Contractor will document and perform an above-ground survey of each manhole, recording 

along the alignment of the interceptor and surface cover, and a still photo of the exterior of the 

manhole and surrounding area. The camera will start at the manhole rim in line with the largest 

diameter outgoing pipe, rotating the camera clockwise until a 360 degree panorama is complete.  

The camera shall be moved through the line at a moderate rate, stopping when necessary to 

permit proper documentation of the condition of the sewer line, manhole, lateral wyes and lateral 

location. In no event will the television camera be pulled at a speed greater than 30 feet per 

minute. Manual winches, power winches, TV cable, and power rewinds or other devices that do 

not obstruct the camera view or interfere with proper documentation of the sewer line conditions 

shall be used to move the camera through the sewer line. If, during the inspection operation, the 

television camera will not pass through the entire sewer, the Contractor shall set up its equipment 

so that the inspection can be performed from the opposing manhole.  

 

When manually operated winches are used to pull the television camera through the line, 

telephones or other suitable means of communication shall be set up between the two manholes 

of the section being inspected to insure good communications between members of the crew.  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 19 
     
1797771.1 

 

The importance of accurate distance measurements is emphasized. Measurement for location of 

defects shall be made by means of a camera-mounted transmitter and aboveground receiver. 

Marking on the cable, which requires interpolation for depth of the manhole, will not be 

permitted.  

 

To establish criteria for video picture quality to be maintained throughout the Project, the 

Contractor shall furnish a thumb drive of a previous sewer inspection that meets these 

specifications for quality. This thumb drive shall become the property of the District. It will be 

used as a standard to judge the acceptability of video inspections produced on this Project.  

 

The audio portion of the inspection report, recorded at the time of inspection, shall be intelligible 

in its entirety. The information contained on the audio recording shall include (1) the location of 

the sewer, (2) the location of the manholes involved, (3) the direction of travel (4) a description 

of conditions in the sewer as they are encountered, and (5) the location and entrance condition of 

service laterals.  

 

Any Red Flag Conditions shall be reported immediately to the District.  Red Flag Conditions are 

things such as root ball or other large obstruction blocking flow path, large hole in pipe or other 

defect that could lead to a collapsed pipe, collapsed pipes, large offset joint where sewage may 

be leaving the system, etc. 

 

Any assessments that cannot be inspected from manhole to manhole shall be listed as MSA – 

Survey Abandoned.   If the reason for the MSA is not a cause for a Red Flag Condition, it shall 

be noted in the inspection report and conveyed to the District. If possible, the Reverse Run shall 

be completed from the opposite manhole. If the camera fails to reach the same point in the pipe 

where the initially discovered obstruction is located, the inspection of this reach shall be 

considered complete and flagged. It should be noted that inspection of the entire sewer reach 

could not be completed. 

 

If a manhole not listed in the database is found, a new inspection shall be started. The added 

structures and inspections shall be noted. 

 

3. Manhole Inspection. 

 

Manholes shall be inspected in accordance with the NASSCO standards. The Contractor shall 

determine the maintenance and structural deficiencies of the manholes in accordance with the 

MACP rating system.  

 

B. Traffic Control.  

 

For sewer system in the City of Westminster, Traffic control and safety shall conform to the City 

of Westminster Standards – “Traffic Control General Notes” that can be find at:  

https://www.westminster-ca.gov/departments/public-works/standards  

 

https://www.westminster-ca.gov/departments/public-works/standards


Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 20 
     
1797771.1 

For sewer system in the unincorporated Midway City area, Traffic control and safety shall 

conform to Orange County Public Works Standard Plans that can be found at:  

https://ocpublicworks.com/ocpw/oc-public-works-standard-plans  

 

C. Order of Work.  

 

The Contractor shall coordinate its work with all other workers or utility companies working in 

the work area designated for CCTV inspection.  

 

Sewer video inspection of each segment of a sewer main shall be done maximum one week after 

the cleaning of that segment. If the video inspection of the sewer line was not done within the 

next one week after the cleaning day, new line cleaning shall be performed for the same segment 

at no extra cost to the District before the video inspection.  

 

D. Sewer Mains and Manholes to be Inspected.  

 

All sewer mains and manholes shall be visually inspected by means of CCTV and video. The 

inspections shall be done one sewer section at a time.  Flows shall be controlled as specified 

herein while the inspection work is in progress.  Sewer line and manhole location maps will be 

provided only by request to District.  

 

E. Submittals.  

 

1. The Contractor shall deliver monthly video inspections and logs on a thumb drive or on 

an external hard drive concurrent with invoice submittal.  

 

2. The Contractor shall furnish one color video recording, with target, for each section of 

sewer inspected, and JPEG files of all photographs taken during the inspection. The 

videos shall show the date the work was performed and the location of the entry manhole. 

Videos shall indicate cumulative footage from the entry manhole, as verified by the 

camera-mounted transmitter and receiver. Video recordings shall be included in the 

monthly report.  

 

The video files shall be standard MPEG/JPEG format.  If the District approves a different 

electronic file format to allow for a higher resolution video or photo file, the Contractor 

shall also deliver a "viewer" program and support of the software used.  

 

3. The Contractor shall furnish a report and high resolution photos for every section of the 

sewer mains indicating the location of all laterals and connections encountered, the 

location of any breaks, obstructions, offsets, high points, sags or other major defects, and 

the condition of manholes.  All reports shall be neatly typed.  Photos, thumb drives, hard 

drives, reports and all related work shall be included in various items and shall not be 

considered for additional payment.  

 

4. The Contractor shall deliver an external hard drive that contains comprehensive 

NASSCO Data including the following:  

https://ocpublicworks.com/ocpw/oc-public-works-standard-plans


Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 21 
     
1797771.1 

 

a) Standard PACP Exchange database;  

b) All video inspections and photographs;  

c) Plots of each pipe inspected with the defects shown with distance in the pipe;  

d) Observation reports with images;  

e) List of all Red Flag Conditions found in the system;  

f) List of all incomplete inspections with reasons for not completing them;  

g) List of all areas where roots were removed;  

h) Copy of “viewer” program in support of the software used; 

i) The final report of the sewer system.  

F. Safety.  

 

The Contractor shall have a documented safety program in place that meets all applicable 

occupational safety and health standard, rules, regulations and orders established by the State of 

California. Site Safety Plan and all related work shall be included in various items and shall not 

be considered for additional payment. This document shall be submitted to District before 

beginning of the project.  

 

G. Experience. 

 

The Contractor shall have a minimum of five years experience in the television inspection of 

sanitary sewers. The thumb drive and/or video files shall be reviewed by a person having a 

minimum of five years experience in evaluating and repairing problems in sanitary sewer mains.  

 

H. Flow Control.  

 

When sewer line depth of flow at the upstream manhole of the section being inspected is above 

the maximum allowable depth shown below, the flow shall be reduced by operation of pump 

stations, plugging or blocking of the flow, or by pumping and bypassing of the flow. Reducing 

depth of flow and all related work shall be included in various items and shall not be considered 

for additional payment.  

 

1. Allowable Depth of Flow. 

 

Depth of the flow shall not exceed 5% of pipe diameter or depth where camera is not submerged, 

whichever is smaller, as measured in the manhole when performing CCTV inspection.  

 

2. Plugging or Blocking and Pumping. 

 

During video inspection, flow shall be reduced to the limits specified herein.  When sewer flow 

control is required, the Contractor shall furnish, install, and operate pumps, plugs, conduits, and 

other equipment to divert the flow of sewage around the pipeline reach in which work is to be 

performed.  

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 22 
     
1797771.1 

A sewer plug shall be so designed that all or any portion of the sewage can be released. The plug 

shall be provided with a tag line. A plug shall be inserted into the line upstream of the section 

being inspected. 

 

The pumping system shall be of sufficient capacity to handle existing flow plus additional flow 

that may occur during a rainstorm. If pumping is required on a 24-hour basis, engines shall be 

equipped in a manner to keep noise to a minimum. Standby pumps shall be provided as required. 

Pumping shall be done by the Contractor in such manner as it will not damage public or private 

property or create a nuisance or health menace. The pumped sewage shall be in an enclosed hose 

or pipe and shall be reinserted into the sanitary sewer system.  

 

Sewage shall not be allowed to free flow in gutters, streets, or over sidewalks, etc. Nor shall any 

sewage be allowed to flow into the storm inlets or conduits. After the work has been completed, 

flow shall be restored to normal.  

 

Plugging or blocking and all related work shall be included in various items and shall not be 

considered for additional payment.  

 

3. Flow Control Precautions. 

 

When flow in a sewer is plugged, blocked, or bypassed, precautions shall be taken to protect all 

sewers from damage that might result from sewer surcharging. Precautions shall also be taken to 

insure that flow control operations do not cause flooding or damage to public or private property 

being served by the sewers involved.  

 

I. Measurement and Payment.  

 

Payment for the work, as further specified herein, shall include all compensation to be received 

by the Contractor for furnishing all tools, equipment, supplies, and manufactured articles, and for 

all labor, operations, mobilization, and incidentals appurtenant to the work being described, as 

necessary to complete the various items of the work specified, including Occupational Safety and 

Health Administration requirements for any item that is not specifically set forth in the proposal, 

and the costs therefor shall be included in the prices named in the various bid items for the work.  

 

The following items of work will not be measured for payment but the cost thereof will be 

included in the prices named in the various bid items for the work:  

1. Data entry, computerized equipment, software, and hardware to submit the required 

electronic submittals. 

2. Completion of all electronic forms. 

3. Photographic equipment and supplies used to show sewer pipe and manhole defects. 

4. Bypass pumping and flow control where required by the Contractor to perform his or her 

work. 

5. Demobilization and mobilization. 

6. Updates to the schedule as required by the District. 

7. Right of entry access to private property. 

8. Dye testing of service connections in order to meet the CCTV specification. 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 23 
     
1797771.1 

 

Payment for maintenance of traffic and detour barriers and for conforming to all of the 

provisions of these specifications shall be considered to be included in the price for the various 

bid items for various items of work wherein maintenance or traffic and detours is required and no 

additional allowance will be made therefor.  

 

In cases where the sewer is entirely cleaned and inspected manhole-to-manhole, payments for 

cleaning and CCTV inspection of sewer mains will be based on the measured linear footage 

between manholes along the existing sewer centerline from manhole wall to manhole wall at the 

agreed upon unit price . 

 

All invoicing will be by sewer segment, and payment and will be made when all punch list items 

and rework are completed for each Sewer Segment.  

 

The payment for Inspection of District’s manholes will be based on the inspection, photo and 

video footage of each manhole at the agreed upon unit price. 

 

J. Contractor's CCTV Inspection Services Standard Operating Procedures. 

 

In order to assure that all Project sewer pipes are thoroughly cleaned and inspected, and that a 

usable, quality product is delivered to the District, the following standard operating procedures 

are to be followed by the Contractor at all times during this Project.  If any of the procedures and 

guidelines is unclear or ambiguous, the Contractor is to seek guidance from the District before 

proceeding.  

 

1. CCTV Software. 

 

The Contractor shall use a digital CCTV data acquisition software program for collection of the 

CCTV data. If the program does not save the video file in standard MPEG format, the program 

shall include a "viewer" program, which allows concurrent viewing of the CCTV data and video. 

The aforementioned viewer program shall be provided to the District at no cost. CCTV 

observations shall be recorded using NAASCO PACP and MACP standards. CCTV reports shall 

be provided in PDF format.  

 

2. District's Review of CCTV Submittals. 

 

Concurrent to the submission of a monthly invoice by the Contractor, the Contractor shall 

provide quality control of submitted work product, and submit copies of video, digital data, and 

image findings in a format specified by the District. The District will perform a Quality 

Assurance review and no payment shall be made for the submitted work until the District 

reviews and approves submitted videos and quantities of estimated linear foot of sewer line 

videotaped.  

 

The District shall confirm or reject the condition assessment results submitted by the Contractor 

within two weeks of the submission. The District will return work in need of correction or 

rework to the Contractor on a bi-weekly basis.  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 24 
     
1797771.1 

 

The Contractor agrees to abide by the submission guidelines for electronic data, reports, and 

standard of quality set forth by the District. The decision of the District Engineer shall be final 

except in cases where all District guidelines are met and the interpretation of acceptance is 

subjective.  

 

3.  Approval Guidelines. 

 

The District will base its review of the submitted work product upon the following submission 

guidelines:  

 

a. All submittals rejected by the District shall not be considered for payment and shall be 

redone by the Contractor.  All hardships or irregularities during video inspection must be 

thoroughly, clearly and properly documented with photographs and comments in order 

for a pipe to be considered "Uninspectable".  

 

b. The proper videotaping procedures must be followed as outlined below under the section 

Videotaping Procedures and STOP locations. All submittals with premature or improper 

STOP procedures will be rejected.  

 

c.  The clarity of the video inspection shall be in a quality wherein the condition of the pipe 

may be visually confirmed by the District with no obstruction or excessive wastewater 

flows. If the District cannot positively confirm the condition of the pipe due to poor video 

quality, pipe flow or obstruction, then the submittal may be rejected by the District if:  

 

• The pipe was improperly cleaned, or exhaustion of approved cleaning methods was 

not properly documented.  

• The pipe flow was not stopped or controlled as per the specifications.  

 

4. Videotaping Procedures and "STOP" Locations. 

 

Payment shall be at the unit price bid as noted in the specifications from the start manhole 

structure to the end manhole structure, or from the start manhole to a STOP location.  

 

All video inspections submitted by the Contractor shall proceed only as detailed by the specific 

situations outlined below:  

 

a.  1st condition - Ideally the video inspection shall proceed from the start manhole 

structure to the end manhole structure without obstruction, blockages, or 

interference from excessive wastewater flows. Inspections shall proceed from 

upstream to downstream unless access into the upstream structure is prevented or 

the inspection is a reverse setup.  

 

b. 2nd condition - If a STOP location is encountered before reaching the end manhole 

structure, then:  

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 25 
     
1797771.1 

1. All STOP locations shall be confirmed by video imaging from the start of 

the run (first manhole structure) to the point of the STOP causing event. 

Include appropriate observation coding and clear concise comments in the 

report documenting the reason for the STOP event.  

 

2. Any STOP event shall be followed with a REVERSE SETUP from the 

opposite end of the line segment.  

 

3. If the reverse video inspection can proceed from the end manhole structure 

to the point of the initial STOP causing event, then the video inspection 

shall be considered complete.  

 

c. 3rd Condition - Proceeding from the REVERSE SETUP as outlined in the 2nd 

Condition above, if a second STOP location is found before reaching the initial 

STOP point during the cleaning procedure, its presence shall be confirmed by 

video imaging from the start of the REVERSE SETUP run to the point of the 

STOP causing event. Include appropriate observation coding and clear concise 

comments in the report documenting the reason for the STOP event.  

 

5.  No Payment and Rejection for Partially Completed Work.  

 

The District will not pay and will reject partially completed work in the following situations: 

 

a. Line cleaning and incomplete inspection work is submitted without a picture and 

thorough, clear and concise description of the STOP event.  

 

b. A REVERSE SETUP and camera run is not attempted after a STOP is recorded 

and when access by the camera at the opposite end of the selected line segment 

was feasible.  

 

1. Where REVERSE SETUPS are attempted but unsuccessful, thorough 

documentation with videos, pictures and comments must be provided in 

order for the area to be considered "Uninspectable".  

 

2. In any instance where the feasibility or acceptability of a REVERSE 

SETUP or STOP event is in question, the Contractor shall contact the 

District. The District shall have the final decision in such matters.  

 

c. There is the presence of excessive wastewater in the line as described in these 

specifications.  

 

d. In any instance where the District rejects the work or if it is determined by the 

District that the Contractor failed to follow the standard operating procedures.  

 

K. Work Hours. 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 26 
     
1797771.1 

The Contractor must complete all work such that no homeowner is without sewer service, unless 

otherwise directed by the District. Local noise ordinances or agencies having control over 

roadway closures may control starting or stopping operations. Prior to starting operations, the 

Contractor shall advise the District of the restrictions imposed by the local agencies. 

 

The workdays are Monday to Friday, and the workhours are from 7 am to 7 pm. local time. 

Local restrictions imposed by the local agencies supersede the workdays and the workhours. No 

work will be allowed on weekends or holidays except at the discretion of the District. 

 

L. Decrease/Increase in Service And Stop Work Due To Inclement Weather.  

 
The unit quantities set forth in this Request for Proposals are best estimates, and the actual unit 

quantities may differ from those set forth in the Request for Proposals.  This Request for 

Proposals and the ultimate Agreement do not guarantee a specific amount of work or lump sum 

payment.  In the event the actual unit quantity for any item exceeds the unit quantity stated in the 

Request for Proposals, the Contractor will be required to notify and obtain approval of the 

District prior to proceeding to perform cleaning and inspection services with respect to such 

additional unit quantities.  Upon receipt of written authorization from the District, the Contractor 

will be required to provide cleaning and inspection services at the agreed upon unit prices with 

respect to up to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the unit quantity set forth in the Request 

for Proposals for any item.     

 

The District further reserves the right to suspend or stop the performance of any or all of the 

work under the Agreement due to inclement weather conditions.   



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 27 
     
1797771.1 

EXHIBIT B – SAMPLE CONTRACT 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR THE  

2024 SEWER MAINS CCTV VIDEO INSPECTION AND CLEANING 

  

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (hereinafter “Agreement”) is made this  

___ day of _____ 2023, by the MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT, a public entity 

(hereinafter referred to as ”DISTRICT”) and [NAME OF CONTRACTOR], a [TYPE OF ENTITY 

AND STATE OF ORGANIZATION], (hereinafter referred to as “CONTRACTOR”).  DISTRICT 

and CONTRACTOR are sometimes hereinafter individually referred to as “Party” and are 

hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Parties.” 

 

RECITALS 

 

The following recitals are a substantive part of this Agreement: 

 

1. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to Midway City Sanitary District Board 

authorization dated ______, 2023. 

 

2. DISTRICT has determined there is a need to retain the professional services of a 

qualified company to provide cleaning and CCTV video inspection of DISTRICT’s 

gravity sewer mains and manholes (the “Project”) in accordance with the Request for 

Proposals for the 2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspection and Cleaning 

Project, dated November 7, 2023 (hereinafter referred to as the “Request for Proposals”) 

prepared by DISTRICT. 

 

3. In response to the Request for Proposals, CONTRACTOR has submitted to DISTRICT a 

proposal, dated [DATE], to provide DISTRICT with professional CCTV video inspection 

and cleaning services (the “Proposal”). 

 

4. CONTRACTOR represents and maintains that it is uniquely qualified by virtue of its 

experience, training, education, reputation, and technical expertise to provide the 

professional CCTV video inspection and cleaning services to DISTRICT for the Project 

and has agreed to provide such services as provided herein.  DISTRICT does not have the 

personnel, training, certification, or specialized technical expertise necessary to perform 

the work and services contracted for herein. 

 

.5 DISTRICT desires to retain CONTRACTOR to provide such professional CCTV video 

inspection and cleaning services for the Project. 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

THE PARTIES MUTUALLY AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

1. Term and Termination.  This Agreement shall cover services rendered from the full 

execution of this Agreement through completion of the tasks outlined in the Request for 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 28 
     
1797771.1 

Proposals and CONTRACTOR’s Proposal, unless earlier terminated by DISTRICT. This 

Agreement may be terminated by DISTRICT without cause upon thirty (30) days written notice.  

In such event, the DISTRICT will compensate CONTRACTOR for work performed to date in 

accordance with Section 3.4 of this Agreement.  CONTRACTOR is required to present evidence 

to support performed work completion.  CONTRACTOR is required to present evidence to 

support performed work completion.   

   

2. Services to be Provided.   

 

 2.1 Scope of Services and Standard of Performance.    In compliance with all terms 

and conditions of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR agrees to provide and perform professional 

cleaning and CCTV video inspection of DISTRICT’s gravity sewer mains and manholes for the 

Project as set forth in (a) the Proposal, which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated 

herein by reference, and (b) the Scope of Work included in the Request for Proposals, which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein by reference (hereinafter referred to as 

the “Scope of Services,” the “Services” or “Work”). As a material inducement to DISTRICT 

entering into this Agreement, CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that the Services 

and Work contracted for under this Agreement require specialized skills and abilities and that, 

consistent with this understanding, CONTRACTOR’s Services and Work shall be performed in a 

skillful and competent manner and shall be held to a standard of quality and workmanship 

prevalent in the industry for such Services and Work and with the standards recognized as being 

employed by professionals in the same discipline in the State of California.  CONTRACTOR 

represents and warrants that it is skilled in the professional discipline necessary to perform the 

Services and Work and that it holds the necessary skills and abilities to satisfy the standard of 

work as set forth in this Agreement. CONTRACTOR represents and warrants that it and all of its 

employees, subconsultants and subcontractors providing any Work or Services under this 

Agreement shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services and Work assigned 

to them.  All Services and Work shall be completed to the reasonable satisfaction of DISTRICT.  

The Proposal, the Request for Proposals, and this Agreement do not guarantee any specific 

amount of work. 

 

 2.2 Contract Documents.    The Agreement between the Parties shall consist of the 

following: (1) this Agreement; (2) CONTRACTOR’s Proposal submitted to DISTRICT; and the 

Scope of Work included in the Request for Proposals, which shall collectively be referred to 

collectively hereinafter as the “Contract Documents.” The CONTRACTOR’s Proposal is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of this 

Agreement. The Scope of Work included in the Request for Proposals is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “B” and is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement. All 

provisions of the Contract Documents shall be binding on the Parties.  Should any conflict or 

inconsistency exist in the Contract Documents, the conflict or inconsistency shall be resolved by 

applying the provisions in the highest priority document, which shall be determined in the 

following order of priority: (1st) the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (2nd) the 

provisions of the Consultant’s Proposal (Exhibit “A”); and (3rd) the provisions of Scope of 

Work.  

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 29 
     
1797771.1 

 2.3 Compliance with Law.  CONTRACTOR shall comply at all times during the term 

of this Agreement with all applicable laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations of the federal, 

state, and local government, including without limitation all applicable fair labor standards and 

Cal/OSHA requirements.  CONTRACTOR shall keep itself fully informed of and in compliance 

with all local, state, and federal laws, rules, and regulations in any manner affecting the 

performance of the Work and Services, including all Cal/OSHA requirements, and shall give all 

notices required by law. CONTRACTOR shall be liable for all violations of such laws and 

regulations in connection with performing the Work and Services. If CONTRACTOR performs 

any Work or Services in violation of such laws, rules, and regulations, CONTRACTOR shall be 

solely responsible for all penalties and costs arising therefrom.  CONTRACTOR shall defend, 

indemnify, and hold DISTRICT, its officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers, free 

and harmless from any claim or liability arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply 

with such laws, rules, or regulations. 

 

 2.4 Licenses, Permits, and Fees.  Prior to performing any Services or Work hereunder 

CONTRACTOR shall obtain all licenses, permits, qualifications, and approvals of whatever 

nature that are legally required to practice its profession and perform the Work and Services 

required by this Agreement. CONTRACTOR represents and warrants to DISTRICT that 

CONTRACTOR shall, at its sole cost and expense, keep in effect at all times during the term of 

this Agreement and any extension, any license, permit, qualification, or approval that is legally 

required for CONTRACTOR to perform the Work and Services under this Agreement.  

CONTRACTOR shall have the sole obligation to pay for any fees, assessments, and taxes, plus 

applicable penalties and interest, which may be imposed by law and arise from or are necessary 

for the CONTRACTOR’s performance of the Work and Services required by this Agreement, 

and shall defend, indemnify, and hold DISTRICT, its officials, officers, employees, agents and 

volunteers, free and harmless from and against any claim or liability arising out of any failure or 

alleged failure to obtain such license, permits, and approvals of whatever nature that are legally 

required to perform the Work or Services. 

 

 2.5 Familiarity with Work.  By executing this Agreement, CONTRACTOR warrants 

that: (1) it has thoroughly investigated and considered the Scope of Work or Services to be 

performed; (2) it has carefully considered how the Services should be performed and has 

carefully examined the location or locations at or with respect to where such Services or Work is 

to be performed and is aware of all conditions there; and (3) it understands the facilities, 

difficulties, and restrictions of attending performance of the Services under this Agreement.  If 

the Services involve work upon any site, CONTRACTOR represents and maintains that 

CONTRACTOR has or will investigate the site and is or will be fully acquainted with the 

conditions there existing, prior to commencement of any Services hereunder.  Should 

CONTRACTOR discover any latent or unknown conditions materially differing from those 

inherent in the Work or as represented by DISTRICT, it shall immediately inform DISTRICT of 

this and shall not proceed, except at CONTRACTOR's risk, until written instructions are 

received from DISTRICT. 

 

  

  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 30 
     
1797771.1 

2.6 Care of Work.  CONTRACTOR shall adopt reasonable methods during the term 

of the Agreement to furnish continuous protection to the Work and the equipment, materials, 

papers, documents, plans, studies, and/or other components thereof to prevent losses or damages, 

and shall be responsible for all such damages, to persons or property, until acceptance of the 

Work by DISTRICT, except such losses or damages as may be caused by DISTRICT’s own 

negligence. 

 

 2.7 Further Responsibilities of Parties.  Both Parties agree to use reasonable care and 

diligence to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement.  Both Parties agree to act 

in good faith to execute all instruments, prepare all documents, and take all actions as may be 

reasonably necessary to carry out the purposes of this Agreement. 

 

3. Compensation.   

 

3.1 Amount.  For the Services and Work rendered pursuant to this Agreement, 

CONTRACTOR shall be compensated by DISTRICT for each manhole inspected and each 

linear foot of sewer cleaned and inspected, as set forth in the Scope of Work (Exhibit “B”), at the 

unit prices set forth in the Price Proposal Form included within the Proposal (Exhibit “A”).  

CONTRACTOR acknowledges that the unit quantities set forth in the Request for Proposals are 

best estimates by DISTRICT and that the actual unit quantities may differ from those set forth in 

the Request for Proposals.  CONTRACTOR shall notify and obtain approval of DISTRICT prior 

to performing Services with respect to any item in excess of the estimated unit quantity for such 

item set forth in the Request for Proposals.  Upon receipt of written authorization from 

DISTRICT’s General Manager or his or her designee, CONTRACTOR agrees to provide 

Services at the unit prices set forth in the Proposal with respect to up to one hundred twenty 

percent (120%) of the unit quantity set forth in the Request for Proposals for any item.   

 

 3.2 Payment. For Work or Services under this Agreement, payment shall be made in 

arrears per invoice for Work completed, subject to the payment provisions set forth in the Scope 

of Work (Exhibit “B”).   

 

 3.3 Changes in Scope.  In the event any change or changes in the Scope of Services is 

requested by DISTRICT and agreed to by CONTRACTOR, the Parties shall execute a written 

amendment to this Agreement, setting forth with particularity all terms of such amendment, 

including, but not limited to, any additional fees. An amendment may be entered into: (a) to 

provide for revisions or modifications to documents or other work product or work when 

documents or other work product or work is required by the enactment or revision of law 

subsequent to the preparation of any documents, other work product, or work; and/or (b) to 

provide for additional services not included in this Agreement or not customarily furnished in 

accordance with generally accepted practice in CONTRACTOR’s profession. 

 

 3.4 Termination. DISTRICT shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, without 

cause, by giving thirty (30) days written notice of termination.  If the Agreement is terminated by 

DISTRICT, then the provisions of paragraph 3 would apply to that portion of the work 

completed. 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 31 
     
1797771.1 

 3.5 Appropriations.  This Agreement is subject to and contingent upon funds being 

appropriated therefore by the Midway City Sanitary District Board of Directors for each fiscal 

year covered by the term of this Agreement.  If such appropriations are not made, this Agreement 

shall automatically terminate without penalty to DISTRICT. 

 

4. Insurance requirements. 

 

 4.1 Commencement of Work.  CONTRACTOR shall not commence work under this 

Agreement until all certificates and endorsements have been received and approved by the 

DISTRICT. All insurance required by this Agreement shall contain a Statement of Obligation on 

the part of the carrier to notify the DISTRICT of any material change, cancellation, or 

termination at least thirty (30) days in advance. 

 

 4.2 Workers Compensation Insurance. During the duration of this Agreement, 

CONTRACTOR and all subcontractors shall maintain Workers Compensation Insurance in the 

amount and type required by law, if applicable. 

 

 4.3 Insurance Amounts.  CONTRACTOR and all subcontractors shall procure and 

maintain insurance acceptable to DISTRICT.  Unless otherwise agreed or waived in writing by 

DISTRICT’s General Manager, CONTRACTOR and all subcontractors shall maintain the 

following insurance for the duration of this Agreement: 

 

  (a) Commercial general liability in an amount of $2,000,000.00 per 

occurrence: claims made and modified occurrence policies are not acceptable; Insurance 

companies must be acceptable to DISTRICT and have a Best’s Guide Rating of A- Class VII or 

better, as approved by the DISTRICT. 

 

  (b) Automobile liability in an amount of $1,000,000.00 combined single limit: 

claims made and modified occurrence policies are not acceptable; Insurance companies must 

be acceptable to DISTRICT and have a Best’s Guide Rating of A- Class VII or better, as 

approved by the DISTRICT. 

 

An On-Going and Completed Operations Additional Insured Endorsement for the policy 

under section 4.3 (a) shall designate DISTRICT, its officers, officials, employees, agents, and 

volunteers as additional insureds for liability arising out of work or operations performed by or 

on behalf of the CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide to DISTRICT proof of 

insurance and endorsement forms that conform to DISTRICT’s requirements, as approved by the 

DISTRICT. 

 

An Additional Insured Endorsement for the policy under section 4.3 (b) shall designate 

DISTRICT, its officers, officials, employees, agents, and volunteers as additional insureds for 

automobiles, owned, leased, hired, or borrowed by the CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR shall 

provide to DISTRICT proof of insurance and endorsement forms that conform to DISTRICT’s 

requirements, as approved by the DISTRICT. 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 32 
     
1797771.1 

For any claims related to this Agreement, CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be 

primary insurance as respect to DISTRICT, its officers, officials, employees, agents, and 

volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the DISTRICT, its officers, officials, 

employees, agents, and volunteers shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR’s insurance and shall 

not contribute with it. 

 

If CONTRACTOR maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums shown above, 

CONTRACTOR shall provide coverage for the higher insurance limits otherwise maintained by 

the CONTRACTOR. 

 

5. Non-Liability of Officials and Employees of the District.  No official or employee of 

DISTRICT shall be personally liable to CONTRACTOR in the event of any default or breach by 

DISTRICT, or for any amount which may become due to CONTRACTOR. 

 

6. Conflict of Interest.  No officer or employee of the DISTRICT shall have any financial 

interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement nor shall any such officer or employee participate in 

any decision relating to the Agreement which effects his or her financial interest or the financial 

interest of any corporation, partnership, or association in which they are, directly or indirectly, 

interested in violation of any state statute or regulation.  CONTRACTOR represents and 

warrants that it has not paid or given and will not pay or give any third party any money or other 

consideration in exchange for obtaining this Agreement. 

 

7. Covenant Against Discrimination. In connection with its performance under this 

Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of race, disability, medical condition, religion, color, sex, sexual 

orientation, age, marital status, ancestry, or national origin. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that 

applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during their employment, without regard 

to their race, disability, medical condition, religion, color, sex, sexual orientation, age, marital 

status, ancestry, or national origin. Such actions shall include, but not be limited to, the 

following: employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; 

layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, 

including apprenticeship. 

 

8. Independent Contractor.   

 

 (a). The legal relationship between the Parties is that of an independent contractor, 

and nothing herein shall be deemed to make CONTRACTOR a DISTRICT employee.  During 

the performance of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR and its officers, employees, and agents 

shall act in an independent capacity and shall not act as DISTRICT officers or employees.  

CONTRACTOR will determine the means, methods and details of performing the Services 

subject to the requirements of this Agreement.  The personnel performing the Services under this 

Agreement on behalf of CONTRACTOR shall at all times be under CONTRACTOR’s exclusive 

direction and control.  Neither DISTRICT nor any of its officials, officers, employees, agents or 

volunteers shall have control over the conduct of CONTRACTOR or any of its officers, 

employees, or agents, except as set forth in this Agreement.  CONTRACTOR, its officers, 

employees or agents, shall not maintain a permanent office or fixed business location at 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 33 
     
1797771.1 

DISTICT’s offices.  DISTRICT shall have no voice in the selection, discharge, supervision, or 

control of CONTRACTOR’s officers, employees, representatives or agents or in fixing their 

number, compensation, or hours of service.  CONTRACTOR shall pay all wages, salaries, and 

other amounts due its employees in connection with the performance of Services under this 

Agreement and shall be responsible for all reports and obligations respecting them, including but 

not limited to social security income tax withholding, unemployment compensation, workers’ 

compensation, and other similar matters.  DISTRICT shall not in any way or for any purpose be 

deemed to be a partner of CONTRACTOR in its business or otherwise a joint venturer or a 

member of any joint enterprise with CONTRACTOR. 

 

 (b) CONTRACTOR shall not incur or have the power to incur any debt, obligation, 

or liability against DISTRICT, or bind DISTRICT in any manner. 

 

 (c) No DISTRICT benefits shall be available to CONTRACTOR, its officers, 

employees, or agents, in connection with the performance of any Work or Services under this 

Agreement.  Except for professional fees paid to CONTRACTOR as provided for in this 

Agreement, DISTRICT shall not pay salaries, wages, or other compensation to CONTRACTOR 

for the performance of any Work or Services under this Agreement.  DISTRICT shall not be 

liable for compensation or indemnification to CONTRACTOR, its officers, employees, or 

agents, for injury or sickness arising out of performing any Work or Services hereunder.  If for 

any reason any court or governmental agency determines that the DISTRICT has financial 

obligations, other than pursuant to Section 3 herein, of any nature relating to salary, taxes, or 

benefits of CONTRACTOR’s officers, employees, representatives, agents, or subconsultants or 

subcontractors, CONTRACTOR shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless DISTRICT from 

and against all such financial obligations. 

 

9. Notices.  All notices shall be personally delivered or mailed to the below listed address, 

or to such other addresses as may be designated by written notice, and shall be deemed received 

upon the earlier of (i) the date of delivery to the address of the person to receive such notice if 

delivered personally or by messenger or overnight courier; or (ii) five (5) business days after the 

date of posting by the United States Post Office if by mail.  These addresses shall be used for 

delivery of service of process. 

 

(CONTRACTOR)        

          

          

 

(DISTRICT)   Midway City Sanitary District  

    Attention: District Engineer  

    14451 Cedarwood Street  

    Westminster, CA 92863  

 

(WITH COPY TO)  Midway City Sanitary District  

    Attention: General Counsel  

    14451 Cedarwood Street  

    Westminster, CA 92863  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 34 
     
1797771.1 

   

10. Time of Essence; Liquidated Damages. Time is of the essence in the performance of this 

Agreement.  The Parties hereby agree that all Work with respect to the unit quantities set forth in 

the Request for Proposals is intended to be completed by no later than [DATE].  With respect to 

all Work with respect to unit quantities in excess of those set forth in the Request for Proposals, 

the Parties hereby agree that such Work is intended to be completed within the time period(s) set 

forth in the schedule contained in CONTRACTOR’s Proposal.   It is agreed by the Parties to the 

Agreement that in case all the work called for under this Agreement is not completed before or 

upon the expiration of the time limits set forth herein, damage will be sustained by the 

DISTRICT, and that it is and will be impracticable to determine the actual damage which the 

DISTRICT will sustain in the event of and by reason of such delay. It is therefore agreed that the 

CONTRACTOR will pay to the DISTRICT the sum of five hundred Dollars ($500) per calendar 

day for each and every day’s delay beyond the time prescribed to complete the Work; and the 

CONTRACTOR agrees to pay such liquidated damages as herein provided, and in case the same 

are not paid, agrees that the DISTRICT may deduct the amount thereof from any money due or 

that may become due the CONTRACTOR under this Agreement.  

 

It is further agreed that in case the work called for under this Agreement is not finished and 

completed in all parts and requirements within the time specified, the DISTRICT shall have the 

right to extend the time for completion or not, as may seem best to serve the interest of the 

DISTRICT; and if it decides to extend the time limit for the completion of this Agreement, it 

shall further have the right to charge the CONTRACTOR, his or her heirs, assigns, or sureties, 

and to deduct from the final payment for the work, all or any part, as it may deem proper, of the 

actual costs and overhead expenses which are directly chargeable to this Agreement, and which 

accrue during the period of such extensions. The CONTRACTOR shall not be assessed with 

liquidated damages during any delay in the completion of the Work caused by an act of God or 

of the public enemy, acts of the DISTRICT, fire, flood, epidemic, quarantine restriction, strikes, 

freight embargoes, and unusually severe weather or delays of subcontractors due to such causes; 

provided that the CONTRACTOR shall, within one (1) day from the beginning of such delay, 

notify the DISTRICT in writing of the causes of delay. The DISTRICT shall ascertain the facts 

and the extent of the delay, and its findings of the facts thereon shall be final and conclusive. 

 

11. Limitations Upon Subcontracting and Assignment.  The experience, knowledge, 

capability, and reputation of CONTRACTOR, its principals and employees were a substantial 

inducement for DISTRICT to enter into this Agreement.  CONTRACTOR shall not contract with 

any other entity to perform the services required without written approval of the DISTRICT. 

This Agreement may not be assigned voluntarily or by operation of law, without the prior written 

approval of DISTRICT. If CONTRACTOR is permitted to subcontract any part of this 

Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible to DISTRICT for the acts and omissions of its 

subcontractor as it is for persons directly employed.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall 

create any contractual relationship between any subcontractor and DISTRICT.  All persons 

engaged in the work will be considered employees of CONTRACTOR.  DISTRICT will deal 

directly with and will make all payments to CONTRACTOR. 

 

  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 35 
     
1797771.1 

12. Indemnification.  CONTRACTOR agrees to protect, defend, and hold harmless 

DISTRICT and its elective or appointive boards, officers, agents, and employees from any and 

all third party claims, liabilities, expenses, or damages of any nature, including attorneys' fees, 

for bodily injury or death of any person, or damage to property, or interference with use of 

property, to the extent caused by negligent acts, errors or omissions or willful misconduct by 

CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR's agents, officers, employees, subcontractors, or independent 

contractors hired by CONTRACTOR.  The exception to CONTRACTOR's responsibility to 

protect, defend, and hold harmless DISTRICT, is due to the active negligence of DISTRICT, or 

any of its elective or appointive boards, officers, agents, or employees. 

 

 This hold harmless agreement shall apply to all liability regardless of whether any 

insurance policies are applicable.  The policy limits do not act as a limitation upon the amount of 

indemnification to be provided by CONTRACTOR. 

 

13.  Bonds.  CONTRACTOR shall furnish the following bonds in a form and from a bonding 

company acceptable to the DISTRICT’s General Counsel:  

 

 (a)  Faithful Performance: A bond in the amount of 100% of the total contract price 

guaranteeing the faithful performance of this Agreement, and  

 

 (b)  Labor and Materials: A bond for labor and materials in the amount of 100% of the 

total contract price. 

 

14. Reports.   

 

 (a) Each and every report, draft, work product, map, record and other document, 

hereinafter collectively referred to as "Report", reproduced, prepared or caused to be prepared by 

CONTRACTOR pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement, shall be the exclusive 

properly of DISTRICT. CONTRACTOR shall not copyright any Report required by this 

Agreement and shall execute appropriate documents to assign to District the copyright to Reports 

created pursuant to this Agreement. Any Report, information and data acquired or required by 

this Agreement shall become the property of DISTRICT, and all publication rights are reserved 

to DISTRICT.  

 

 (b) All Reports prepared by CONTRACTOR may be used by DISTRICT in 

execution or implementation of:  

 

(1) The original Project for which CONTRACTOR was hired;  

 

(2) Completion of the original Project by others;  

 

(3) Subsequent additions to the original Project; and/or  

 

(4) Other DISTRICT projects as appropriate.  

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 36 
     
1797771.1 

 (c) No Report, information or other data given to or prepared or assembled by 

CONTRACTOR pursuant to this Agreement shall be made available to any individual or firm by 

CONTRACTOR without prior approval by District. 

 

15. Prevailing wages.  DISTRICT has determined that the Work and Services under this 

Agreement requires work of labor categories which are subject to Prevailing Wage Laws 

identified in the State of California Labor Code. CONTRACTOR is aware of the requirements of 

California Labor Code Section 1720, et seq., and 1770, et seq., as well as California Code of 

Regulations, Title 8, Section 16000, et seq., (“Prevailing Wage Laws”), which require the 

payment of prevailing wage rates and the performance of other requirements on “public works” 

and “maintenance” projects.  CONTRACTOR agrees to fully comply with all applicable federal 

and state labor laws (including, without limitation, the Prevailing Wage Laws). It is agreed by 

the Parties that, in connection with the Work or Services provided pursuant to this Agreement,  

CONTRACTOR shall bear all risks of payment or non-payment of prevailing wages under 

California law, and Consultant hereby agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold DISTRICT, its 

elected officials, officers, employees, and agents free and harmless from any claim or liability 

arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws. The 

foregoing indemnity shall survive termination of this Agreement CONTRACTOR understands 

and agrees to comply with the following California Labor Code compliance conditions [Labor 

Code Sections 1720 et seq., 1813, 1860, 1861, 3700]: 

  

 15.1 This Agreement is subject to the provisions of Division 2, Part 7, Chapter 1 

(commencing with Section 1720) of the California Labor Code relating to public works and the 

awarding public agency (“DISTRICT”) and CONTRACTOR agree to be bound by all the 

provisions thereof as though set forth in full herein. 

 

 15.2 CONTRACTOR shall be registered with the Department of Industrial Relations 

(“DIR”) in accordance with California Labor Code Section 1725.5 and has provided proof of 

registration to DISTRICT prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

 

 15.3 CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with the provisions of California Labor Code 

Sections 1771, 1774 and 1775 concerning the payment of prevailing rates of wages to workers 

and the penalties for failure to pay prevailing wages.  The applicable prevailing wage 

determination(s) may be obtained at https://www.dir.ca.gov/oprl/dprewagedetermination.htm, 

are on file with DISTRICT, and are available to any interested party upon request.  A copy of 

said rates shall be posted at each job site during the Term of this Agreement. 

 

 15.4 Pursuant to California Labor Code Section 1771.4, CONTRACTOR’s services 

are subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial Relations. 

CONTRACTOR shall post job site notices as prescribed by DIR regulations and furnish the 

records specified in California Labor Code Section 1776 directly to the Labor Commissioner in 

the manner prescribed by California Labor Code Section 1771.4(a)(3) and (c)(2). 

 

 15.5 CONTRACTOR shall comply with the provisions of California Labor Code 

Section 1776 which, among other things, require Contractor and each subcontractor to (1) keep 

accurate payroll records, (2) certify and make such payroll records available for inspection as 

https://www.dir.ca.gov/oprl/dprewagedetermination.htm


Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 37 
     
1797771.1 

provided by Section 1776, and (3) inform the DISTRICT of the location of the records. 

CONTRACTOR is responsible for compliance with Section 1776 by itself and all of its 

subcontractors. 

 

 15.6 CONTRACTOR shall comply with the provisions of California Labor Code 

Section 1777.5 concerning the employment of apprentices on public works projects, and further 

agrees that CONTRACTOR is responsible for compliance with Section 1777.5 by itself and all 

of its subcontractors. 

 

 15.7 Eight (8) hours of labor shall constitute a legal day’s work for all workmen 

employed in the execution of this Agreement, and CONTRACTOR and any subcontractor shall 

comply with and be governed by the laws of the State of California having to do with working 

hours set forth in Division 2, Part 7, Chapter 1, Article 3 of the California Labor Code. 

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the provisions of California Labor Code Section 1813 

concerning penalties for workers who work excess hours. CONTRACTOR shall, as a penalty to 

DISTRICT, forfeit twenty-five dollars ($25) for each worker employed in the execution of this 

Agreement by the CONTRACTOR or by any subcontractor for each calendar day during which 

such worker is required or permitted to work more than eight (8) hours in any one calendar day 

and forty (40) hours in any one calendar week in violation of the provisions of Division 2, Part 7, 

Chapter 1, Article 3 of the California Labor Code.  (See, e.g., Cal. Labor Code §1815.) 

 

 15.8 Pursuant to California Labor Code Sections 1860 and 3700, CONTRACTOR will 

be required to secure the payment of compensation to its employees.  By signing this Agreement, 

CONTRACTOR hereby certifies as follows: 

 

“I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor Code which 

require every employer to be insured against liability for workers’ 

compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the 

provisions of that code, and I will comply with such provisions before 

commencing the performance of the work of this Agreement.” 

 

 15.9 Pursuant to California Labor Code Section 1771.1, CONTRACTOR and any 

subcontractor shall not be qualified to bid on, be listed in a bid proposal, subject to the 

requirements of Section 4104 of the California Public Contract Code, or engage in the 

performance of any contract for public work on a public works project unless registered with the 

DIR and qualified to perform public work pursuant to California Labor Code Section 1725.2.  It 

is not a violation of California Labor Code Section 1771.1 for an unregistered contractor to 

submit a bid that is authorized by California Business and Professions Code Section 7029.1 or by 

California Public Contract Code Section 10164 or 20103.5, provided the contractor is registered 

to perform public work pursuant to Section 1725.5 at the time the contract is awarded.  

CONTRACTOR shall not perform any work under this Agreement with any subcontractor who 

is ineligible to perform work on the public works project pursuant to Section 1777.1 or 1777.7 of 

the California Labor Code. 

 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 38 
     
1797771.1 

16. Waiver.  No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless in 

writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of the Party against whom enforcement of 

a waiver is sought.  Any waiver by the Parties of any default or breach of any covenant, 

condition, or term contained in this Agreement, shall not be construed to be a waiver of any 

subsequent or other default or breach, nor shall failure by the Parties to require exact, full, and 

complete compliance with any of the covenants, conditions, or terms contained in this 

Agreement be construed as changing the terms of this Agreement in any manner or preventing 

the Parties from enforcing the full provisions hereof. 

  

17. Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  Except with respect to rights and remedies expressly 

declared to be exclusive in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative 

and the exercise by either Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not preclude the 

exercise by it, at the same or different times, of any other rights or remedies for the same default 

or any other default by the other Party. 

 

18. Legal Action.  In addition to any other rights or remedies, either Party may take legal 

action, in law or in equity, to cure, correct or remedy any default, to recover damages for any 

default, to compel specific performance of this Agreement, to obtain declaratory or injunctive 

relief, or to obtain any other remedy consistent with the purposes of this Agreement. 

 

19. California Law; Venue.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of California.  Any action commenced about this Agreement shall be filed in the 

central branch of the Orange County Superior Court. 

  

20. Interpretation.  This Agreement shall be construed as a whole according to its fair 

language and common meaning to achieve the objectives and purposes of the Parties.  The terms 

of this Agreement are contractual and the result of negotiation between the Parties. Accordingly, 

any rule of construction of contracts (including, without limitation, California Civil Code Section 

1654) that ambiguities are to be construed against the drafting party, shall not be employed in the 

interpretation of this Agreement.  The caption headings of the various sections and paragraphs of 

this Agreement are for convenience and identification purposes only and shall not be deemed to 

limit, expand, or define the contents of the respective sections or paragraphs. 

 

21. Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 

between the parties and supersedes any previous agreements, oral or written.  This Agreement 

may be modified only by subsequent mutual written agreement executed by DISTRICT and 

CONTRACTOR. 

  

22. Severability.  Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in 

such a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this 

Agreement shall be determined to be invalid by a final judgment or decree of a court of 

competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition 

or invalidity, without invalidating the reminder of that provision, or the remaining provisions of 

this Agreement unless the invalid provision is so material that its invalidity deprives either Party 

of the basic benefit of their bargain or renders this Agreement meaningless. 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 39 
     
1797771.1 

23. Corporate Authority.  Each of the undersigned represents and warrants that (i) the Party 

for which he/she is executing this Agreement is duly authorized and existing, (ii) he/she is duly 

authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of the Party for which he/she is 

signing, (iii) by so executing this Agreement, the Party for which he/she is signing is formally 

bound to the provisions of this Agreement, and (iv) the entering into this Agreement does not 

violate any provision of any other Agreement to which the Party for which he/she is signing is 

bound. 

 

24. Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all 

of which shall constitute the same Agreement, notwithstanding that all parties to this Agreement 

are not signatory to the same counterpart. Signature and acknowledgement pages may be 

detached from the counterparts and attached to a single copy of this Agreement to physically 

form one (1) original document.  These counterparts may be transmitted by facsimile or Portable 

Document Format (PDF), with the originals to be thereafter provided by the Parties.  Such 

facsimiles or electronic copies shall be deemed original signatures.   

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, these parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first 

written above. 

 

                        “DISTRICT” 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT,  

a public entity 

 

 

“CONTRACTOR” 

_____________________________________, 

a ____________________________________ 

 

By: _________________________________ 

       Robert Housley  

       General Manager 

 

 

By: ____________________________ 

 

Name: _________________________ 

 

Title: __________________________ 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

____________________________ 

General Counsel 

Midway City Sanitary District 

 

 

 

By: ____________________________ 

 

Name: _________________________ 

 

Title: __________________________ 

 

 Tax ID No. ______________________ 

 

 If CONTRACTOR is a corporation, a  

Corporate Resolution and/or Corporate Seal is 

required.  If a partnership, Statement of 

Partnership must be submitted to District. 

 

  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 40 
     
1797771.1 

EXHIBIT “A” TO AGREEMENT 

CONTRACTOR’S PROPOSAL 

  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 41 
     
1797771.1 

EXHIBIT “B” TO AGREEMENT 

SCOPE OF WORK  



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023       Page 42 
     
1797771.1 

EXHIBIT C - PRICE PROPOSAL FORM 

 
2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO INSPECTION AND CLEANING PROJECT  

 

 

 

 

Total Amount For All Items in Numerals (Assuming Stated Unit Quantities): $__________________ 

 

 

Total Amount for All Items in Words (Assuming Stated Unit Quantities): ______________________ 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________    

Note: The Unit Quantities set forth above are best estimates; the actual Unit Quantities may differ.  

Payment will be based on the Unit Prices for actual linear feet of sewer mains cleaned and inspected 

and the actual number of manholes inspected.   

 

CONTRACTOR shall notify and obtain approval of DISTRICT prior to performing Services with 

respect to any Item in excess of the estimated Unit Quantity for such Item.  Upon receipt of written 

authorization from DISTRICT’s General Manager or his or her designee, CONTRACTOR agrees 

to provide Services at the Unit Prices set forth above with respect to up to one hundred twenty 

percent (120%) of the Unit Quantity set forth above for any Item. 

 

Item 

No.  
Description Units  

Estimated 

Quantity  
Unit Price  

Total Estimated 

Item Price 

1 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 

all 8-inch gravity sewer mains 
LF 857,031 $ $ 

2 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 

all 10-inch gravity sewer mains 
LF 31,289 $ $ 

3 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 

all 12-inch gravity sewer mains 
LF 14,390 $ $ 

4 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 

all 15-inch gravity sewer mains 
LF 4,554 $ $ 

5 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 

all 18-inch gravity sewer mains 
LF 6,986 $ $ 

6 
Inspection of all District’s manholes 

(all sizes and types) 
EA 3,001 $ $ 



Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 

ADDENDUM 1  

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

 

2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO INSPECTION AND 

CLEANING PROJECT 

 

December 5, 2023 
 

 

Please see the followings: 

 

1. It is the sole responsibility of the contractor to find out if there is any cost associated 

with proper dumping of sewer sediments and debris. The contractor will be responsible 

for this cost.  

 

2. It is the sole responsibility of the contractor to find out about any cost associated with 

any permits required for this project. The contractor will be responsible for this cost.  

 

3. Sewer line and manhole location map will be provided only by email request to the 

district. The GIS map will be ready sometime in January 2024.  

 

4. MCSD requires level 2 inspection for all manholes.  

 

5. If you have more than 1 type of sample report, please include up to 3 sample reports in 

your proposal. The sample reports could be from different NASSCO approved software 

applications.  



Page 2 of 2 
 

 

6. If you have more than 1 type of camera, please include up to 3 sample video pictures 

from different cameras in your proposal. The thumb drive shall become the property of 

the district.  

 

7. Please include a digital copy of your proposal with your hard copy of your proposal in a 

thumb drive. The thumb drive shall become the property of the district.  



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

1 | P a g e     

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL  

FOR 

Midway City Sanitary District 
 Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections  

 
 

Provided By: 

 
 

 

Provided For: 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY SEWER DISTRICT  
 Milo Ebrahimi P.E. District Engineer 

Midway City Sanitary Sewer District  
14454  

Cedarwood Street Westminster CA 92683 
(714) 893-3553  

 

 
 
 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

2 | P a g e     

Letter of Intent 
 

 
 

Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment Inc. 
1788 N. Neville St. Orange CA. 92865 

Office: (714) 639-8352     Fax: (714) 283-8578 
www.empirepipecleaning.com 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
December 5, 2023 
 
 
Milo Ebrahimi, P.E., District Engineer 
Midway City Sanitary District 
14451 Cedarwood Street 
Westminster, CA 92683 
 
Subject: EPCE Letter of Intent for Bid (RFP) for 2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO 
INSPECTION AND CLEANING 
 
Dear Milo: 
 
Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment Inc. (EPCE) is delighted to express our earnest intent to 
participate in the bidding process for the aforementioned project. We firmly believe that EPCE 
would be an invaluable partner and contractor for the Midway City Sanitary District (MCSD), 
uniquely positioned to deliver exceptional results for this project. 
 
EPCE commits to providing a comprehensive suite of services, encompassing sewer main cleaning 
and sewer and manhole video inspection with detailed reporting. We believe our partnership 
with MCSD would be advantageous for the following reasons: 
 
Local Expertise 
Having previously worked in the Midway City Sanitary District and neighboring cities, we possess firsthand 
knowledge of the local environment and have successfully completed city-wide cleaning and CCTV 
inspections. 
 
Extensive Experience 
With a legacy dating back to 1975, EPCE has been consistently providing sewer-related services to cities, 
municipalities, water and sanitation districts, contractors, engineering firms, and agencies. 
Our experienced staff has over 18 years of experience in providing CCTV inspections for SSMP 
development. We have successfully executed numerous cleaning and CCTV inspection projects for AKM 
Consulting Engineers, one of your SSMP engineering service providers. 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

3 | P a g e     

 
Certifications and Compliance 
Our CCTV operators hold certifications in NASSCO PACP, MACP, and LACP, ensuring the highest 
standards of competence and compliance. EPCE is also a certified small business contractor with 
C36 plumbing and C42 Sanitation Systems licenses, boasting a track record of completing projects 
on time. 
 
Safety 
Our team understands the intricate details and requirements to perform the work safely, 
efficiently, and within the specified timeline. 
 
Equipment 
The synergy of experienced staff and state-of-the-art equipment positions EPCE to consistently 
deliver high-quality services to our customers. 
 
Project Readiness 
EPCE has dedicated crews and equipment prepared to initiate work on this project promptly, 
ensuring minimal delays. EPCE's facilities and equipment are conveniently situated in Orange 
County, providing the capability for 24-hour emergency services. Our main point of contact, Craig 
Van Thyne, Vice President, and Owner is responsible for all negotiations and contractual 
agreements. You can reach us at our 24-hour number, (714) 639-8352. 
 
We eagerly anticipate the opportunity to collaborate with MCSD on this project and are available 
to provide any additional details as needed. Thank you for considering EPCE as a potential 
partner. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Craig Van Thyne    
Vice-President 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

4 | P a g e     

Summary 
 

The Midway City Sanitary District is in search of a highly qualified team capable of providing labor, 
materials, and equipment for Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections. Empire Pipe 
Cleaning & Equipment, Inc (EPCE) stands out as a proven and experienced candidate, well-equipped to 
undertake all aspects outlined in the scope of work within the specified timeline of the RFP. 

Based in Orange, CA, EPCE is strategically located and well-acquainted with the City of Westminster and 
the jurisdictions covered by the Midway City Sanitary District (MCSD). Having successfully completed a 
comparable project for MCSD and several projects for the nearby Garden Grove Sanitary District, we bring 
a wealth of local expertise to this endeavor. For prompt communication and support, our 24-hour contact 
number is 714-639-8352.  

EPCE specializes in collection system cleaning, CCTV Inspections, and Manhole Inspections, employing 
cutting-edge equipment and technology. Our services encompass cleaning and video inspections of sewer 
and storm drain systems, smoke testing, hydro-excavation, and comprehensive manhole inspections, 
including 3D scanning. Proficient in Arc View ESRI, we can seamlessly work with provided shape files and 
incorporate updates for any encountered field changes. 

Presently, our workforce includes 5 full-time office staff and 16 full-time field crews. Our collaboration 
with professionally registered engineers enhances our capabilities, providing valuable condition 
assessments for sewer lines to support the City’s Capital Improvement projects. Notably, we have a 
successful history of working with AKM Consulting Engineers, who are currently offering support for the 
SSMP project for MCSD. 

EPCE has been providing sewer and storm drain maintenance services since 1975. We understand 
the project as outlined in the RFP to include the following. 

1. Cleaning and CCTV Inspections of 857,031 LF of 8” gravity sewer mains 
2. Cleaning and CCTV Inspections of 31,829 LF of 10” gravity sewer mains 
3. Cleaning and CCTV Inspections of 14,390 LF of 12” gravity sewer mains 
4. Cleaning and CCTV Inspections of 4554 LF of 15” gravity sewer mains 
5. Cleaning and CCTV Inspections of 6986 LF of 18” gravity sewer mains 
6. Inspection of District’s 3001 manholes 

 

We have received and acknowledge Addendum No. 1 Dated December 5, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

5 | P a g e     

Table of Contents 
Letter of Intent .............................................................................................................................................. 2 

Summary ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Section A ....................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Approach .................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Section B ....................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Description of Firm, Management, and Team Members ......................................................................... 6 

Section C ....................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Qualifications ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

Section D ..................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Scope of Work ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

Equipment .......................................................................................................................................... 11 

Sewer Mainline Cleaning .................................................................................................................... 12 

Cleaning Procedures ........................................................................................................................... 13 

Schedule ............................................................................................................................................. 14 

Water .................................................................................................................................................. 14 

CCTV Inspection Procedures .............................................................................................................. 14 

GIS Data Integration and Mapping ..................................................................................................... 16 

Manhole Inspections .............................................................................................................................. 16 

Safety ...................................................................................................................................................... 17 

Traffic Control ......................................................................................................................................... 17 

Section E ...................................................................................................................................................... 18 

Proposed Schedule ................................................................................................................................. 18 

Proposed Schedule Map ......................................................................................................................... 19 

Section F ...................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Proposed Pricing ..................................................................................................................................... 20 

Section G ..................................................................................................................................................... 21 

References, Related Experience and Examples of Work ........................................................................ 21 

Project Rolls ................................................................................................................................................ 23 

Section H ..................................................................................................................................................... 23 

Sample Cleaning Report ......................................................................................................................... 23 

Sample CCTV Inspection Report ............................................................................................................. 24 

Sample Manhole Inspection Report ....................................................................................................... 26 

Addendum 1 ................................................................................................................................................ 29 

Contact Information .................................................................................................................................... 31 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

6 | P a g e     

 

Section A 

Approach 
 

We possess a comprehensive understanding of the specifications and workforce necessary for 
executing the services delineated in the RFP. Having previously delivered these services to MCSD, 
our crews and management are familiar with the intricacies of the sewer system, providing 
invaluable insights for effective project planning. Our track record includes the successful 
completion of numerous projects of similar scale, facilitating meticulous planning and task 
scheduling. The accumulated knowledge and experience we bring to the table stand as a 
significant advantage for MCSD. 

Given our role as a service provider for various municipal governments and Sanitary Districts, we 
have actively assisted them in optimizing their maintenance programs, resulting in a substantial 
reduction in SSO occurrences. Our extensive data repository enables us to concentrate efforts on 
problematic areas and devise sustainable solutions for their ongoing maintenance. The data and 
reports produced through our integrated system will provide invaluable assistance to MCSD in 
evaluating the condition of their sewer lines and manholes. This comprehensive information will 
empower the district to make informed decisions regarding maintenance priorities, budget 
allocations, and long-term infrastructure planning. 

Empire Pipe Cleaning is committed to executing all project tasks exclusively with our in-house 
employees and company-owned equipment. The equipment selected for this project 
incorporates the latest technology, ensuring optimal performance and delivering the highest-
quality results for MCSD's condition assessment of their sewer system. Importantly, we affirm 
that none of the services for this project will be subcontracted, underlining our dedication to 
maintaining control over the entire process and upholding the standards of excellence that MCSD 
expects.  We have outlined our detailed process in Section D – Scope of Work. 

 

Section B 

Description of Firm, Management, and Team Members 
 

Empire Pipe Cleaning boasts a highly skilled and diverse team dedicated to successfully managing 
and delivering top-notch inspections within the stipulated deadlines. Key personnel overseeing 
various aspects of the project include: 

 

 Craig Van Thyne – Vice President / General Manager 
o Responsibilities: Overseeing general operations, contract compliance, field, and 

office operations 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

7 | P a g e     

o Mr. Van Thyne, also co-owner of Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment, Inc., 
manages day-to-day operations and holds financial control of the company. 

 Dan Jacobson – Project Manager 
o Responsibilities: Project point of contact, managing job-specific details, field 

coordination, establish project milestones and goals, Quality control of field data, 
GIS mapping, reporting, contract compliance and Prepare deliverables and reports 
for invoicing. 

 Diana Guillen 
o Responsibilities: Tracking production and scheduling, managing the status of 

daily reports, invoicing, water meter accounts, and overseeing the final 
deliverables. 

 Manny Garcia – Field superintendent 
o Responsibilities: Overseeing field operations and crews, scheduling, ensuring 

smooth and efficient execution. 

This dedicated team, under the leadership of Mr. Van Thyne, is well-equipped to handle the 
intricacies of the project, combining expertise in project management, field operations, data 
management, and financial control. 

This Project will have no subcontractors and all work shall be completed with employees and 
equipment owned by EPCE and is solely being submitted by EPCE.  EPCE is licensed and is 
authorized to do business in the State of California, Orange County, and City of Westminster. 
Contact information for EPCE as follows:  

 

Craig Van Thyne, Vice President 
Contractor’s License 363528 
Contractor’s License C36 and C42 
California State Corporation No CO745801 

 

Empire Pipe Cleaning and Equipment Inc. 
1788 N. Neville St. Orange CA. 92865 
Office: (714) 639-8352     Fax: (714) 283-8578 
www.empirepipecleaning.com 
 
 
        
 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

8 | P a g e     

  

Section C 

Qualifications 
 

Empire Pipe Cleaning has been a trusted provider of sewer maintenance services in 
Southern California since 1974. With our headquarters located in Orange, CA, we have 
established a solid presence that extends from San Diego to the San Francisco Bay area. Our 
central location strategically positions us to efficiently serve Los Angeles, Orange, Riverside, and 
San Bernardino counties, with Midway City falling within our primary sphere of influence. This 
proximity allows us to offer prompt and responsive services when required. 

Over the past five years, EPCE has successfully executed services for various clients, contributing 
to our extensive portfolio of significant projects. The following highlights some of our most 
noteworthy endeavors: 

 CCTV Inspection for the Midway City Sanitary District – System cleaning and development 
of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of 750,000 feet of gravity system in 
accordance with NASSCO PACP standards as part of the District’s Sewer Master Plan.  2003-
2005 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the City of Santa Clarita, 
Palmdale, and Lake Isabela – System Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and 
development of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of approximately 460,000 
Lineal Feet in accordance with NASSCO PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County 
Annual Services agreement. FY2018-2019 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the City of Santa Clarita, 
Palmdale – System Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and development of 
inspection reports, recordings, and databases of approximately 370,000 Lineal Feet in 
accordance with NASSCO PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County Annual Services 
agreement. FY2019-2020 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the City of Santa Clarita – 
System Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and development of inspection 
reports, recordings, and databases of approximately 460,000 Lineal Feet in accordance with 
NASSCO PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County Annual Services agreement. 
FY2019-2020 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the City of Rancho Palos 
Verdes – System Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and development of 
inspection reports, recordings, and databases of approximately 255,000 Lineal Feet in 
accordance with NASSCO PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County Annual Services 
agreement. FY2020-2021 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the Unincorporated of Los 
Angeles County near Commerce – System Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

9 | P a g e     

and development of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of approximately 460,000 
Lineal Feet in accordance with NASSCO PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County 
Annual Services agreement. FY2020-2021 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the Commerce – System 
Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and development of inspection reports, 
recordings, and databases of approximately 460,000 Lineal Feet in accordance with NASSCO 
PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County Annual Services agreement. FY2021-2022 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the Altadena – System 
Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and development of inspection reports, 
recordings, and databases of approximately 482,000 Lineal Feet in accordance with NASSCO 
PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County Annual Services agreement. FY2022-2023 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the Hacienda Heights – 
System Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and development of inspection 
reports, recordings, and databases of approximately 560,000 Lineal Feet in accordance with 
NASSCO PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County Annual Services agreement. 
FY2022-2023 

 Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, and Manhole Depth Validation for the Baldwin Park – System 
Cleaning, CCTV Inspection, Manhole Invert Depths and development of inspection reports, 
recordings, and databases of approximately 401,000 Lineal Feet in accordance with NASSCO 
PACP standards as part of the Los Angeles County Annual Services agreement. FY2023-2024 

 CCTV Inspection and Manhole Inspection for the City of Hermosa Beach – System cleaning, 
CCTV inspection, and development of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of 
approximately 200,000 Lineal Feet in accordance with NASSCO PACP/MACP standards as part 
of the City’s Sewer Master Plan 2016-Ongoing 

 CCTV Inspection and Manhole Inspection for the City of La Palma – System cleaning, CCTV 
inspection, Manhole Inspections, and reporting approximately 180,000 Lineal Feet and 
associated Manholes in accordance with NASSCO PACP/MACP standards as part of the City’s 
Sewer Master Plan 2015 to Ongoing. 

 Manhole Inspections for City of Norwalk– Manhole Inspections including reports and 
electronic files in accordance with NASSCO MACP/ Level 2 for 300 Manholes as part of the 
City’s Sewer Master Plan. 2018 

 CCTV Inspection for City of Stanton – System cleaning and development of inspection 
reports, recordings, and databases of 300,000 feet of gravity system in accordance with 
NASSCO PACP standards as part of the City’s Sewer Master Plan.  2016 to 2023 

 Manhole Inspections for East Orange County Water District – Manhole Inspections including 
reports and electronic files in accordance with NASSCO MACP for 500 Manholes as part of 
the City’s Sewer Master Plan. 2017/2018 

 CCTV Inspection for Condition Assessment for the City of Redondo Beach – System cleaning, 
CCTV inspection, and development of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

10 | P a g e     

approximately 600,000 Lineal Feet gravity sewers in accordance with NASSCO PACP standards 
as part of the City’s Sewer Master Plan.  2013-2014 

 CCTV Inspection for the City of Cerritos– System cleaning and development of inspection 
reports, recordings, and databases of 250,000 feet of gravity system in accordance with 
NASSCO PACP standards as part of the City’s annual maintenance program.  1995-Ongoing  

 CCTV Inspection and manhole inspections for the City of Norwalk– System cleaning and 
development of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of 475,000 feet of gravity 
system in accordance with NASSCO PACP standards as part of the City’s maintenance 
program.  1994 to 2021 

 CCTV Inspection for the Rossmoor/Los Alamitos Area Sewer District– System cleaning and 
development of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of 350,000 feet of gravity 
system in accordance with NASSCO PACP standards as part of the District’s Sewer Master 
Plan.  1991 to Ongoing. 

 CCTV Inspection for the Garden Grove Sanitary District– Phase I & II System cleaning, CCTV 
inspection, and development of inspection reports, recordings, and databases of each phase is 
approximately 450,000 feet of gravity sewers in accordance with NASSCO PACP standards in 
three phases as part of the District’s Sewer System Rehabilitation Plan 2017-2022 

 CCTV Inspection for City of Dana Point Storm Drain System – Engineered condition assessment 
of the pipe segments with a grade 4 or 5 structural rating and 3, 4, or 5 maintenance ratings.  
As we inspect the system, we are updating the GIS database and asset information.   2021- 
Ongoing 

 

Currently, our operational capacity is at full strength, with both our office and field crews fully 
staffed. Notably, we pride ourselves on being the sole company that maintains 2-man crews in 
our trucks. Each of our trucks is equipped with two well-trained, full-time crew members, offering 
us the flexibility to swiftly add additional equipment on the road while ensuring that each truck 
is manned by highly skilled personnel. 

Our current workload is robust, featuring several long-term projects that are expected to utilize 
only 30% of our crews to meet contractual obligations. For the upcoming project, we anticipate 
needing 35% of our CCTV crews and only 20% of our cleaning crews to fulfill contractual 
projections, reflecting our strategic allocation of resources. 

Looking ahead, we are sitting in a good position to start this contract in January, which will not 
impact on our current future booked business. 

To ensure efficient project management, 20% of our office staff's time will be dedicated 
exclusively to this project. This allocation is deemed more than sufficient to fulfill all 
administrative roles associated with the project, demonstrating our commitment to maintaining 
a high level of attention and focus on the successful execution of this endeavor. 

 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

11 | P a g e     

Section D 

 Scope of Work 
 

EPCE is set to conduct comprehensive CCTV video inspections of sewer mains and manholes, 
along with cleaning services exclusive to the district sewer system. The anticipated scope of the 
project encompasses approximately 174 miles of CCTV video inspection and cleaning, in 
addition to inspecting 3001 manholes. NASSCO PACP and MACP standards will serve as the 
benchmarks for the CCTV inspection of sewers and manholes, ensuring a rigorous and 
standardized assessment. 

Equipment 
 

Our fleet's advanced capabilities and adherence to 
environmental regulations showcase EPCE's commitment to 
delivering high-quality services while minimizing our 
ecological footprint. These investments in cutting-edge 
technology and eco-friendly practices ensure that we can 
provide efficient and environmentally responsible solutions 
for the Midway City Sanitary District project. 

 

 

2-Recycle Combination Trucks Manufactured by Bucher.  These trucks use 90% recycled water 
from the collection system to clean the pipes.  

 This Truck is ideal for all sizes of sewer pipes and can operate up to 125 GPM at 2500 PSI / 
1.25” diameter Hose 

 2 - Combination Trucks- manufactured by Vactor for 
safety, reliability, and productivity.  

 The Vactor Trucks provide up to 80 GPM at 
2500 PSI, up to 800' of 1" sewer cleaning 
hose and a 3-stage fan or D.P. vacuum 
system.    

 
 
 
 
 

1 -Specialty Easement Cleaning truck with 1200' of cleaning capability- Sewer cleaning hose 
capability of 1200'/80 GPM/1” diameter hose/2000psi. It is ideal for easement type cleaning 
and difficult to reach areas. 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

12 | P a g e     

5 -Fully Operational and Self-Sufficient CCTV Trucks- CCTV Inspection trucks are equipped with 
Ibak, RST, and Envirosight inspection systems.  Software collection utilizes POSM, Granite, or 
WinCan.  We will utilize POSM for this project.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Sewer Mainline Cleaning 
EPCE is committed to employing cutting-edge technology for effective sewer cleaning within the 
Midway City Sanitary District. Our approach involves utilizing high-pressure water jetting 
equipment alongside powerful vacuum systems to efficiently remove debris, sediment, and any 
accumulated material within the small diameter sewers. This ensures a thorough cleaning 
process that adheres to the highest industry standards.  

EPCE takes pride in utilizing two-man crews for both cleaning and inspection trucks, allowing for 
seamless coordination and efficient task execution. This approach not only enhances operational 
flexibility but also ensures that our highly trained crew members can collaborate effectively to 
deliver optimal results. 

In preparation for CCTV inspections, EPCE employs trucks equipped with advanced technology, 
adhering to NASSCO PACP and MACP standards. This guarantees that our cleaning process not 
only removes debris and sediment but also prepares the sewer lines to meet the rigorous 
requirements for subsequent inspections. 

Our commitment to employing high-pressure water jetting, advanced cleaning tools, and 
NASSCO standards reflects EPCE's dedication to 
providing comprehensive and effective sewer 
cleaning services for the Midway City Sanitary 
District.   

EPCE's commitment to environmentally 
responsible sewer cleaning is evident through our 
recycle trucks, designed to clean sewer lines while 
simultaneously filtering and reusing water from the 
sewer for debris removal. This sustainable 
approach minimizes water consumption and 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

13 | P a g e     

supports eco-friendly practices. Cleaning trucks have a Warthog Spinning Nozzle, Hydraulic root 
saw, Nozzles with various angled jets, and penetrating 
nozzles at a minimum.  The scouring action and angle of the 
nozzles are optimized based on the size and type of pipe, as 
well as the nature of the materials being removed. This 
ensures an efficient and tailored cleaning process.  

The specifications emphasize that roots should not be 
intentionally removed to allow for an accurate assessment of 
their conditions within the pipe. However, as part of our 
standard cleaning process, EPCE may remove some roots to 
facilitate a high-quality CCTV inspection. This approach is 
aimed at ensuring thorough and effective inspection 
outcomes.  

Any roots encountered during the CCTV inspections will be 
identified and reported to the Midway City Sanitary District 
(MCSD). This transparent reporting allows for a comprehensive 
understanding of the root conditions within the sewer system, aiding in informed decision-
making and future maintenance planning. 

To enhance operational efficiency and prevent potential challenges, proper skids will be utilized 
on all cleaning trucks. These skids serve as a proactive measure to minimize the risk of getting 
stuck during the cleaning process, ensuring smooth and effective operations in the field. 

 

Cleaning Procedures 

 
EPCE will clean the sewer segments from the downstream manhole and ensure that the nozzle 
has reached the upstream manhole before pulling the nozzle back to the downstream manhole 
until the entire length of the sewer has been cleaned.  The crews will verify the entire line has 
been cleaned and record observations and conditions of the pipe. Pull back rate shall not exceed 
40 feet per minute. Any debris or solids will be vacuumed at the downstream manhole and shall 
not be passed downstream. Any manholes not accessible will be noted on the cleaning reports.  
These lines will be cleaned from the adjacent upstream or downstream manholes. The number 
of passes will be dictated by the amount and type of debris.  Standard maintenance is typically 
1-2 passes per the Green Book Standards. Precautions will be taken using appropriate nozzles 
and pressure to avoid damage or flooding of public or private property. 

Liquids will be decanted into the collection system downstream of the segments being cleaned. 
All debris collected from the cleaning operations will be disposed of at OCSD or an approved site.   
Lengths will be measured from center of manhole and recorded on the cleaning log.    Any 
manhole defects will be noted on the cleaning log.    
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

14 | P a g e     

Combination trucks utilize water jet and vacuum technologies to remove grit, loose solids, debris, 
and grease to properly clean the pipe and prepare for the CCTV Inspection.  Encrusted hard spots 
such as calcium and cast- iron scale will not be removed as part of this project.  When 
encountered, CCTV operators will note these areas in the NASSCO PACP defect report for MCSD 
review.  EPCE can offer solutions to remove these hard spots as an optional service at additional 
cost. 
 
The cleaning crew will document the cleaning process and a cleaning log will be generated in the 
GIS database. The database will produce a cleaning report and a map of the segments cleaned 
for each invoice. Typical fields that are collected in the 
cleaning report include date, map page, street name, 
upstream manhole number, downstream manhole 
number, length, operator name, truck number, debris 
type with volume, condition of manhole and comments if 
needed. “Red Flag” conditions will be immediately 
reported to the City Staff.  A Master Sewer Atlas is 
marked at the office to show the status of the cleaning 
project. Electronic copies will be sent with the summary 
invoice at the end of the month.  
 

Schedule 
Our standard work hours for the Midway City Sanitary District project are scheduled from 7:00 am to 3:30 
pm, Monday through Friday. However, recognizing the importance of minimizing disruptions in areas with 
heavy traffic flow, adjustments will be made as needed to accommodate these conditions. This flexibility 
ensures efficient work operations while considering the impact on the community. 

To keep the district’s staff and residents informed and up to date, EPCE is committed to providing a two-
week look ahead schedule. This proactive communication approach allows for planning and awareness of 
scheduled activities, as well as any potential adjustments. In instances of unforeseen special events or 
emergencies, our crews will be redirected as necessary to address the situation promptly and effectively. 

Water 
EPCE will obtain a temporary water meter and permit from the City of Westminster and/or 
County of Orange if required or make necessary water provisions for this Project.  We will not 
use any property owner's water for sewer cleaning.   All cleaning trucks have an air gap 
eliminating the possibility of cross contamination or the water system.  The recycle truck will only 
need to fill with water 1-2 times per day.  The recycling truck vacuums water from the collection 
system while cleaning and processes the water through multiple onboard filters so it can be re-
used.  This system can reduce water consumption by 80% compared to conventional combination 
trucks.  
 

CCTV Inspection Procedures  
EPCE will use POSM Software for this project which is NASSCO PACP/MACP/LACP certified.  CCTV 
inspection trucks also contain Cues GNet and WinCan if desired.  All the CCTV Operators are 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

15 | P a g e     

NASSCO PACP, LACP and MACP certified.  Sewer main video inspection will utilize the District’s 
GIS to prepopulate the session data.  This data will include Pipe ID and Manhole IDs for each 
section of pipe.  Pipe data will be verified in the field and any differences will be reported in our 
field reports. The location of all laterals and defects, as defined in the PACP guidelines, be 
documented.  The recorded digital video files will include computer generated audio 
documenting any observations or defects.  Computer generated reports for the inspections will 
be supplied on a hard drive-in pdf format.  Paper reports are available if requested. 
 
High resolution pan and tilt cameras will be used for this project.  The NASSCO PACP database, 
digital video and photographs, and reports are recorded on a removable hard and backed up 
daily. Flow control if needed will be used if flows in pipes exceed 25%.  Adequate lighting and 
resolution will be provided for a clear picture of the inspection. The pan and tilt camera will 
pause, pan, and visually inspect all service connections, maintenance or structural defects, and 
all connections and end nodes. 
 
The initial screen overlay and running screen overlay requirements outlined in the scope of work 
is acceptable and the software allows for any further modifications. 
 
The recommended direction for CCTV inspection is to commence from the upstream manhole 
and progress downstream. Before initiating the inspection, a comprehensive overview of the 
manhole will be conducted, including a photograph taken from the top. Upon camera insertion, 
a thorough pan of both the incoming and outgoing sewer lines will be performed. The camera's 
movement speed shall not surpass 30 feet per minute, ensuring a controlled and detailed 
examination of the sewer line. The camera will traverse the line at a moderate pace, pausing 
when necessary to facilitate proper documentation of the sewer line's condition. This includes 
capturing details of the manhole, lateral wyes, and lateral locations. 
In the event of a line blockage where the CCTV camera is unable to pass a reach of pipe between 
two manholes, EPCE will move the camera to the downstream manhole and continue inspecting 
the reach in an upstream direction. If again the camera fails to pass the entire reach, the 
inspection of this reach shall be considered complete and flagged.  EPCE will notify the City and 
the Engineer’s immediately of “Red Flag” conditions. Any other major defects such as holes in 
pipe, utility issues, or collapsed pipe will be immediately reported to the district. 

If undocumented manholes are encountered, it shall be labeled with the Asset ID – upstream 
manhole – A, B, C and a new inspection will be initiated, and these segments will be reported in 
our field reporting tool and the district engineer will be notified. 

Inspection will be completed per NASSCO PACP standards.  All CCTV operators and management 
staff hold PACP, LACP and MACP certifications.  Inspections will be completed as continuous 
recordings. All assessments will be imbedded into the video making it a permanent document.  
Recording will be in MPEG 4 and with a compression rate of 1.5 Mb/s and a minimum resolution 
of 352 x 240 and 24 frames per second. Pictures will be in the JPEG format.    

 
            



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

16 | P a g e     

GIS Data Integration and Mapping 
EPCE leverages the ESRI GIS Pro Platform to 
effectively monitor job progress and capture 
field data. By utilizing the city-supplied File 
Geodatabase for the project, our CCTV 
Inspection Trucks can seamlessly integrate 
this data, ensuring consistent and accurate 
data entry. Our field collection tool, operating 
on this cloud-based GIS platform, facilitates 
real-time monitoring of cleaning and CCTV 
inspection progress. 

Incorporating 
this software enables EPCE to generate visual reports 
summarizing the completed CCTV, Manhole Inspections, 
and cleaning services. The GIS-based field collection tool 
plays a pivotal role in our performance tracking. Crews 
responsible for cleaning and inspections can effortlessly 
upload daily operation details, including notes and 
photographs of any noteworthy observations, directly into 
the database. Operators perform live data uploads in the 
field, contributing to a dynamic and up-to-date information 
repository. 

This data, systematically entered, serves as the foundation 
for generating comprehensive reports, invoices, and graphic 
maps that vividly display our findings. The synergy between 

the ESRI GIS Pro Platform and our cloud-based field collection 
tool enhances efficiency, accuracy, and transparency in our 
operations, ultimately benefiting the overall project outcomes. 

Manhole Inspections 
EPCE has performed thousands of manhole inspections using 
conventional pole camera technology.  We have available 3D Manhole 
Scanning with Envirosight CleverScan Technology that delivers a high-
resolution flat scan for 3D visualization. The resulting 3D image can be 
reviewed using NASSCO MACP rating systems and allows a rotating 
virtual image of the manhole.  Our crews would scan the manholes 
using this scanning device and collect any other NASSCO MACP 
required field data.  These scans would be analyzed for condition 
assessment in the office according to MACP Standards.  Separating 
these functions minimizes time on the streets diverting and 
interfering with traffic. We will be using the NASSCO MACP Level ll 
Standard for this project.      

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

17 | P a g e     

 

Safety 
 

Empire Pipe Cleaning & Equipment, Inc. prioritizes the health and safety of its employees by 
adhering to comprehensive guidelines and regulations at the local, state, and federal levels. Our 
Health and Safety Plan is designed to address industry-known hazards, ensuring a secure work 
environment. 
Our plan covers a range of industry hazards, including but not limited to drowning, H2S exposure, 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), medical first aid, tools, equipment, fire safety, and job site 
procedures. It also includes information on the locations of medical services. 
Our confined space safety protocols are regularly updated, and all employees are re-certified.  
Confined space entry will include the following as a minimum; Two Man Crew both with confined 
space certifications, ventilator, tripod, safety harness, gas detector, PPE and additional 
equipment or supplies if needed to safely complete the task.  
 

Traffic Control 
 

EPCE will comply with CA-MUTCD standards and guidance for traffic control setups and any 
standards listed in the City of Westminster, Traffic control and safety shall conform to the City. 
of Westminster Standards – “Traffic Control General Notes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

18 | P a g e     

Section E 

Proposed Schedule 
Empire Pipe Cleaning & Equipment, Inc. is fully prepared to initiate the project immediately upon 
the issuance of the Notice to Proceed (NTP). We have all the necessary crews and trucks, ensuring 
a seamless progression from the project's commencement to its completion.  

Our projection shows this should take approximately 238 working days to finish this project from 
NTP to final deliverable.  We may be applying more crews after the project starts, which would 
reduce the number of days to complete the project.   

 

 

Project Prep

Cleaning

Manhole Inspection

CCTV 1

CCTV 2

Feb- Submittal

March- Submittal

April- Submittal

May- Submittal

June- Submittal

July- Submittal

Aug- Submittal

Sept- Submittal

Oct- Submittal

Nov- Submittal

Dec- Submittal

2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO INSPECTION AND 
CLEANING PROJECT



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

19 | P a g e     

Proposed Schedule Map 
 

Sample GIS Map with sample proposed 2 week look ahead work area 

 

 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

20 | P a g e     

Here is a preliminary project schedule based on the guidelines provided in the Request for 
Proposal:  

Section F 

Proposed Pricing 
A copy of the price proposal will be attached at the back of this proposal.  

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

21 | P a g e     

Section G 

References, Related Experience and Examples of Work 
 
Los Angeles County Department of Public Works 
CONTACT:  Alexander Villarama Senior Civil Engineer 
PHONE:  626-300-3374 
ADDRESS: 900 South Fremont St Alhambra, CA 91803-1331 
Avilla@dpw.lacounty.gov 
Current Service Provider 2018 to 2023 
System cleaning, CCTV Inspection and development of inspection reports and databases, and GIS 
Data management With Project Status Reporting.  EPCE completed 17 projects from the period 
of 2005 to 2023.  EPCE completed over 10,000,000 lineal feet of assessments in Accordance with 
NASSCO PACP Standards All projects were completed 100% without delays.  
Average contract Value of $1,000,000.00 
 
City of La Palma 
CONTACT: Dean Chambers Water / Maintenance Supervisor 
PHONE: (714) 690-3321 
ADDRESS: 7822 Walker Street La Palma CA. 90623 
dchamabers@cityoflapalma.org 
Current Service Provider 2019 to Present 
Citywide Sewer Cleaning, Quarterly Hot Spots, Condition Assessment of Sewers  
Annual Contract Value $135,000.00 
 
City of Cerritos 
CONTACT:  Mary Anne Wozniak  
PHONE:  310-603-0220 
ADDRESS: 18125 S. Bloomfield Ave. Cerritos CA. 90703 
mwozniak@cerritos.us  
Current Service Provider 2018 to Present 
Annual Cleaning and maintenance of 320,000 Feet of Sewer Line Annual Sewer Cleaning, On Call, 
Trouble spots, CCTV Inspections, and lift station services. 
Annual Contract Value of $313,000.00 
 
City of Hermosa Beach 
CONTACT: Bradley Cocking 
PHONE: 310-863-2159 
ADDRESS: 1315 Valley Drive Hermosa Beach CA. 90254  
bcocking@hermosabch.org  
Current Services Provider 2019 to Present 
Annual Cleaning and Video Inspection of Sewer Lines  
Annual Contract Value of $195,000.00 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

22 | P a g e     

City of El Segundo 
CONTACT:  Floriza Rivera, Principal Engineer 
PHONE:  310-524-2361 
ADDRESS: 350 Main Street El Segundo, CA 90245 
frivera@elsegundo.org 
FY 2022 to 2023  
Project PW 21-12 Sewer Main Closed-Circuit Television (CCTV) Inspection Project  
EPCE completed Cleaning and CCTV Inspection of 300,000 Lineal Feet of 6” to 30” mainline sewers. 
This project was completed in less than 6 months. POSM Collection Software was used for the CCTV 
Inspection. NASSCO PACP Standards 
Total Value: 390,000.00  
 
City of Villa Park 
CONTACT: Mahrooz Ilkhanipoiur, P.E. City Engineer 
PHONE: 714-998-1500 
ADDRESS: 17855 Santiago Blvd Villa Park CA 92861 
Sewer Line Cleaning and Emergency Services. Services include cleaning all the sewer pipes, root 
cutting, CCTV investigations per NASSCO PACP standards, SSO emergency response and as 
needed response request. 
Current Services Provider 2023 to 2026   
 
 
City of Dana Point 
CONTACT: Lisa Zawaski CPSWP, QSP/QSD, CFM, QISP Senior Water Quality Engineer 
PHONE: 949-248-3584 
ADDRESS: 33282 Golden Lantern St Dana Point CA 92629 
lzawaski@danapoint.or 
Current Services Provider 2019 to Present   
CCTV Inspection of the storm drain system, engineered condition assessment reports of 
structural and maintenance defects, and GIS mapping and coding of the system. NASSCO PACP 
Standards 
Annual Contract $50,000.00 
 
Additional references available upon request 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

23 | P a g e     

Project Rolls  
 
Roll for projects have been addressed above in section “B.”  
 

Section H 

Sample Cleaning Report 
 

Sample cleaning report generated from the GIS Cloud Database 

 

 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

24 | P a g e     

 

 

Sample CCTV Inspection Report 
 

Sample CCTV report of detailed pipe asset information 

 
Sample CCTV report of defects photos 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

25 | P a g e     

 

 

 
 

 

Sample CCTV report of the plot of the pipe 

 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

26 | P a g e     

Sample CCTV report of NSAACO Rating Codes  

 
 

Sample Manhole Inspection Report 
 

Manhole Detail Page  

 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

27 | P a g e     

 

The inspection includes a photo of each component of the manhole.  If there is a defect a photo will be 
taken and coded, if no defect is found a picture of the general condition will be logged.  

              
 

 

               
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

28 | P a g e     

The inspection of the manhole is a 3D scan and can be views at any time after the inspection is completed.  
The software allows you to measure and zoom in to any portion of the manhole with the point cloud data.  

 

 

 
 

 

The free viewer software will allow you go inside the manhole and pan around and zoom in or out as 
needed.  This can provide additional detailed information that may not be observed from a photo.   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

29 | P a g e     

Addendum 1 
 

 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

30 | P a g e     

 
 

 
 



Midway City Sanitary District    
Sewer Video Inspection, Cleaning, and Manhole Inspections       
  

31 | P a g e     

Contact Information 
 

Empire Pipe Cleaning & Equipment, Inc. 

 
 
 
Craig Van Thyne, Vice-President 
1788 N. Neville St 
Orange, CA 92865 
Contractor’s License Number 363528 
Classes C36 and C42 
Tel 714-639-8352 Fax 714-283-8578 
 
Craig@Empirepipecleaning.com        www.empirepipecleaning.com 
 
 
 
 

 



Midway City Sanitary District – November 7, 2023 Page 42

1797771.1

EXHIBIT C - PRICE PROPOSAL FORM

2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO INSPECTION AND CLEANING PROJECT 

Total Amount for All Items in Words (Assuming Stated Unit Quantities): ______________________

_
Note: The Unit Quantities set forth above are best estimates; the actual Unit Quantities may differ.
Payment will be based on the Unit Prices for actual linear feet of sewer mains cleaned and inspected 
and the actual number of manholes inspected.

CONTRACTOR shall notify and obtain approval of DISTRICT prior to performing Services with 
respect to any Item in excess of the estimated Unit Quantity for such Item.  Upon receipt of written 
authorization from DISTRICT’s General Manager or his or her designee, CONTRACTOR agrees 
to provide Services at the Unit Prices set forth above with respect to up to one hundred twenty 
percent (120%) of the Unit Quantity set forth above for any Item.

Item 
No. Description Units Estimated

Quantity Unit Price 

1 Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 8-inch gravity sewer mains LF 857,031 $ $

2 Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 10-inch gravity sewer mains LF 31,289 $ $

3 Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 12-inch gravity sewer mains LF 14,390 $ $

4 Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 15-inch gravity sewer mains LF 4,554 $ $

5 Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 18-inch gravity sewer mains LF 6,986 $ $

6 Inspection of all District’s manholes 
(all sizes and types) EA 3,001 $ $

1.43                  

1.75                  

Total Estimated 
Item Price

1,225,554.33

54,755.75

2.07                   29,787.30

2.44    11,111.76

3.05                   21,307.30

175.00              525,175.00

Total Amount For All Items in Numerals (Assuming Stated Unit Quantities): $___________

___________________________________________One Million Eight Hundred Sixty Seven Thousand Six Hundred Ninety One Dollars and Forty Four Cents_________________________________________

1,867,691.44









































































 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 1 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and 
Cleaning Project



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 2 

 

Table of Contents 
A. Approach ................................................................................................................................................... 3 

B. Descrip�on of Firm, Management and Team Members ........................................................................... 4 

Our Services .............................................................................................................................................. 5 

Proposed Staffing and Project Organiza�on ............................................................................................. 6 

PROGRAM TEAM ................................................................................................................................... 6 

Primary Contact Informa�on .............................................................................................................. 6 

C. Qualifica�ons ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

Ongoing and Planned Projects .................................................................................................................. 8 

Past Experience ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

D. Scope of Work ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

SEQUENCE OF ACTION ........................................................................................................................ 10 

QUALITY CONTROL, BUDGET, AND SCHEDULE .................................................................................... 11 

E. Proposed Project Schedule ..................................................................................................................... 12 

F. Proposed Pricing ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

G. References, Related Experience and Examples of Work ........................................................................ 14 

References ............................................................................................................................................... 14 

Addi�onal General References................................................................................................................ 15 

H. A Sample Report and A Sample Video Picture Quality ........................................................................... 16 

Other Relevant Informa�on ........................................................................................................................ 17 

Equipment ............................................................................................................................................... 17 

Services Con�nued .................................................................................................................................. 19 

California Class A Contractor’s License Card ............................................................................................... 23 

City of Westminster Business License ......................................................................................................... 24 

City of Orange Business License .................................................................................................................. 25 

California Secretary of State Cer�ficate of Good Standing ......................................................................... 26 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 3 

 

A. Approach 
Pro-Pipe, Inc. 
47 Discovery, Suite 250, Irvine, CA 92618 
949-398-0078 
Pro-pipebidbox@pro-pipe.com 
 

November 7, 2023 

 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
14451 Cedarwood St., Westminster, CA 92683 
Atn: Milo Ebrahimi, P.E., District Engineer 
 
Re: 2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

Our superiority in the field is the result of decades of experience. In the span of three 
generations, we have honed our skills by tackling the most formidable challenges head-on in Sanitary 
water infrastructure. Our capacity to innovatively address intricate projects in collaboration with our 
clients has driven us to heavily invest in technological advancements. We firmly believe that technology, 
especially assessment and mapping tools (AGOL), empowers us to deliver optimal value both presently 
and in the future.  

Pro-Pipe is dedicated to providing Midway City Sanita�on District (MCSD) with outstanding 
service that surpasses expectations set forth in the RFP. We acknowledge that handling of Cleaning, 
CCTV assessment and Manhole inspection projects necessitates a skilled firm capable of cleaning, 
assessing, and delivering quality data deliverable. Successful execution hinges on having the appropriate 
equipment and knowledge of its optimal utilization. Pro-Pipe's operational and business development 
team are poised to complete the cleaning and CCTV of pipelines, and manhole inspections as outlined in 
the RFP. Our Pomona, CA operational facility would serve as the base of support, bolstered by our 
experienced operational support staff. We possess the flexibility to deploy additional assets as needed 
to meet the demands from MCSD’s Professional Services Agreement and secure a long-las�ng 
rela�onship. 

During proposal evaluation, please contact Carla Reyes at 949-398-0078 or 
Carla.reyes@nationalu.com. The proposal shall remain valid for a period of not less than 90 days and the 
term of the agreement. 

   

Sincerely,  

 

Jeff Kappler 
President and CEO 

mailto:Carla.reyes@nationalu.com


MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 4 

 

B. Descrip�on of Firm, Management and Team 
Members 
Pro-Pipe, Inc. (Pro-Pipe) is a California corpora�on, and has been in business since December 22, 
1972. Pro-Pipe was formed to answer the demands of 
aging wastewater infrastructure. Since then, we have 
become an industry leader in the assessment, 
cleaning, and rehabilita�on of storm drain and 
wastewater infrastructure. Pro-Pipe, Inc. has over 300 
employees and a fleet of 90 CCTV inspec�on trucks 
and 40 combina�on hydrovac trucks, including the 
latest liquid recycling technology. 

We have 11 offices in Arizona, California, Colorado, 
New Mexico, Texas, Utah, and Virginia. Also, we are 
eligible to conduct business in Arkansas, Idaho, Iowa, 
Louisiana, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, North 
Carolina, Oregon and Washington. 

Pro-Pipe, Inc. is able to conduct work in the State of California, the County of Orange, and 
the City of Westminster.  
 
Pro-Pipe, Inc. has built its success by consistently inves�ng in the newest technologies for assessment, 
maintenance, and rehabilita�on of our na�on’s underground infrastructure. In turn, we enable facility 
owners and their engineering partners to best understand underground infrastructure needs and how to 
address them safely and economically. Our customer focused, solu�ons-oriented mentality has posi�oned 
Pro-Pipe, Inc. as a leader in the industry. We have cul�vated long term partnerships based on innova�ve 
solu�ons for our customers, and we con�nue to foster these rela�onships while looking to form new 
partnerships throughout the industry. 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 5 

Our Services 
   



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 6 

 

Proposed Staffing and Project Organiza�on 

PROGRAM TEAM 
  

The organiza�onal framework for managing a successful program consists of an opera�onal Program 
Leadership Team. The Program Leadership Team will manage the field opera�ons and collaborate with 
MCSD to measure, monitor, and drive progress on program objec�ves. This team will endeavor to drive 
clarity to field crews, iden�fy best prac�ces, and develop tac�cal plans to overcome field challenges as 
they arise during this program.  

Pro-Pipe will be providing an experienced staff for this project. Staff will include Trained managers, Field 
operators and QA/QC Staff.  Our staff has reviewed the RFP as outlined by MCSD and will not only meet 
expecta�ons set forth, but plans to exceed expecta�ons by means of communica�on, excep�onal field 
execu�on and quality of deliverable submital.    

We have loca�ons na�onwide where we can add operators on an as-needed basis. 

Pro-Pipe, Inc. plans to self-perform the en�re contract, including traffic control.  

Primary Contact Informa�on 
Pro-Pipe, Inc. 
3531 Pomona Blvd. 
Pomona, CA 91768 
Primary Contact: Juan Buenrostro 
Email: jbuenrostro@pro-pipe.com 
Direct #: 949-683-4378 
Main #: 800-784-7473 
 
Program Leadership Team 
  

Juan Buenrostro, Opera�ons Project Manager:  

Juan is the project manager and the day-to-day contact person for the job. In his role as Opera�ons 
Superintendent, Juan assumes comprehensive responsibility for project management in support of 
the Professional Services Agreement with MCSD. His du�es encompass project scheduling, op�mizing 
equipment u�liza�on, ensuring �mely project deliverables, and maintaining rigorous quality 
assurance and quality control (QA/QC) procedures, including billing processes. Juan is NASSCO 
PACP, MACP, LACP Cer�fied.  

Brent McClure Project Manager and QA/QC Specialist:  

Brent plays a cri�cal role in ensuring the quality and accuracy of CCTV deliverables to the project owner. 
He also took charge of overseeing a team of Pro-Pipe's in-house QA/QC technicians, guiding them in 
structural coding and O&M coding for mainline sanitary sewers and manholes. Brent is NASSCO PACP, 
MACP, LACP Cer�fied 

 

mailto:jbuenrostro@pro-pipe.com


MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 7 

       

Percy Palomar, California Regional Manager 

Percy has recently joined our organization as the regional manager of California. He has significant 
construction, utility service, and leadership experience. Percy looks forward to make certain that the 
team is achieving the program objectives of the district and that the team has the resources and 
processes to be successful.   
 
Cleaning Operators 

Please find our operators below, where all are NASSCO PACP, MACP, LACP Certified. Vactor Operators 
from other Pro-Pipe locations to be dispatched to this project as needed.  
 
Jose Galvez, Cleaning Supervisor  

William Alleman, Lead Vactor Operator  

Cur�s Hankins, Vactor Operator/Lead Mechanic  

 

CCTV and Manhole Inspec�on Operators  

Please find our operators below, where all are NASSCO PACP, MACP, LACP Cer�fied. 

San�ago Lopez, Senior CCTV Operator 

Julian De La Paz, CCTV Operator 

Gerardo Rojo, CCTV Operator 

Javier Munoz, CCTV Operator  

Jose Gonzalez, CCTV Operator 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 8 

C. Qualifica�ons 
Ongoing and Planned Projects 
Los Angeles County Sanitary District, CA (Ongoing)  
 
We will be wrapping up our project with Los Angeles County around February 2024. There are currently 
only 2 CCTV crews designated to this project, with no cleaning required.   
 
Southern California Gas SLIP Project (Ongoing)   
 
Southern California Gas is our biggest customer in California. We dedicate about 15 crews (30 
employees) to this project full time. This project does not call for pipeline assessment, rather it focuses 
on cross-bore investigations. Our NASSCO certified operators are not typically assigned to this project.  
 
Orange County Sanitation District Manhole Inspections (Ongoing)  
 
We have a Task Order Agreement in place through November 2024 to conduct Manhole Inspections as 
needed. During this period, OC San will periodically send a list of manholes to be inspected with a 
deadline date for each individual work order. These work orders typically have a completion time of less 
than a week and are issued every couple of months.   
 

Past Experience 
Los Angeles County Sanitary District, CA (2014-2023) 

For over 6 consecu�ve years, provided CCTV Inspec�on Services of trunk sewers ranging from 6” to 
144”. Tasked with an average of about 100,000 feet of sewer mains per month to be assessed using 
NASSCO PACP standards. Upon field comple�on, all inspec�ons undergo QAQC review. Once processed, 
deliverables consist of PDF reports, PACP database, and all media collected during inspec�on. 

City of Victorville, CA (2017) 

Citywide condi�on assessment of about 1.9 million feet of sewer using a panoramic scanning system. All 
data collected was then reviewed for and finalized by our Quality Control team in order to meet PACP 
standards.  

Yellowstone Na�onal Park, WY (2022) 

Sewer condi�on assessment & lateral inspec�on at 4 of the major villages located inside the park. With 
the help of an engineering firm, Pro-Pipe provided inspec�on and repor�ng of cri�cal infrastructure 
using NASSCO standards.  

San Diego County, CA (2020) 

Tasked with inspec�ng over 1 million feet of sewer line in the Spring Valley region of San Diego County. 
Per the request of the customer, all personnel working on the project was required to be trained and 
cer�fied in all three of the NASSCO categories (PACP, MACP, and LACP). 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 9 

 

D. Scope of Work 
EXECUTION OF WORK  

Cleaning and CCTV 

1. Pro-Pipe will have the cleaning and CCTV crews working side by side to maximize the efficiency 
for comple�ng this project. 

2. Manhole Inspec�ons will be conducted simultaneously but will not be expected to work 
alongside the cleaning and camera crews. 

3. Each crew will consist of 1 Operator and 1 appren�ce who will provide Traffic control and 
technical assistance.  

4. The GIS provided by MCSD will be used by the Opera�ons Manager and the crews to determine 
the best approach at each work loca�on. 

5. Pipe size, poten�al flow, and traffic condi�ons will all be factored when determining the ideal 
work schedule for crews on every Cleaning/CCTV segment. A 360 view of the access manholes 
will be provided at the beginning and end of each inspec�on. 

6. Only a�er crea�ng a safe work zone using the appropriate traffic control signage and equipment, 
will the crew begin conduc�ng the cleaning/inspec�on work.  

Cleaning Process 

1. Pro-Pipe will deploy Hydrovac trucks to ensure proper cleaning and removal of debris from all 
sewers to be inspected. 

2. A�er obtaining a temporary water meter from the City of Westminster, Pro-Pipe will start by 
using High-Velocity Jet Equipment on a to remove all roots, dirt, grease, rocks, sand and other 
foreign materials and obstruc�ons from lines.  

3. During and a�er the je�ng process, our cleaning operators will use the Vacuums on the 
Hydrovac to collect all debris extracted from the pipe.   

4. Cleaning Operators may be able to visually determine if a pipe segment looks adequately clean 
enough to conduct the video inspec�on but will rely on the CCTV crews for the final decision.  

5. CCTV inspec�on is to be conducted within no more than 7 days a�er cleaning. If addi�onal 
cleaning is required, CCTV operators will instruct cleaners on these segments.   

CCTV Data Capture 

1. Once a pipe segment has been deemed clean enough for CCTV, crews will begin the inspec�on 
process.  

2. A 360 view of the access manhole will be provided at the beginning of each inspec�on, along 
with a s�ll image showing the manhole and its surrounding area.  

3. The camera shall then be lowered into the manhole and placed into the pipe with any slack 
removed to ensure counter measurements are accurate. 

4. Operators will record inspec�ons up to a rate of 30 feet per minute and stop to document any 
structural or maintenance defects, along with service connec�ons, found during the inspec�on 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 10 

in accordance with PACP standards. Recorded digital files will include a narra�ve descrip�on of 
all the observa�ons made and shall be included in the log, through text and voice recordings.  

5. If more than 1 line is to be inspected from a single setup, operators will reset their counter at the 
beginning of every pipe segment.  

6. Once an inspec�on is complete, the camera will be retrieved and removed from the manhole. 
The crews will close and return manholes back to their original condi�ons.  

7. Sewer video inspec�on will be done maximum one week a�er cleaning of segment or will be re-
cleaned at no extra cost to MCSD.  

Manhole Inspec�on 

1. Pro-Pipe will conduct Manhole Inspec�ons by means of 360 panoramic capture, with 
crews separate of the cleaning and CCTV team.  

2. Field work will only consist of collec�ng a 360 scan of every manhole using our truck mounted 
descending camera.  

3. Operators may make mul�ple atempts to achieve the best quality image.  
4. Pro-Pipe's QC department will then process and code any maintenance and structural 

deficiencies of the manholes in accordance with the MACP ra�ng system.  

SEQUENCE OF ACTION 
Kick-Off Mee�ng 

In successfully launching the 2024 MCSD Sewer Systerm CCTV Video Inspection and 
Cleaning Project, it is important to conduct a formal Kickoff Meeting with the Operations 
Program Manager. This Kickoff Meeting will cover the following, but not limited to: 

 
• Safety Process and Programs 
• Reviewing and implementing customer specifications onto inspection systems 
• Work Hours 
• Deliverable Requirements 
• Identify MCSD representative to provide asset data along with sewer atlas map/GIS data 
• Invoicing Procedures 
• Recurring Meeting Plan (Daily, Weekly, Monthly) 

 
Communication and project visibility between Pro-Pipe and MCSD are imperative to 
successful inspection program and a Kickoff Meeting will serve to drive successful 
communication from the start. 
 

Project Approach 

Following a successful Kickoff Meeting, the sequence of work would be as follows; 

1. Pro-Pipe Operations Manager/Supervisor will advise MCSD Project Manager 
work schedule at least 24 hours in advance 

2. Pro-Pipe Manager will separate work by pipe specs and will distribute 
between operators. 

3. CCTV Operators will perform inspections using NASSCO PACP/MACP coding 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 11 

and create individual databases for each work day. 

4. All inspections items including video, photographs, and databases will be 
submitted to our Quality Assurance department daily and undergo review 
prior to customer delivery. 

5. Once a work order has been completed, a final review will be conducted by 
our QA/QC team. 

6. Completed inspections will be delivered monthly on a thumb drive or external 
hard drive, Inspection media, PDF PACP/MACP Reports, and PACP/MACP 
database.   

 
QUALITY CONTROL, BUDGET, AND SCHEDULE 
Review Cadence 

We have found that it is a best practice to conduct regular and periodic meetings with 
program leadership to review project safety metrics, program progress to date, 
operational challenges and best practices, and other needs. These periodic meetings 
should take place in two forms: 
 
An Execu�ve review twice a year, and Program Leadership review weekly 
 
Each Sewer Inspection and Assessment program tends to evolve over time due to the 
specific nuances of the location, geography, topography, underground infrastructure, 
and community culture/politics. It is important to structure a review cadence to allow 
Program Leaders to maintain alignment of program mission, objectives, address 
challenges, and review progress. Having this structure in place is particularly helpful at 
the start of the program or expanding into new locations to make sure that the 
everyone is aligned and ensure that leaders can drive clarity of objectives, the priority 
of safety, and expectations of communication with their field teams. As Assessment 
programs mature, the frequency for these reviews do tend to reduce but it is 
imperative that they continue to occur to drive alignment on objectives and 
expectations. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 12 

 

E. Proposed Project Schedule 
Pro-Pipe will complete Cleaning and CCTV on 174 miles of sewer mains and inspections of 3001 
manholes with an anticipated start date of January 8, 2024, and will be completed by December 9, 
2024.  
 
Cleaning and inspection are expected to be completed in 230 working days. Pro-Pipe will use the 
District’s GIS and consider Pipe and Manhole IDs, pipe size, potential flow, and traffic conditions to 
determine the ideal work schedule for crews on every Cleaning/CCTV segment.  
 
Manhole inspections are expected to take 150 working days and will occur concurrently with the 
cleaning and inspection portion of the project.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 13 

 

F. Proposed Pricing 
 

Bid 
Item 

Descrip�on Quan�ty Unit Bid Unit 
Price 

Bid Unit Price 
Total 

1 Cleaning and CCTV inspec�on of all 8-inch 
gravity sewer mains 

857,031 LF $2.26 $1,939,939.26 

2 Cleaning and CCTV inspec�on of all 10-inch 
gravity sewer mains 

31,289 LF $2.52 $78,977.37 

3 Cleaning and CCTV inspec�on of all 12-inch 
gravity sewer mains 

14,390 LF $2.52 $36,322.17 

4 Cleaning and CCTV inspec�on of all 15-inch 
gravity sewer mains 

4,554 
 

LF $3.31 $15,054.74 

5 Cleaning and CCTV inspec�on of all 18-inch 
gravity sewer mains 

6,986 LF $3.31 $23,094.52 

6 Inspec�on of all District's manholes (all sizes and 
types) 

3,001 
 

EA $200.00 $600,200.00 

BID TOTAL 2,693                                                                                                             
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 14 

 

G. References, Related Experience and 
Examples of Work 
References 
Los Angeles County Sanitation District 
John Westergaard 
Senior Civil Engineer  
1955 Workman Mill Rd, Whi�er, CA 90601 
(310) 638.1161  
JWestergaard@lacsd.org 
 
City of Victorville 
Stephan Longoria 
Senior Civil Engineer  
14177 Mc Art Rd, Victorville, CA 92392 
(760) 490-4560 
hkam@sfwater.org 
 
City of Newport Beach 
Mike Lynch  
Wastewater Supervisor 
100 Civic Center Dr, Newport Beach, CA 92660 
(949) 279-8323 
mlynch@city.newport-beach.ca.us 
 
Carrollo Engineers  
Greg Gould 
Associate Vice President at Carollo Engineers 
Dallas, TX 
(702) 792-3711  
GGould@carollo.com 
 
Brown & Caldwell 
Gary Skipper  
Vice President, Conveyance Infrastructure 
451 A Street, Suite 1500 San Diego, CA 92101 
858-699-6824 
Gskipper@brwncald.com 
 

 

 

mailto:JWestergaard@lacsd.org
mailto:hkam@sfwater.org
mailto:mlynch@city.newport-beach.ca.us
mailto:GGould@carollo.com


MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 15 

 

 

Addi�onal General References 
We partner with hundreds of municipali�es, sanita�on districts, poli�cal subdivisions, and u�lity owners 
to support their pipe maintenance requirements such as cleaning, condi�on assessment, small diameter 
mainline rehabilita�on, and lateral rehabilita�on. We also provide comprehensive pipe assessment and 
mapping services.  

 

City of Los Angeles, CA 
Condi�on assessment & rehabilita�on services. 
Pro-Pipe has averaged 500 miles annually for 13 
consecu�ve years for the City of L.A. 

City of Las Vegas, NV 
Panorama & rehabilita�on services contracted 
with City consultants; over 600 miles of high-
defini�on pipe scanning completed to date. 

City of Billings, MT 
Condi�on assessment and cleaning of 4,735 LF 
of 60” sanitary sewer 

Pima County, AZ 
750-mile condi�on assessment and 
rehabilita�on services 

City of Plano, TX 
Ongoing condi�on assessment of 622,685 LF of 
sanitary sewer; 2,500 Level II MACP inspec�ons 

Town of Bennington, OK 
Condi�on assessment and cleaning of 34,000 LF 
of sanitary sewer 

City of Loveland, CO 
Condi�on assessment of 32,721 LF of 8”-12” 
sanitary sewer and rehabilita�on of 431 service 
laterals 

City of Derby, KS 
Condi�on assessment and cleaning of 225,000 
LF of sanitary sewer 

City of Roseburg, OR 
Cleaning and condi�on assessment with lateral 
lining rehabilita�on 

City of Hays, KS 
Ongoing cleaning and condi�on assessment of 
sanitary sewer. 360,000 LF cleaned and 
inspected to date 

South Island Public Service District, SC 
100,000 LF cleaning and condi�on assessment 
with rehabilita�on services 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 16 

 

 

H. A Sample Report and A Sample Video Picture 
Quality 
Please see our sample CCTV and manhole inspections that were performed utilizing the same 
equipment that is proposed in the link below and USB drive added to the hardcopy submission. 

These files are representative of a typical submittal, including a video recording, photographs, inspection 
report and other files. 

 

Link: Pro-Pipe Samples 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://hswit-my.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/personal/carla_reyes_nationalu_com/EoPDu0VHwMZHrkpDyoF6YfcBYC_lvcuzAkKXZt1o2b3tpQ?e=yuD48B


MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 17 

 

Other Relevant Informa�on 
Equipment 
Subsite Electronics 

Large Diameter Tractor 

Industry-Leading, Four-Wheel Drive Power! 

Func�oning on up to 2,000 feet of Single Conductor 
cable, the Steerable Storm Drain Tractor transports 
cameras deep into storm drains, sewer, and water 
pipes 24 inches and larger. Its remote-controlled 
motorized camera li� allows the camera to be 
centered in pipelines up to 60 inches in diameter. 

ROV Features: 

• Dual 26W (2600 lumens) adjustable LED light 
array. 

• Pan and rotate axis are clutched to protect 
against impact damage to gear train and 
motors. 

• Powerful, 125W motor. 
• Remote-controlled camera li� centers the 

camera in up to 60-inch pipe. 
• Fully steerable for easy maneuverability. 

 

Camera Specs: 

•  High-resolu�on video (2.38 megapixel) with a total zoom of 
120:1 (10X op�cal and 12X digital). 

•  Integrated pan/�lt head with 270° of pan and 340° of rota�on 
for full 360° inspec�on capabili�es. 

• Adjustable, ultra-bright LED dual light array (1,300 total 
lumens) with remote-controlled se�ngs allows inspec�on of 
pipes up to 48" without addi�onal lights. 

• Internal pressure and humidity sensors and internal clock with 
startup counter. 

• Op�onal inclinometer and integrated lasers for crack 
measurement. 

 

ALL CAMERAS CAN BE MOUNTED ONTO FLOATING UNITS DESIGNED FOR LARGE DIAMTER PIPE. THIS 
OFFERS A GREAT SOLUTION FOR INSPECTING LINES WHERE INTERRUPTION TO FLOW IS NOT POSSIBLE.   



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 18 

 

CUES Inc. 

OZ II Pipeline Inspec�on Camera 

The OZ II CCTV pipeline inspec�on camera offers unparalleled imaging technology and built-in ligh�ng for 
6” to 72” pipe.  

Features and Benefits 

• 10X op�cal zoom and 32X digital zoom; total 320:1 
zoom capability enhances image details from faraway 
distances. 

• 4 MP camera; higher image resolu�on means sharper 
pictures with maximum detail. 

• Four field-replaceable lights (cool white LEDs); 
internal lights are direc�onal with the moving camera 
head for op�mum illumina�on in 6”-72” pipe. 

• Pan, rotate, zoom, and focus homing feature; quick 
and easy to reorient to the current loca�on. 

• 400-degree rota�onal op�cal viewing angle; 331 degree pan viewing angle range; view minute 
defects and voids around the en�re diameter of the pipe wall. 

Rapid View/ IBAK 

Lisy Lateral Inspec�on System 

The LISY is IBAK’s advanced lateral launch system.  This impressive inspec�on system can launch from 
6” to 48” mainlines into laterals 3” and up.  With shorter front connector op�ons, con�nuous camera 
rota�on, and smaller launch cameras, it makes more demanding projects like reverse launching a 
breeze.  The LISY’s ar�cula�ng arm rotates and �lts with precision, ensuring accurate camera 
placement and quick launching.  Located on the ar�cula�ng arm is the LISYCam Control Camera, 
which allows operators to view the posi�on of their launch camera for a seamless lateral inspec�on.  

Key Features 

• Standard Pressurized Protec�on 
• 180° Pan Range (Ar�cula�on Arm) 
• 45° Tilt Range (Ar�cula�on Arm) 
• Variable Control Push Speed 
• 600 feet of Overall Cable Length 
• 120 feet of Pushrod Length 

 

 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 19 

 

Services Con�nued 

Assessment – CCTV 

CCTV pipe inspec�on is one of the most versa�le services we offer, including self-steering robo�c 
crawlers, all-terrain crawlers, and track-mounted systems, all of which provide NASSCO-compliant, unless 
otherwise specified, computer generated schema�cs, video, and s�ll photo reports using advanced 
equipment and technology. 

 

Pro-Pipe’s systems are capable of inspec�ng 
6” to 108” diameter mainlines and siphons 
u�lizing the following so�ware: 

• WinCan v8 
• WinCan VX 
• WinCan Web 
• PipeLogix 
• Granite Net 
• POSM 
• ITPipes 

 

 

All these so�ware pla�orms can be 
integrated into the asset owners’ GIS using 
ESRI ArcGIS Desktop and ArcGIS Online.  

These so�ware pla�orms then produce 
PACP-exchange databases compa�ble with 
asset management programs. Pro-Pipe 
provides a professional service, using 
NASSCO-cer�fied operators (PACP, MACP & 
LACP). Visual documenta�on is captured in 
full-color digital format. All equipment is 
MPEG, MPEG-4, JPEG, and DVD comp



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 20 

 

Pipe Cleaning 

Pro-Pipe owns and manages one of the largest fleets of 
the latest hydrovac system technology available.   

• Operates 24/7  
• Cleans Wide Range of Diameter Pipes 

Each pipe segment is assessed by the operator on arrival 
and equipment selec�on is specified for debris levels and 
pipe condi�on of that segment. Pro-Pipe has strategically 
built our fleet to address the customer’s needs across 
our por�olio. We have a blend of equipment including: 

• 35 Standard Cleaning Trucks 
• 5 Cleaning Trucks with Recycling Capabili�es 

 

 

Our customers depend on our industry-leading 
cleaning capabili�es for mul�ple applica�ons.  
Cleaning improves the pipe’s carrying capacity, 
recovering its hydraulic efficiency. Extrac�ng debris 
from the pipe facilitates the inser�on and movement 
of inspec�on tools through the pipe. Cleaning is o�en 
required before undertaking pipe rehab work, such as 
lining and repairs. Rou�ne cleaning can prevent 
sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs), which can cause 
property damage and threaten public health.   

A�er evalua�ng the condi�on of your pipes, the Pro-
Pipe cleaning professionals decide which of the 
following processes is best for your infrastructure and 
needs. 

 

 

Je�ng: Power je�ng involves blas�ng water 
through the sewer line to eliminate the buildup, 
scale, and blockages that have accumulated 
over �me.

Mechanical: Pushing or pulling a special device 
through the pipe to scrape even the hardest 
deposits from the pipe’s interior wall. 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 21 

Safety Culture 

Pro-Pipe is fully commited to safety. Our detailed and comprehensive Safety Program is focused on 
encouraging all employees to take personal responsibility for the safety of their customers, themselves, 
their work colleagues, and their surrounding community. This program has been ini�ated to provide a 
focal point for our commitment to safety. 

Our success with customers and, consequently, the overall success of our business, depends upon our 
individual employee’s personal skills and contribu�ons. We are united with our customers in achieving 
success related to all key safety metrics. This begins with personal accountability and genuine personal 
concern and support for each other’s safety and health. 

Pro-Pipe believes strongly in the preven�on of accidents before they happen. This preventa�ve principle 
is supported by basic but cri�cal concepts. At the core of our safety culture and policies is the belief that 
incidents can be prevented through implementa�on of effec�ve safety and health policies and 
procedures. This preventa�ve approach requires par�cipa�on and ownership from all levels of the 
company and adherence to all safety processes as a condi�on of employment. We are happy to provide 
our full safety program documenta�on upon request. 

 

 



MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 
2024 MCSD Sewer System CCTV Video Inspec�on and Cleaning Project 
 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 22 

 

 

Experience 

Our experience is what makes us an industry 
leader. Over the course of our three decades in 
the underground infrastructure space, we have 
built our strength and exper�se by facing the 
toughest challenges. Crea�vely addressing 
complicated projects, in collabora�on with our 
customers, has led us to invest aggressively in 
technology. We believe technology, par�cularly 
assessment and mapping technology, allows us 
to deliver the most value to our customers now 
and into the future. These technologies include 
tradi�onal CCTV, sidewall scanning 360-degree 
inspec�on technology, laser, LiDAR, and SONAR. 

To ensure we get the most from these tech 
investments, we have built out a robust back-
office QA/QC team based in Phoenix, Arizona. 

Between our back-office QA/QC team, field 
QA/QC efforts, and field opera�ons teams, Pro-
Pipe inspects over 6,000 miles of pipe annually, 
and converts the data we collect into powerful, 
meaningful, ac�onable, and user-friendly 
assessment tools for our customers.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 











 

 800.784.7473 | www.Pro-Pipe.com | Pro-Pipe, Inc. is a Division of Na�onal Underground Group Page | 27 

 

 

 

 

 





 

 Approach 
    

 
Introduction: Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. (CCSI) presents a bid for your comprehensive 
sewer maintenance and televising project. With 40 years of industry experience and a robust 
fleet of 65 CCTV camera trucks and 10 Vactor cleaning units, CCSI is well-prepared for this 
crucial undertaking. 
Objective: This project aims to conduct thorough cleaning, televising, and manhole inspections, 
ensuring optimal functionality and identifying potential issues for proactive maintenance. 
Scope of Work: 

1. Preliminary Inspection: 
 Assess the sewer system, identifying key areas needing attention. 
 Employ advanced CCTV inspection to evaluate pipe and structure conditions. 

2. Cleaning Services: 
 Utilize Vactor units for debris and obstruction removal. 
 Apply eco-friendly cleaning techniques for infrastructure longevity. 

3. Manhole Inspections: 
 Video inspect and assess the condition of manholes. 
 Document findings and address any maintenance needs. 

4. Televising and Documentation: 
 Conduct detailed televised inspections post-cleaning. 
 Deliver comprehensive documentation, including video footage and condition 

reports. 
5. Data Analysis: 

 Use advanced software for analysis, identifying potential issues. 
 Provide insights for preventive maintenance. 

Quality Assurance: CCSI guarantees top-tier services, combining certified professionals with 
cutting-edge equipment for precise and efficient project execution. 
Timeline: Outline a detailed timeline covering preliminary inspection, cleaning, manhole 
inspections, televising, and final documentation phases. 
Conclusion: Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. is confident in our ability to deliver exceptional 
results for your sewer project. With proven expertise, state licenses, and a commitment to 
excellence, we look forward to contributing to your sewer infrastructure's longevity, efficiency, 
and overall health. 
 



 

 Description of Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 
    

1. Proposer Summary: Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. (CCSI) offers a comprehensive 
proposal for sewer maintenance services, backed by a proven track record in the industry. 
 
2. Management Team: Leadership: Mr. Jaime Diaz, an experienced Operations Manager, is 
proposed as the Project Manager. 
Project Manager (Jaime Diaz): Jaime Diaz brings nearly a decade of Operations Management 
experience directly related to this RFP’s project traits, specializing in process improvement, data 
analysis, and staff management. 
Contact: jaime@championcleaning.net | +1 408 564 2097. 
 
3. Project Team: CCSI's certified professionals, led by Jaime Diaz, possess expertise in advanced 
sewer inspection technologies and environmentally friendly cleaning techniques. 
 
4. Contact Information: 

 Legal Name: Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 
 Contact: Riley Chon, Business Development Manager 
 Address: 8391 Blue Ash Rd., Cincinnati, Ohio | Cell Phone: 419-789-9874 

 
5. Proposal Details: 

 Sole proposal from CCSI, no joint entities. 
 No subcontractors; all services provided by CCSI's in-house teams. 

 
6. Authorization and Compliance: CCSI, Riley Chon, and Jaime Diaz are authorized to operate in 
California, Orange County, and the City of Westminster. Evidence of registration with the 
California Secretary of State is included. 
Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc., Riley Chon, and Jaime Diaz are committed to delivering 
excellence in sewer maintenance. We look forward to contributing to the success of your 
project. 
  



 

 Description of Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 
 
 
DIR Registration 
 
Contractor Information 
Legal Entity Name 

Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 
Legal Entity Type 

Corporation 
Status 

Active 
Registration Number 

PW-LR-1001084827 
Registration effective date 

07/18/23 
Registration expiration date 

06/30/24 
Mailing Address 

8391 Blue Ash Rd  Cincinnati 45236 OH United States of America 
Physical Address 

8391 Blue Ash Rd  Cincinnati 45236 OH United States of America 
Email Address 

rileychon@championcleaning.net 
Trade Name/DBA 
License Number (s) 

CSLB:1105799 

Legal Entity Information 
 
Corporation Entity Number: 

3625024 
Federal Employment Identification Number: 

311027400 
President Name: 

Lincoln Stephenson 
Vice President Name: 
Treasurer Name: 

Pat Kurtz 
Secretary Name: 
CEO Name: 

Chris Kurtz 
 
 

Agency for Service: 
 
 
Agent of Service Name: 

Northwest Registered Agent 
Agent of Service Mailing Address: 

2108 N St. Suite N   Sacramento 95816 CA United States of America 
 
 

Worker's Compensation 



 

 Description of Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 
 
Do you lease employees through Professional Employer Organization (PEO)?: 

No 
Please provide your current worker's compensation insurance information below: 
 
PEO Information 
PEO Name 
PEO Phone 
PEO Email 
 
Insured by Carrier 
 
Policy Holder Name: 

Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 
Insurance Carrier: 

State Fund Compensation Insurance 
Policy Number: 

9056790-2023 
Inception date: 

05/15/23 
Expiration Date: 

05/15/24 

  



 

 Description of Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 Qualifications 
 

    
1. Relevant Background Experience: Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. (CCSI) stands as a 
seasoned leader in sewer maintenance with a collective experience of over four decades. Each 
member of our dedicated team possesses an individual background of over five years in sewer 
infrastructure projects, contributing to the wealth of expertise within our organization. 
 
2. Capabilities for this Project: CCSI's capabilities for the proposed sewer maintenance project 
are built upon the individual expertise of our team members. With over 65 state-of-the-art 
CCTV sewer inspection camera trucks and 10 Vactor sewer cleaning combo units, our team is 
proficient in process improvement, data analysis, policy implementation, and staff 
management. 
 
3. Major Projects Commitments:  
Ongoing Projects: 

 PG&E Crossbore inspections: Crossbore Investigations, Yearly Contract, 2 Lateral Launch 
crews, QAQC Specialist, and a Project Manager 

 CA Lining: Collaborative initiative with Lining Department for enhanced sewer 
infrastructure services 

 Our California Business Unit has until recently, only focused on a single customer due to 
the massive size of the contract ($7M). Their budget for our services was cut nearly in 
half and has required us to initiate inorganic sales forces identical to the rest of the 
organization. 

Planned Projects: 
 2024 MCSD Assessment: Awaiting Award from Midway City Sewer District, 83k LF of 

clean and inspect project in Westminster, CA. 
 
4. Staff Resources: Every member of the CCSI team individually boasts over five years of hands-
on experience in sewer maintenance. Our certified operators, project managers, and 
technicians bring a wealth of knowledge to each project, ensuring a thorough understanding of 
industry best practices. 
 
5. Project Status: Ongoing projects are managed with precision, leveraging the extensive 
experience of our team members. Regular progress meetings and continuous monitoring 
guarantee that our seasoned staff resources are deployed effectively for optimal project 
outcomes. 



 

 Qualifications 
 
 
6. Commitment to Excellence: CCSI's commitment to excellence is not only a corporate ethos 
but a testament to the dedication of each team member. Our approach centers on innovation, 
efficiency, and strict compliance with industry regulations, reinforcing our position as a leader 
in sewer maintenance. 
 
7. Resources Allocation: CCSI has begun our winter weather transition for our Midwest team 
members, this includes winter work in the Southern States and our West Coast Operations. 
 
In conclusion, Champion Cleaning Specialists Inc. is not just a company; it is a collective of 
seasoned professionals, each contributing their wealth of experience to deliver exceptional 
results for the proposed sewer maintenance project. We appreciate your consideration and 
eagerly anticipate the opportunity to bring our individual and collective expertise to this critical 
project. 
 



 

 Project Schedule and Scope of Work 
    

Timeframe: January 8, 2024, to December 9, 2024 
 
1. Preliminary Phase (January 8-9, 2024): 

 Project Kickoff Meeting 
 Rapid Site Assessment 
 Efficient Team Mobilization and Equipment Setup 

2. Concurrent Cleaning, Televising, and Manhole Inspection Phase (January 10, 2024 - 
November 4, 2024): 

 Initiating Sewer Cleaning and Inspecting Operations 
 Implementing Advanced Cleaning Techniques 
 Concurrent Televising: Seamless Transition from Cleaning to Inspecting 
 Conducting Comprehensive CCTV Inspections 
 Identifying and Documenting Defects with Reports to the Owner 
 Concurrent Manhole Inspections: Executing Detailed Inspections 
 Adjusting Schedule to Cleaning and Televised Inspection of 5000 ft per Day including 20 

Manhole Inspections per day 
 Continuous Monitoring of Progress and Quality Control and Making Customer Approved 

Adjustments as Needed 
Monthly Deliverable (Starting February 1, 2024): 

 Progress Report 
 Video Footage Highlights 
 Preliminary Inspection Reports 

3. Finalization and Documentation (November 5, 2024 - December 9, 2024): 
 Compiling Comprehensive Project Documentation 
 Final Quality Checks and Rework Schedule 
 Client Walkthrough and Approval 
 Project Closeout Meeting 

Final Deliverable (December 6, 2024): 
 Final Project Documentation 
 Project Summary Report 
 Client Approval Documentation 

Important Notes: 
 Regular Bi-weekly Project Progress Meetings 
 Continuous Monitoring of Work Program Adherence 
 Immediate Mitigation for Any Unforeseen Delays 



 

 Project Schedule and Scope of Work 
 
 
 
 
Liquidated Damages: CCSI acknowledges the critical importance of project completion within 
the specified timeframe. Any failure to meet the outlined schedule will result in the payment of 
liquidated damages, as detailed in the Sample Agreement (Exhibit B). Our commitment to 
adherence and excellence ensures a timely and successful project outcome. 
This revised schedule optimizes efficiency by incorporating concurrent manhole inspections 
with the cleaning, televising, and inspection phases, meeting the increased production capacity 
of 5000 ft per day of mainline work with 20 manhole inspections per day. 
 



 

References, Related Experience and Examples of Work 
 
Crossbore Investigation and Condition Assessment    

 
 

 

Condition Assessment and Prep for CIPP projects 

 
 

CIPP Lining Projects 2023 

 
Contact Lining Director Rusty Johnston for Details: 480-888-6497 

 

 

CCSI prides itself in having never been involved in any litigation, maintaining an extremely low 

utilization of credit, having zero bond claims, and having never entered liquidated damages 

days in the 41 years of being in business. Sewer Pipes and Manholes are OUR BUSINESS and 

THIS IS WHAT WE DO. 

Piedmont Energy Sewer Inspection North Carolina Multiple Michael Russ Ibold 812-260-0775 Russ.Ibold@duke-energy.com $3,500,000.00 3

NIPSCO Energy Sewer Inspection Indiana Multiple Ashley Dean 260-433-0011 ashleymsmith@nisource.com $5,000,000.00 5

Eversource Sewer Inspection Maryland Multiple Joe Fiorante 978-423-5102 NA $600,000.00 4

Spire Energy Sewer Inspection Missouri Multiple Steve Samson 314-737-7183 Steven.Samson@spireenergy.com $2,500,000.00 5

Pacific Gas & Electric Californai Multiple Nathan Naylor 541-892-2347 NXNT@pge.com $6,000,000.00 8Duke Energy Cincinnati Sewer 

Inspection Ohio Cincinnati Duke Energy Cincinnati , 812-260-0775 Russ.Ibold@duke-energy.com $1,000,000.00 17

CIPP Pipe Prep 2023 2023 Rehab Lining 1300068 Michigan Gibraltar Inliner Solutions, Dawn Young, 313-618-9293

CIPP Pipe Prep 2023 2022/2023 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Michigan Fraser Inliner Solutions, Dawn Young, 313-618-9293

CIPP Pipe Prep 2023 Bay City - 2023 Rehab Michigan Bay City Inliner Solutions, Dawn Young, 313-618-9293

CIPP Pipe Prep 2023 Almont Cipp 1168702 Michigan Almont Inliner Solutions, Dawn Young, 313-618-9293

Assessmennt 2023 2023 Twin Lakes & WSC Sewer Cleaning and Televising Indiana

Crown Point/De 

Motte Baxter & Woodman, Mike Kenney, 815-444-3371

CIPP Pipe Prep 2021 2021 Genesee County Sewer CIPP Rehabilitation 1125897 Michigan Genesee County Granite Inliner, Brandon Stangle, 734-955-2508

CIPP Pipe Prep 2021 2021 City of Livonia SS CIPP Rehabilitation 1123439 Michigan Livonia Granite Inliner, Brandon Stangle, 734-955-2508

CIPP Pipe Prep 2021 2021 Swartz Creek Downtown Lining 1139397 Michigan Swartz Creek Granite Inliner, Brandon Stangle, 734-955-2508

Rehab Assess 2021

2021 City of Southfield SS Rehabilitation Assessment 

1133557 Michigan Southfield Granite Inliner, Brandon Stangle, 734-955-2508

CIPP Pipe Prep 2020 2020 City of Southfield SS CIPP Rehabilitation 1042398 Michigan Southfield Granite Inliner, Brandon Stangle, 734-955-2508

Sewer Assessment 2020 Sanitation District 1 Sewer Inspection Kentucky Multiple SD1, Greg Braunwart, 859-240-6476

Clean  2019 Large Diameter Sewer Cleaning Ohio Lima Black & Veatch, Gabriel Staats, 614-454-4410

CIPP August City of Aiken SC 15" & 18"

CIPP July Sycaore Township OH 15"

CIPP August Cheviot OH 24"

CIPP August Cardington OH 8" & 15"

CIPP September Owensboro KY 6"-18"



Midway City Sanitary District  November 7, 2023       Page 42 
     
1797771.1 

EXHIBIT C - PRICE PROPOSAL FORM 
 

2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO INSPECTION AND CLEANING PROJECT  
 
 

 
 
Total Amount For All Items in Numerals (Assuming Stated Unit Quantities): $__________________ 
 
 
Total Amount for All Items in Words (Assuming Stated Unit Quantities): ______________________ 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________    
Note: The Unit Quantities set forth above are best estimates; the actual Unit Quantities may differ.  
Payment will be based on the Unit Prices for actual linear feet of sewer mains cleaned and inspected 
and the actual number of manholes inspected.   
 
CONTRACTOR shall notify and obtain approval of DISTRICT prior to performing Services with 
respect to any Item in excess of the estimated Unit Quantity for such Item.  Upon receipt of written 

to provide Services at the Unit Prices set forth above with respect to up to one hundred twenty 
percent (120%) of the Unit Quantity set forth above for any Item. 
 

Item 
No.  

Description Units  
Estimated 
Quantity  

Unit Price  
Total Estimated 

Item Price 

1 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 8-inch gravity sewer mains 

LF 857,031 $ $ 

2 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 10-inch gravity sewer mains 

LF 31,289 $ $ 

3 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 12-inch gravity sewer mains 

LF 14,390 $ $ 

4 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 15-inch gravity sewer mains 

LF 4,554 $ $ 

5 
Cleaning and CCTV inspection of 
all 18-inch gravity sewer mains 

LF 6,986 $ $ 

6 
(all sizes and types) 

EA 3,001 $ $ 

2.17

2.17

2.17

2.19

2.19

180.00

1,859,757.27

67,897.13

31,226.30

9,973.26

15,299.34

540,180

2,524,333.30

Two Million, Five Hundred Twenty Four Thousand, Three Hundred Thirty Three Dollars, and Thirty Cents.



Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 

MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 

ADDENDUM 1  

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

 

2024 MCSD SEWER SYSTEM CCTV VIDEO INSPECTION AND 

CLEANING PROJECT 

 

December 5, 2023 
 

 

Please see the followings: 

 

1. It is the sole responsibility of the contractor to find out if there is any cost associated 

with proper dumping of sewer sediments and debris. The contractor will be responsible 

for this cost.  

 

2. It is the sole responsibility of the contractor to find out about any cost associated with 

any permits required for this project. The contractor will be responsible for this cost.  

 

3. Sewer line and manhole location map will be provided only by email request to the 

district. The GIS map will be ready sometime in January 2024.  

 

4. MCSD requires level 2 inspection for all manholes.  

 

5. If you have more than 1 type of sample report, please include up to 3 sample reports in 

your proposal. The sample reports could be from different NASSCO approved software 

applications.  



Page 2 of 2 
 

 

6. If you have more than 1 type of camera, please include up to 3 sample video pictures 

from different cameras in your proposal. The thumb drive shall become the property of 

the district.  

 

7. Please include a digital copy of your proposal with your hard copy of your proposal in a 

thumb drive. The thumb drive shall become the property of the district.  



No. Company Name Total Bid ($)

Criteria 1 ‐ 
Cost 

(Points out of 10)

Criteria 2 ‐ 
Proposal 

(Points out of 10)

Criteria 3 ‐ 
Experience 

(Points out of 5)

Criteria 4 ‐ 
Crew 

(Points out of 5)

Criteria 5 ‐ 
Workload 

(Points out of 5)

Criteria 6 ‐ 
Location 

(Points out of 5)

Criteria 7 ‐ 
Agreement 

(Points out of 5)
Total 
Points Comments

1 Performance Pipeline $1,518,287.90 10 6 5 5 5 5 5 41 MH inspection not good. 
2 Empire Pipe $1,867,691.44 8 10 5 5 5 5 5 43 MH and line inspection are good. 
3 Mattucci Plumbing $2,432,209.49 6 10 5 5 5 5 5 41 Great Camera. MH & lines. 
4 CCSI $2,524,333.30 4 8 5 5 5 1 5 33 Sewer AI is used for MH & Lines. 
5 Pro Pipe $2,693,588.06 2 8 5 5 5 5 5 35 Too expensive. 

Proposal Evaluation Worksheet



                                                                                                                                                      Pa g e  1 | 2 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 9C 
 
Date:  December 19, 2023 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
Prepared by: Ashley Davies, Director of Services and Program Development 
 
Subject:  Consider Approval of Sponsorship Solicitation and Sponsorship Levels and              

Benefits for February 3, 2024 Open House Event 
 

BACKGROUND 
At the December 5, 2023 meeting the Board approved Resolution No. 2023-20, establishing 
a Sponsorship Policy for the District. The approved Sponsorship Policy established 
guidelines and criteria for the solicitation and acceptance of sponsorships to help offset the 
cost of District events and programs. Under the policy, each program or event held by the 
District that the Board would like to have sponsored will require its own individual 
Sponsorship Package and Agreement. Each Sponsorship Package will be approved by the 
Board before Staff will solicit sponsors. As part of each Sponsorship Package, there will also 
be a Sponsorship Agreement created by Counsel. When the Board approves a Sponsorship 
Package, they will in turn be accepting the sponsorship levels in the Package and the 
Agreement.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The purpose of the proposed Sponsorship Package and Agreement is to provide levels of 
sponsorship opportunities, sponsor benefits, guidelines for sponsor logos, images, etc., and 
provide the Agreement with which they will be entering. This Sponsorship Package and 
Agreement put before the Board is for the February 3, 2024 Open House Event. Outlined in 
the Package are the levels of sponsorship available, what the sponsor will receive for their 
investment, and the Agreement that sets forth the parameters of the benefits.  The February 
3, 2024 Open House Package was created by Staff based on research from other 
organizations sponsorship packages, recommendations from the Outreach Committee, and 
availability for offerings for the Open House Event. The Agreement was created by Counsel 
with parameters that reflect the levels available for this event. With the approval of the 
proposed Package and Agreement, the Board is authorizing Staff to move forward with 
solicitation of sponsorships for the February 3, 2024 Open House Event either with 
recommendations or as outlined in the attached Sponsorship Package. Once the Board 
provides direction or approval of the proposed Package, Staff will begin soliciting 
Sponsorships for the 2024 Open House.  

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact for the approval of this Sponsorship Package and Agreement for the 
February 3, 2024 Open House.   

 



                                                                                                                                                      Pa g e  2 | 2 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve and authorize Staff to solicit 
sponsorships for the February 3, 2024 Open House Event and approve and provide direction 
regarding Sponsorship Levels, Sponsor Benefits, and Related Details.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Sponsorship package 
2. Sponsorship agreement 











Page 1 of 3 
 

SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENT 
2024 MIDWAY CITY SANITARY DISTRICT OPEN HOUSE 

 
SPONSOR NAME (Print the legal name of your organization) 
 

SPONSOR’S AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE (Print the name of the individual executing this 
Sponsorship Agreement on your behalf. By executing this Sponsorship Agreement, this individual represents and 
warrants that he/she is legally authorized enter into the Agreement and to bind your organization.) 
 

 
SPONSORSHIP INVESTMENT AND SPONSOR BENEFITS 
In exchange for a Sponsorship Investment, the Midway City Sanitary District (“District”) agrees to make the  
Sponsor Benefits associated with the Sponsorship Level chosen by the Sponsor available to Sponsor.  
 
SPONSORSHIP LEVELS 
PLATINUM SPONSOR GOLD SPONSOR 
Sponsor Investment:  $5,000 
 
Sponsor Benefits: 
* Sponsor Exhibit / Booth Space 
* Sponsor Banner at Event 
* Acknowledgement of Sponsor at Event 
* Sponsor Name / Logo on Event Program 
* Enhanced Social Media Recognition of Sponsor 
 

Sponsor Investment:   $2,500 
 
Sponsor Benefits:   
* Sponsor Exhibit / Booth Space 
* Sponsor Banner at Event 
* Acknowledgement of Sponsor at Event 
* Sponsor Name / Logo on Event Program 
* Mention of Sponsor in Event Social Media  

SILVER SPONSOR OTHER 
Sponsor Investment:   $1,000 
 
Sponsor Benefits:   
* Display of Sponsor Banner 
* Acknowledgement of Sponsor at Event 
* Sponsor name / Logo on Event Program 
* Mention of Sponsor in Event Social Media  
 

Sponsor Investment:   $________ 
 
Sponsor Benefits:   
* Sponsor Name / Logo on Event Program 
* Mention of Sponsor in Event Social Media  

 
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
 
Sponsor Acknowledges and Agrees to the Following Terms. (Please initial each provision to acknowledge 
you have read and agree with these terms.) 
 
INCORPORATION OF SPONSORSHIP POLICY AND SPONSORSHIP FORM        ______ INITIALS 
 
The rights and obligations of Sponsor and the Midway City Sanitary District (“District”) under this Sponsorship 
Agreement shall be subject to the Midway City Sanitary District Sponsorship Policy and the Sponsorship Form 
completed by Sponsor, which are hereby incorporated by reference into this Sponsorship Agreement. 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

NO SPECIAL PRIVILEGES                                                                                                  ______ INITIALS 
 
Sponsor acknowledges and agrees that the District’s acceptance of Sponsor’s Sponsorship Investment does not 
guarantee or allow, enable, impose, oblige, or entitle Sponsor to any special benefits or privileges other than 
those stated in this Sponsorship Agreement. 
 
NO ENDORSEMENT OF SPONSOR BY DISTRICT                                                        ______ INITIALS 
 
Sponsor acknowledges and agrees that the District’s acceptance of Sponsor’s Sponsorship Investment and the 
provision of the Sponsor Benefits to Sponsor does not constitute an endorsement by the District of Sponsor or of 
Sponsor’s products, services, or message, and Sponsor shall not state or imply otherwise in any form or manner. 
 
USE OF NAME, LOGO AND IMAGES OF SPONSOR AND ITS PERSONNEL          ______ INITIALS 
 
Sponsor acknowledges and agrees that, by agreeing to sponsor the Event, Sponsor’s name and/or logo will be 
used to publicize the Event and will be reproduced at the Event and that Sponsor and its affiliates, employees, 
and volunteers attending the Event may be photographed or videoed. Sponsor hereby authorizes and grants 
permission to the District and its designees to produce, publish, post on website, exhibit, and otherwise make use 
of Sponsor’s name and logo and photographs and videos of Sponsor and its affiliates, employees, volunteers, and 
banners, booths, and/or exhibits from the Event  for any publicity and other non-commercial purposes of the 
District without compensation, attribution or further consent of the Sponsor or its affiliates, employees, or 
volunteers. 
 
WAIVER AND RELEASE OF LIABILITY                                                                             ______ INITIALS 
 
Sponsor, on behalf of itself and its affiliates, employees, and volunteers, hereby agrees to release, waive, 
discharge and covenant not to sue the District, its officers, directors, officials, agents, employees, volunteers and 
representatives, for any and all claims for loss or damage, including, without limitation, any claims or demands 
on account of personal injury, property damage or death which may occur as a result of Sponsor’s sponsorship 
of the Event or the presence or participation of Sponsor or its affiliates, employees, or volunteers at the Event, 
even though that injury or damage may arise out of the negligence of the District, its officers, directors, officials, 
agents, employees, volunteers or representatives or out of a dangerous or defective condition of property or 
equipment of the District. 
 
TERMINATION OF SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENT                                                       ______ INITIALS 
 
Sponsor may terminate this Sponsorship Agreement upon written request up to ten (10) business days prior to 
the Event. Sponsor may only terminate this Sponsorship Agreement within ten (10) business days prior to the 
Event with approval of the District. The District may unilaterally terminate this Sponsorship Agreement for any 
reason at any time up to conclusion of the Event in its sole discretion. In the event this Sponsorship Agreement 
is terminated, the District shall return Sponsor’s Sponsorship Investment to Sponsor, and neither the District nor 
the Sponsor shall continue to have any rights or obligations under this Sponsorship Agreement.  If the Event is 
cancelled cancellation of the Event Upon mutual agreement of the District and Sponsor, the District may apply 
Sponsor’s Sponsorship Investment to another District event or program. 
 

 
  



Page 3 of 3 
 

SPONSOR BANNERS AND BOOTHS                                                                                 ______ INITIALS 
 
Sponsor is solely responsible for fabricating and providing a banner for the Event (if applicable) and all tables, 
equipment, and personnel for an exhibit or booth at the Event (if applicable). District is not responsible for 
providing or paying for any of these items. 
 
Banners or other displays provided by Sponsor for the Event (if applicable) shall be approved by the District 
prior to the Event and may display Sponsor’s name and/or logo, but shall not contain other advertising copy or 
promotional messages of any kind.  The District reserves the right to exercise full editorial control over the size, 
placement, content, and wording of any banner or other display provided by Sponsor. 
 
The size and location of the exhibit / booth space provided to Sponsor for the Event (if applicable) is subject to 
space availability and shall be determined by the District in its sole discretion. All of the following must be 
disclosed to and approved by the District prior to the Event: (1) the size and components of Sponsor’s booth; (2) 
the nature and type of all promotional materials or other tangible items Sponsor intends to display or hand out at 
the Event; and (3) the content and wording of any advertising or promotional messages Sponsor intends to display 
at the Event. Sponsor shall not utilize booth space provided to the Sponsor at the Event for any of the following 
activities: (1) to display or promote alcohol, drugs or drug paraphernalia, firearms or weapons, tobacco products, 
gambling, materials of a sexually explicit or adult-oriented nature; (2) to act on behalf of, in support of, or in 
opposition to any political candidate or ballot measure or advocate a political position; (3) to promote religious 
messages or advocate or promote religious beliefs; or (4) to promote or advocate for any product, service, 
message or position that the District, in its sole discretion, determines would compromise or damage the public 
trust in the District, that would conflict with or compromise the District’s reputation, mission, image, values or 
aesthetic interests, or that would not be in the best interest of, or would create a conflict of interest for, the District. 
 
If Sponsor intends to maintain an exhibit or booth at the Event, Sponsor shall procure and maintain valid workers’ 
compensation and liability insurance acceptable to the District covering Sponsor’s operation of Sponsor’s exhibit 
or booth at the Event and the acts and omissions of all individuals acting on Sponsor’s behalf at the Event, and 
shall provide evidence such insurance to the District upon request.  
 
Sponsor agrees to assume full responsibility for and risk of bodily injury, death or property damage of or to 
Sponsor or to any of Sponsor’s affiliates, employees, volunteers, or representatives while present during or 
participating at the Event.  Sponsor further agrees to indemnify and save and hold harmless the District, its 
officers, directors, officials, agents, employees, volunteers and representatives, and each of them, from any loss, 
liability, damage or cost they may incur, including attorneys’ fees, whether caused by the negligence of the 
District or otherwise, relating to the presence or participation of Sponsor, its affiliates, employees, volunteers or 
representatives at the Event, except that Sponsor shall not be required to indemnify the District for any loss, 
damage, injury or claim arising from the willful acts or gross negligence of the District, its officers, directors, 
officials, agents, employees, volunteers or representatives. 
 

 
SPONSOR DISTRICT 

 
_________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Name of Authorized Representative 
 
Date: _________________________ 

 
______________________________________ 
Robert Housley, General Manager 
 
 
 
Date: ___________________________ 
 

 


	1. Agenda 12-19-2023
	AGENDA

	4a. Minutes 12-05-2023 (General Counsel Comments)
	CALL TO ORDER

	5a1. 12.1.2023 Staff Report Template
	5a2. FY 2023-2024 AP Disbursements
	12_19_2023

	7a1. Staff Rpt re Treasurers investment rpt 12.1.2023
	7a2. backup to Treasurers inv rpt
	7b1. Staff Rpt re GASB 75 Actuarial Report for the FYE June 30 
	7b2. Actuarial rpt backup
	7c. Staff Rpt re Engineer's rpt
	7d. Staff Rpt 12.19.23 Outreach Committe
	7e1. Staff Report re GM RH (1)
	7e2. Resolution No. 2014-05 (Acting Pay)
	9a1. MCSD Staff Report - Procedure for Payment of Demands (1)
	9a2. MCSD Reso re Payment of Checks and Warrants (2)
	RESOLUTION NO. 2023-21

	9a3. AP Policy_2023_12_19
	9b. CCTV Packet
	9b1. Staff Report 2023-12-19 2024 CCTV Inspection (final)
	9b2. Attachment 1.1
	9b3. Attachment 1.2
	9b4. Attachment 2.a.1
	9b5. Attachment 2.a.2
	9b6. Attachment 2.a.3
	9b7. Attachment 2.b
	9b8. Attachment 2.c
	9b9. Attachment 2.d
	A. Approach
	B. Description of Firm, Management and Team Members
	Our Services
	Proposed Staffing and Project Organization
	PROGRAM TEAM
	Primary Contact Information


	C. Qualifications
	Ongoing and Planned Projects
	Past Experience

	D. Scope of Work
	SEQUENCE OF ACTION
	QUALITY CONTROL, BUDGET, AND SCHEDULE

	E. Proposed Project Schedule
	F. Proposed Pricing
	G. References, Related Experience and Examples of Work
	References
	Additional General References

	H. A Sample Report and A Sample Video Picture Quality
	Other Relevant Information
	Equipment
	Services Continued


	9b10. Attachment 2.e.1
	9b11. Attachment 2.e.2
	9b12. Attachment 2.e.3
	9b13. Attachment 3

	9c. Sponsorship Packet
	9c1. Approval of OH Sponsorship Package
	9c2. Sponsorship Package
	9c3. Open House Sponsorship Agreement Form




